COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY

BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

In the Matter of:

APPLICATION OF LOUISVILLE GAS AND)
ELECTRIC COMPANY FOR AN ADJUSTMENT)
OF ITS ELECTRIC AND GAS RATES, A)
CERTIFICATE OF PUBLIC CONVENIENCE) CASE NO. 2020-00350
AND NECESSITY TO DEPLOY ADVANCED) CASE NO. $2020-00350$
METER INFRASTRUCTURE, APPROVAL OF)
CERTAIN REGULATORY AND ACCOUNTING)
TREATMENTS, AND ESTABLISHMENT OF A)
ONE-YEAR SURCREDIT)

FEBRUARY 23, 2021 SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSES OF LOUISVILLE GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY TO COMMISSION STAFF'S FIRST REQUEST FOR INFORMATION DATED NOVEMBER 24, 2020

FILED: FEBRUARY 23, 2021

VERIFICATION

COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY)) COUNTY OF JEFFERSON)

The undersigned, **Christopher M. Garrett**, being duly sworn, deposes and says that he is Controller for Kentucky Utilities Company and Louisville Gas and Electric Company and an employee of LG&E and KU Services Company, and that he has personal knowledge of the matters set forth in the responses for which he is identified as the witness, and the answers contained therein are true and correct to the best of his information, knowledge and belief.

DocuSigned by: Unistopher M. Gamit Christopher M. Garrett

Subscribed and sworn to before me, a Notary Public in and before said County

and State, this Add day of <u>February</u> 2021.

ytchooler

Notary Public ID No. 603967

My Commission Expires:

July 11, 2022

VERIFICATION

COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY)) COUNTY OF JEFFERSON)

The undersigned, **Gregory J. Meiman**, being duly sworn, deposes and says that he is Vice President, Human Resources for Kentucky Utilities Company and Louisville Gas and Electric Company and an employee of LG&E and KU Services Company, and that he has personal knowledge of the matters set forth in the responses for which he is identified as the witness, and the answers contained therein are true and correct to the best of his information, knowledge and belief.

Gregory J. Meiman

Subscribed and sworn to before me, a Notary Public in and before said County

and State, this 22 M day of <u>february</u> 2021.

lyshole

Notary Public ID No. 603967

My Commission Expires:

puly 11, 2022

LOUISVILLE GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY

February 23, 2021 Supplemental Response to Commission Staff's First Request for Information Dated November 24, 2020

Case No. 2020-00350

Question No. 3

Responding Witness: Christopher M. Garrett

Q-3. As the historical data becomes available, provide detailed monthly income statements for each forecasted month of the base period including the month in which the Commission hears this case.

A-3. **Original Response:**

See attached.

December 30, 2020 Supplemental Response:

See attached income statement for November 2020. Income statements for subsequent months will be provided as they become available.

January 29, 2021 Supplemental Response:

See attached income statement for December 2020. Income statements for subsequent months will be provided as they become available.

February 23, 2021 Supplemental Response:

See attached income statement for January 2021. Income statements for subsequent months will be provided as they become available.

Louisville Gas and Electric Company Comparative Statement of Income January 31, 2021

	Current Month							
	This Year	Last Year	Increase or Dec					
	Amount	Amount	Amount	%				
Electric Operating Revenues	\$ 100,778,001.30	\$ 96,229,516.11	\$ 4,548,485.19	4.73				
Gas Operating Revenues	56,719,388.25	51,241,046.44	5,478,341.81	10.69				
Total Operating Revenues	157,497,389.55	147,470,562.55	10,026,827.00	6.80				
Fuel for Electric Generation	26,463,546.21	24,822,980.45	1,640,565.76	6.61				
Power Purchased	3,603,994.96	3,263,462.71	340,532.25	10.43				
Gas Supply Expenses	23,659,469.29	19,316,854.09	4,342,615.20	22.48				
Other Operation Expenses	21,558,619.14	21,710,012.06	(151,392.92)	(0.70)				
Maintenance	8,022,141.60	7,672,336.29	349,805.31	4.56				
Depreciation	20,571,873.07	19,903,310.82	668,562.25	3.36				
Amortization Expense	1,349,012.59	1,264,716.88	84,295.71	6.67				
Regulatory Debits	185,584.10	145,419.61	40,164.49	27.62				
Taxes								
Federal Income	8,146,741.13	7,586,362.00	560,379.13	7.39				
State Income	2,041,789.75	1,901,343.86	140,445.89	7.39				
Deferred Federal Income - Net	(0.02)	0.02	(0.04)	(200.00)				
Deferred State Income - Net	-	(0.01)	0.01	100.00				
Property and Other	4,287,195.04	3,812,681.87	474,513.17	12.45				
Amortization of Investment Tax Credit	(70,483.00)	(73,407.00)	2,924.00	3.98				
Loss (Gain) from Disposition of Allowances		(8,863.73)	8,863.73	100.00				
Total Operating Expenses	119,819,483.86	111,317,209.92	8,502,273.94	7.64				
Net Operating Income	37,677,905.69	36,153,352.63	1,524,553.06	4.22				
Other Income Less Deductions	(77,328.08)	(196,356.91)	119,028.83	60.62				
Income Before Interest Charges	37,600,577.61	35,956,995.72	1,643,581.89	4.57				
Interest on Long-Term Debt	6,558,867.24	6,782,356.80	(223,489.56)	(3.30)				
Amortization of Debt Expense - Net	299,226.78	279,467.51	19,759.27	7.07				
Other Interest Expenses	101,100.43	478,229.00	(377,128.57)	(78.86)				
Total Interest Charges	6,959,194.45	7,540,053.31	(580,858.86)	(7.70)				
Net Income	\$ 30,641,383.16	\$ 28,416,942.41	\$ 2,224,440.75	7.83				

LOUISVILLE GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY

February 23, 2021 Supplemental Response to Commission Staff's First Request for Information Dated November 24, 2020

Case No. 2020-00350

Question No. 14

Responding Witness: Christopher M. Garrett

- Q-14. Separately for electric and gas operations, provide the following information concerning the costs for the preparation of this case:
 - a. A detailed schedule of expenses incurred to date for the following categories:
 - (1) Accounting;
 - (2) Engineering;
 - (3) Legal;
 - (4) Consultants; and
 - (5) Other Expenses (Identify separately).
 - b. For each category identified in Item 14(a), the schedule should include the date of each transaction, check number or other document reference, the vendor, the hours worked, the rates per hour, amount, a description of the services performed, and the account number in which the expenditure was recorded. Provide copies of contracts or other documentation that support charges incurred in the preparation of this case. Identify any costs incurred for this case that occurred during the base period.
 - c. An itemized estimate of the total cost to be incurred for this case. Expenses should be broken down into the same categories as identified in Item 14(a), with an estimate of the hours to be worked and the rates per hour. Include a detailed explanation of how the estimate was determined, along with all supporting workpapers and calculations.
 - d. Provide monthly updates of the actual costs incurred in conjunction with this rate case, reported in the manner requested in Items 14(a) and 14(b), and a cumulative total of cost incurred to date for each category. Updates will be due when the utility files its monthly financial statements with the Commission, through the month of the public hearing.

A-14. **Original Response:**

- a. See attached.
- b. See attached.
- c. See attached.
- d. The Company will provide monthly updates as requested.

December 30, 2020 Supplemental Response for Question No. 14(d):

Attached are the Schedule of Rate Case Expenses (Attachment 1) and the associated invoices (Attachment 2) recorded by Louisville Gas and Electric Company for November 2020.

January 29, 2021 Supplemental Response for Question No. 14(d):

Attached are the Schedule of Rate Case Expenses (Attachment 1) and the associated invoices (Attachment 2) recorded by Louisville Gas and Electric Company for December 2020.

February 23, 2021 Supplemental Response for Question No. 14(d):

Attached are the Schedule of Rate Case Expenses (Attachment 1) and the associated invoices (Attachment 2) recorded by Louisville Gas and Electric Company for January 2021.

LOUISVILLE GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY CASE NO. 2020-00350

Schedule of Rate Case Preparation Costs

Response to Commission's Order Dated November 24, 2020

Question No. 14 (d)

Responding Witness: Christopher M. Garrett

Date	Invoice #	Vendor Name	Hours (1)	Rate/Hr	Amount	Description	Account
13-Jan-21	945838	STOLL KEENON OGDEN	42.26	295.87	12,504.67	Professional legal services	182335
		SUBTOTAL LEGAL OUTSIDE COUNSEL LG&E ELECTRIC			12,504.67	-	
		TOTAL LEGAL OUTSIDE COUNSEL LG&E ELECTRIC	_	_	12,504.67	-	
18-Dec-20	0661935703	GANNETT FLEMING VALUATION AND RATE CONSULTANTS LLC	9.00	215.05	1,935.41	Consulting work related to the rate case	182335
1-Jan-21	THEPRI010121	THE PRIME GROUP LLC	5.22	230.00	1,200.60	Consulting work related to the rate case	182335
		SUBTOTAL CONSULTANTS LG&E ELECTRIC		_	3,136.01	-	
		TOTAL CONSULTANTS LG&E ELECTRIC	_	_	3,136.01	-	
		SUBTOTAL SUPPLIES/SERVICES - OTHER LG&E ELECTRIC		_	-	-	
		TOTAL SUPPLIES/SERVICES - OTHER LG&E ELECTRIC	_	_	-	-	
		TOTAL LG&E ELECTRIC	=	Ξ	15,640.68	:	
13-Jan-21	945838	STOLL KEENON OGDEN	11.74	295.87	3,473.52	Professional legal services	182336
		SUBTOTAL LEGAL OUTSIDE COUNSEL LG&E GAS		_	3,473.52	-	
		TOTAL LEGAL OUTSIDE COUNSEL LG&E GAS	_	_	3,473.52	-	
18-Dec-20 1-Jan-21	0661935703 THEPRI010121	GANNETT FLEMING VALUATION AND RATE CONSULTANTS LLC THE PRIME GROUP LLC	2.00 1.45	150.00 230.00		Consulting work related to the rate case Consulting work related to the rate case	182336 182336
		SUBTOTAL CONSULTANTS LG&E GAS		_	633.50	-	
		TOTAL CONSULTANTS LG&E GAS	_	Ξ	633.50	:	
		SUBTOTAL SUPPLIES/SERVICES - OTHER LG&E ELECTRIC		_		-	
		TOTAL SUPPLIES/SERVICES - OTHER LG&E GAS	=	Ξ	-	-	
		TOTAL LG&E GAS	=	Ξ	4,107.02	:	
		TOTAL RATE CASE EXPENSE FOR THE MONTH OF DECEMBER 2020	_	=	19,747.70		
Note (1) - Hours	s are calculated based	d on information provided on the billing statement.					Case No. 20

Case No. 2020-00350

Supplemental Attachment 1 to Response to PSC-1 Question No. 14(d), Filed February 23, 2021

Page 1 of 1 Garrett

INVOICE

Invoice Information

Firm/Vendor:	Stoll Keenon Ogden
Office:	Louisville
Invoice Number:	945838
Date of Invoice:	01/13/2021
Billing Period:	12/01/2020 - 12/31/2020
Date Posted:	01/13/2021
Invoice Description/Comment:	2020 KY Rate Case

Amount Approved

Approved Total	\$34,735.20
Invoice Currency:	USD
Date Approved:	01/20/2021
Final Approver:	Greg Cornett
Approved Fees	\$34,735.20
Approved Expenses	\$0.00
Approved Total (excl. Tax)	\$34,735.20
Comments to AP:	LEGAL SERVICES

Accounting Code Allocations

Project Task	Type Org	Amount	Percentage	Comment
122482 LGE RC-EL LGL EX	0321 026900	\$12,504.67	36%	LGEEL
122483 LGE RC-GC LGL EX	0321 026900	\$3,473.52	10%	LGE GAS
122484 KURCLEGALEXP	0321 026900	\$18,757.01	54%	KU

Vendor Address & Tax Information in Legal Tracker

Stoll Keenon Ogden 2000 PNC Plaza 500 West Jefferson Street Louisville, Kentucky 40202



Remittance Address Same as mail address Vendor Tax ID: VAT ID: --GST ID: --

Case No. 2020-00350 Supplemental Attachment 2 to Response to PSC-1 Question No. 14(d), Filed February 23, 2021 Page 1 of 12 Garrett HST ID: --PST ID: --Sales Tax ID: --QST ID: --Withholding Tax ID: --

Other Invoice and Firm Information

Regulatory Statements: -

Amount Billed

 Billed Total
 \$34,735.20

 Invoice Currency:
 USD

 Billed Fees
 \$34,735.20

 Billed Expenses
 \$0.00

 Billed Total (excl. Tax)
 \$34,735.20

Approval History

User	Action	Date	Amount	Comment
Eloise Carlisle	Posted	01/13/2021	\$34,735.20	
Carrie Beatty	Approved	01/13/2021	\$34,735.20	
Allyson Sturgeon	Approved	01/15/2021	\$34,735.20	
Greg Cornett	Approved	01/19/2021	\$34,735.20	
Carrie Beatty	AP Reviewed	01/20/2021	\$34,735.20	
Carrie Beatty	AP Batch Run	01/20/2021	\$34,735.20	Batch ID: 001000579 (Sent to AP: 01/20/2021 8:39:28 AM)

Additional Financial Information

Oracle Vendor Number:40033Vendor Pay Site:PY-ACHName of Invoice File in .Zip:Stoll Keenon Ogden - 945838.htmlComments to Firm:AP Route:AP Route:Default AP Route

Matter Information

Matter Name (Short): 2020 Kentucky Rate Case

Matter ID:31995Lead Company Person:Sturgeon, AllysonOrganizational unit:LKE > KU and LG&E > CorporatePractice group:LKE Legal > Regulatory > StateLaw Firm Matter No.:165839Country (in Matter):United States

Invoice Line Items:

Date I	Description Narrative	Timekeepe	r Unit	s Rate	Adjust	Taxes TaxType%	6 Amount
12/01/2020 -	Review and test group permissions on HighQ site; e-mails re: SEE confidentiality	Parsons, Matt	0.9	\$242.00			\$217.80
12/01/2020 -	Work re witness preparation and first-round DR responses.	Crosby, W Duncan	. 0.5	\$285.00			\$142.50
12/01/2020 -	Set up additional confidential file access via secure file transfer site for production of confidential information; updated spreadsheet on SharePoint re confidential information access; continued research of affordability-based rates	Brown, Katelyn	5.2	\$201.00			\$1,045.20
12/01/2020 -	Attention to discovery issues re Staff Data Requests (First Set); prepare for phone call with Attorney General; attention to confidentiality agreement with AG	Riggs, Kendrick	3.2	\$448.00			\$1,433.60
12/02/2020 -	Call with Mr. Seelye re: meeting on gas issues; review exhibits for responses to data requests	Parsons, Matt	1	\$242.00			\$242.00
12/02/2020 -	Compiled Arbough portions of response to PSC 1-56	Wimberly, Mary Ellen		\$210.00			\$189.00
12/02/2020 -	Reviewed filed versions of Mr. Garrett, Mr. Blake, and Mr. Spanos testimonies for exhibits and schedules to be included in first PSC data request; reviewed supporting spreadsheets for Conroy exhibit	Brown, Katelyn	1.9	\$201.00			\$381.90
12/02/2020 -	Work on witness preparation memo.	Crosby, W Duncan	. 2.3	\$285.00			\$655.50
12/02/2020 -	Review letters stating there are no deficiencies in the applications; emails regarding gas transmission [no charge]	Braun, Monica	0.3	\$238.00	(\$71.40)		\$0.00
12/02/2020 -	Phone conference with AG lawyers; attention to discovery issues; attention to regulatory issues the case	in Riggs, Kendrick	3.8	\$448.00			\$1,702.40
12/03/2020 -	Attention to discovery issues; respond to AG inquiry about bill impact information	Riggs, Kendrick	2.3	\$448.00			\$1,030.40
12/03/2020 -	Review report from Mr. Wolfe re: SEE confidentiality and respond re: same	Parsons, Matt	0.1	\$242.00			\$24.20
12/03/2020 -	Reviewed SharePoint for responses to PSC Staff's First Request for Information; revised spreadsheet on SharePoint to reflect confidential documents in PSC Staff's First Request for Information	Brown, Katelyn	0.6	\$201.00			\$120.60
12/03/2020 -	Draft of witness prep memo.	Crosby, W	. 4.8	\$285.00		Case No. 2020-(0 03360 8.00
	Supplemental Attachment 2 to Response	to PSC=1"Qu	estio	n No. 14	(d), File	ed February 23	

Page 3 of 12 Garrett

12/04/2020 -	Review Seelye analysis re: transmission-related costs; call re: same	Parsons, Matt	1.1	\$242.00	\$266.20
12/04/2020 -	Reviewed emails, testimony, and exhibits on SharePoint from Mr. Spanos for inclusion in responses for PSC 1st Set of Information Requests		0.3	\$201.00	\$60.30
12/04/2020 -	Prepare for and attend meeting with Mr. Seelye regarding rate changes	Braun, Monica	1.3	\$238.00	\$309.40
12/04/2020 -	Reviewed emails re spreadsheets for testimony exhibits	Wimberly, Mary Ellen	0.3	\$210.00	\$63.00
12/07/2020 -	Review PSC 1 data responses	Ingram, III, Lindsey	1.3	\$359.00	\$466.70
12/07/2020 -	Attention to emails re discovery issues; phone calls re discovery issues and Thompson errata filing	Riggs, Kendrick	2.3	\$448.00	\$1,030.40
12/07/2020 -	Communicated with Mr. Spanos re exhibits for inclusion in responses for PSC 1st Set of Information Requests	Brown, Katelyn	0.2	\$201.00	\$40.20
12/08/2020 -	Attention to requests for confidentiality agreements	Riggs, Kendrick	0.2	\$448.00	\$89.60
12/08/2020 -	Drafted Joint Errata re Thompson testimony; reviewed draft Responses and attachments to PSC's 1st Request for Information; reviewed confidential information spreadsheet on SharePoint; participated in call with client re confidential information in Response to PSC's 1st Request for Information	Brown, Katelyn	1.8	\$201.00	\$361.80
12/08/2020 -	Review draft data responses; meeting with client re same	Ingram, III, Lindsey	2	\$359.00	\$718.00
12/09/2020 -	Review KPSC order establishing procedural schedule	Riggs, Kendrick	0.1	\$448.00	\$44.80
12/09/2020 -	Continued drafting Petitions for Confidential Protection; checked status of confidential documents on SharePoint	Brown, Katelyn	1.1	\$201.00	\$221.10
12/09/2020 -	Work on PSC1 data responses and supporting attachments	Ingram, III, Lindsey	2	\$359.00	\$718.00
12/10/2020 -	Work on discovery issues re responses to Staff Data Requests (First Set)	Riggs, Kendrick	2.5	\$448.00	\$1,120.00
12/10/2020 -	Reviewed filings in rate case	Wimberly, Mary Ellen		\$210.00	\$42.00
12/10/2020 -	Continued drafting Petitions for Confidential Protection; reviewed draft Responses and proposed confidential information on SharePoint	Brown, Katelyn	2.5	\$201.00	\$502.50
12/10/2020 -	Review draft data responses and work on related confidentiality issues	Ingram, III, Lindsey	3.5	\$359.00	\$1,256.50
12/11/2020 -	Continue review of PSC 1 draft responses	Ingram, III, Lindsey	1.8	\$359.00	\$646.20
12/11/2020 -	Continued drafting Petitions for Confidential Protection; reviewed spreadsheet on SharePoint re proposed confidential information Supplemental Attachment 2 to Response to	Brown, Katelyn PSC-1 Qu	3.5 estior	•	, 2021
				Page 4	of 12

Page 4 of 12 Garrett

12/11/2020 -	Conference with Ms. Sturgeon re witness preparation.	Crosby, W Duncan	. 0.5	\$285.00	\$142.50
12/11/2020 -	Work on discovery issues re responses to Staff Data Requests (First Set)	Riggs, Kendrick	2.7	\$448.00	\$1,209.60
12/13/2020 -	Reviewed revisions to Petitions for Confidential Protection; finalized Petitions; uploaded Petitions to SharePoint for client review	Brown, Katelyn	1.1	\$201.00	\$221.10
12/13/2020 -	Attention to draft response and attachments and confidentiality issues	Riggs, Kendrick	2	\$448.00	\$896.00
12/14/2020 -	Attend remote meeting to review KU/LGE responses to Staff Data Requests (First Set) [no charge]	Riggs, Kendrick	1	\$448.00 (\$448.00)	\$0.00
12/14/2020 -	Attention to draft response and attachments; attention to motions for intervention	Riggs, Kendrick	1.7	\$448.00	\$761.60
12/14/2020 -	Attend discovery call with client	Ingram, III, Lindsey	0.5	\$359.00	\$179.50
12/14/2020 -	Reviewed status of Responses to PSC Staff's First Request for Information and confidential documents on SharePoint; participated in client call re Responses; revised Petitions for Confidential Protection; reviewed highlighted versions of confidential documents for upload to file transfer site for viewing by intervenors	Brown, Katelyn	2	\$201.00	\$402.00
12/15/2020 -	Attention to production of confidential information as part of KU/LG&E responses to Staff s Data Requests (First Set); prepare confidential attachments for production; attention to motions for intervention	a Riggs, Kendrick	3.1	\$448.00	\$1,388.80
12/15/2020 -	Brief call with client re: confidential attachments to upload to HighQ and resolve issues with same	Parsons, Matt	0.5	\$242.00	\$121.00
12/15/2020 -	Uploaded highlighted confidential documents to file transfer site; emailed intervenors re access to documents; discussed documents with Mr. Lovekamp and Ms. Couch	Brown, Katelyn	1.1	\$201.00	\$221.10
12/16/2020 -	Attention to motions for intervention and KIUC inquiry re bill impacts	Riggs, Kendrick	0.2	\$448.00	\$89.60
12/17/2020 -	Reviewed and updated confidential information access spreadsheet on SharePoint; reviewed Confidentiality Agreements including intervenor experts	Brown, Katelyn	0.4	\$201.00	\$80.40
12/17/2020 -	Attention to motions for intervention; phone conference with KIUC counsel re request for bill impact information for KIUC members	Riggs, Kendrick	1.3	\$448.00	\$582.40
12/18/2020 -	Granted access to file transfer site to Attorney General consultants; updated confidential information spreadsheet on SharePoint	Brown, Katelyn	1.1	\$201.00	\$221.10
12/18/2020 -	Attention to motions for intervention	Riggs, Kendrick	0.5	\$448.00	\$224.00
12/19/2020 -	Attention to Mr. FitzGerald inquiry re possible motions for interventions	Riggs, Kendrick	0.3	\$448.00	\$134.40
12/21/2020 -	Prepare response to Joint Intervenors Motion to intervene	Wuetcher, Gerald	5.6	\$296.00	\$1,657.60
12/21/2020 -	Updated confidential spreadsheet for additional Attorney General consultants; update status of confidential information Supplemental Attachment 2 to Response to	Brown, INSC IInQu	0.9 I estio	\$201.00 Case No. 2020 n No. 14(d), Filed February 23	

Page 5 of 12 Garrett

12/21/2020 -	Work on witness prep memo.	Crosby, W	. 2.3	\$285.00	\$655.50
12/21/2020 -	Work on intervention analysis issues	Riggs, Kendrick	2	\$448.00	\$896.00
12/22/2020 -	Phone conference with AG re discovery issues; attention to motion for interventions and issues associated with same	Riggs, Kendrick	1.8	\$448.00	\$806.40
12/22/2020 -	Started drafting Excel spreadsheet summarizing parties requesting intervention in both KU and LG&E cases	Brown, Katelyn	3.8	\$201.00	\$763.80
12/22/2020 -	Review e-mail re: response to motion of Kentuckians for the Commonwealth for intervention [no charge]	Wuetcher, Gerald	0.1	\$296.00 (\$29.60)	\$0.00
12/23/2020 -	Attention to motions for intervention and related issues	Riggs, Kendrick	1	\$448.00	\$448.00
12/23/2020 -	Finished drafting intervention Excel spreadsheet; revised spreadsheet based on discussions	Brown, Katelyn	4.1	\$201.00	\$824.10
12/28/2020 -	Review filed requests for intervention and public comments	Parsons, Matt	0.3	\$242.00	\$72.60
12/28/2020 -	Attention to motions for intervention	Riggs, Kendrick	0.5	\$448.00	\$224.00
12/28/2020 -	Work on witness prep memo.	Crosby, W. Duncan	. 4.5	\$285.00	\$1,282.50
12/28/2020 -	Reviewed comments and requests for intervention filed in both cases; created list of requests for intervention	Brown, Katelyn	1.6	\$201.00	\$321.60
12/28/2020 -	Work on topic outline	Ingram, III, Lindsey	1	\$359.00	\$359.00
12/29/2020 -	Attention to motions for intervention [no charge]	Riggs, Kendrick	0.1	\$448.00 (\$44.80)	\$0.00
12/30/2020 -	Attention to response/objection to ChargePoint motions for intervention; attention to individual motions for intervention; attention to orders granting intervention	Riggs, Kendrick	1	\$448.00	\$448.00
12/30/2020 -	Drafted Objection to ChargePoint's Intervention in both KU and LG&E cases; revised drafts based on discussions with Mr. Riggs; began drafting Objections to Individual Intervenor Requests in both KU and LG&E cases; updated intervenor spreadsheets to reflect Orders granting intervention	Katelyn	5.5	\$201.00	\$1,105.50
12/31/2020 -	Finished drafting Objections to Individual Intervenor Requests in both KU and LG&E cases; revised Objections based on discussions with Mr. Riggs; uploaded Objections to SharePoint for client review	Brown, Katelyn	2.1	\$201.00	\$422.10
12/31/2020 -	Attention to objections to individual motions for intervention; attention to electronic filing by intervenors re-receipt of electronic service	Riggs, Kendrick	0.4	\$448.00	\$179.20



Excellence Delivered As Promised Case No. 2020-00350

Supplemental Attachment 2 to Response to PSC-1 Question No. 14(d), Filed February 23, 2021

Gannett Fleming Valuation and Rate Consultants, LLC

Page 7 of 12 Garrett

INVOICE

ACH/EFT Payment Information: ABA: Account No.:

Account Name: Gannett Fleming

Check Payment Information: Gannett Fleming Valuation and Rate Consultants, LLC PO Box 829160 Philadelphia, PA 19182-9160

Federal EIN: 4

Send Remit Info: AccountsReceivable@gfnet.com

Invoice Date: December 18, 2020

LG&E and KU Services Company

Attn: Sara Wiseman P.O. Box 32010

Louisville, KY 40232-7100

Note: TO PREVENT IMPOSTER FRAUD. If you receive any notification of a change in payment instructions, you should call our Accounts Receivable department at 717-763-7211 to verify the authenticity of the change. We cannot be held responsible for a misdirected payment as a result of your not confirming authenticity of requested changes to payment instructions or "imposter hacks" to your system

Invoice Period: October 24, 2020 through December 18, 2020

Project Manager : John J. Spanos

Project: 066193 Invoice No: 066193*5703

Contract No. 152967- Depreciation Studies of LG&E and KU Services Company

Summary of Current Charges

	Total Due This Invoice	\$3,865.41
	Total Charges	 \$ 3,865.41
Phase 200	- DEPR - KENTUCKY UTILITIES	1,630.00
Phase 101	- DEPR - LG&E - GAS	300.00
Phase 100	- DEPR - LG&E - ELECTRIC	\$ 1,935.41

Project:	Task:	Exp Type:	Exp Org:	Amount
122482	LGE RC-EL 22EXP	0314	026120	\$ 1,935.41
122483	LGE RC-GS 22EXP	0314	026120	\$ 300.00
122484	KU RC-22 EXP	0314	026120	\$ 1,630.00
			Total	\$ 3,865.41

Requisition # 173130 12/31/2020 Christina Giveans

PO# 171517 12/31/2020 Christina Giveans



Support Staff

Excellence Delivered As Promised

Project: 066193 Invoice No: 066193*5703

240.00

Invoice Date: December 18, 2020

Case No. 2020-00350 Supplemental Attachment 2 to Response to PSC-1 Question No. 14(d), Filed February 23, 2021 Page 8 of 12 Gannett Fleming Valuation and Rate Consultants, LLC Garrett Phase 100 -- Depr - LG&E - Electric Labor Costs Rate Labor Classification Hours Amount

	Analyst	2.00	\$ 180.00	\$ 360.00	
	John J. Spanos	4.50	280.00	1,260.00	
	Support Staff	2.50	120.00	300.00	
		Total Labo	r Costs		\$ 1,920.00
	Expenses				
	Postage, Freight & Courier Service			15.41	
		Total Expe	nses		\$ 15.41
		Total Phase	e 100		\$ 1,935.41
hase 101	- Depr - LG&E - Gas				
	Labor Costs				
	Labor Classification	Hours	Rate	Amount	
	Analyst	1.00	180.00	180.00	
	Analyse				
	Support Staff	1.00	120.00	120.00	
				120.00	\$ 300.00
		1.00	r Costs	120.00	\$ 300.00 \$ 300.00
Phase 200		1.00 Total Labo	r Costs	120.00	
Phase 200	Support Staff	1.00 Total Labo	r Costs e 101		
² hase 200	Support Staff - Depr - Kentucky Utilities	1.00 Total Labo	r Costs	120.00	
hase 200	Support Staff - Depr - Kentucky Utilities Labor Costs	1.00 Total Labo Total Phas	r Costs e 101		
 1ase 200	Support Staff - Depr - Kentucky Utilities Labor Costs Labor Classification	1.00 Total Labo Total Phas Hours	r Costs e 101 <u>Rat</u> e	Amount	

2.00

Total Labor Costs Total Phase -- 200

120.00

\$ 1,630.00

\$ 1,630.00

Case No. 2020-00350 Supplemental Attachment 2 to Response to PSC-1 Question No. 14(d), Filed February 23, 2021 Page 9 of 12 Fedex Garrett **Invoice Number** Invoice Date **Account Number** Page 5 of 48 7-196-78357 Nov 30, 2020 Fuel Surcharge - FedEx has applied a fuel surcharge of 3.50% to this shipment. Distance Besed Pricing, Zone 4 Package Delivered to Recipient Address - Release Authorized INET Recipient Automation Seader Tracking ID 772138322523 Cheryl Rutter Judy Schooler FedEx Standerd Overnight 209 SENATE AVENUE LG&E and KU Energy LLC Service Type CAMP HILL PA 17011 US State Regulation & Rates - 5th Package Type FedEx Envelope 04 LOUISVILLE KY 40202 US Zone Packages **Rated Weight** N/A Nov 23, 2020 11:02 37.22 Delivered **Transportation Charge** Svc Area Al Discount -22.33 Fuel Surcharge Signad by 0,52 see above USD \$15.41 FedEx Use 00000000/222/02 **Total Charge** 003-331050-066193.100 Reference Subtotal USD \$15.41

Case No. 2020-00350 Supplemental Attachment 2 to Response to PSC-1 Question No. 14(d), Filed February 23, 2021 Page 10 of 12 Garrett

Gannett Fleming, Inc. Expenditures by Project Number and Task

	Phase 100	Phase 101	Phase 200	<u>Total</u>
	LGE Electric	LGE Gas	KU Electric	<u>Invoice</u>
	100.000		100.101	
Project Number	122482	122483	122484	
Task	LGE RC-EL 22 EXP	LGE RC-GS 22 EXP	KU RC 22 EXP	
Date	Sep-19	Sep-19	Sep-19	
Amount	1,795.00	1,440.00	2,692.50	5,927.50
Anounc	1,755,66	1,110.00	2,002.00	5/52/150
Date	Oct-19	Oct-19	Oct-19	
Amount	12,259.84	3,675.90	12,418.31	28,354.05
Date	Nov-19	Nov-19	Nov-19	
Amount	5,390.27	320.00	5,452.42	11,162.69
Date	Dec-19	Dec-19	Dec-19	
Amount	2,270.00	162.50	1,832.50	4,265.00
Amount	2,270.00	102.30	1,032.30	4,205.00
Date	Jan-20	Jan-20	Jan-20	
Amount	1,250.00	-	1,330.00	2,580.00
			· · · · · ·	
Date	Feb-20	Feb-20	Feb-20	
Amount	6,420.00	1,800.00	5,360.00	13,580.00
-				
Date	Mar-20	Mar-20	Mar-20	
Amount	5,300.00	1,350.00	4,290.00	10,940.00
Date	Apr-20	Apr-20	Apr-20	
Amount	340.00	60.00	340.00	740.00
Amount	5 10.00	00.00	5 10.00	740.00
Date	May-20	May-20	May-20	
Amount	5,970.00	910.00	5,470.00	12,350.00
Date	Jun-20	Jun-20	Jun-20	
Amount	3,460.00	330.00	2,860.00	6,650.00
D .				
Date		Jul-20 560.00	Jul-20 2,510.00	F 0F0 00
Amount	2,880.00	560.00	2,510.00	5,950.00
Date	Aug-20	Aug-20	Aug-20	
Amount	630.00	380.00	490.00	1,500.00
Date	Sep-20	Sep-20	Sep-20	
Amount	8,430.00	3,365.00	7,425.00	19,220.00
m .				
Date	Oct-20	Oct-20	Oct-20	40.000.00
Amount	5,900.00	1,490.00	5,500.00	12,890.00
Date	Dec-20	Dec-20	Dec-20	
Amount	1,935.41	300.00	1,630.00	3,865.41
	1,333.11		2,030.00	5,000.41
Date				
Amount				
Date				
Amount				
L Total	C4 000 50		F0 (00 30	120.074.07
IVIAI	64,230.52	16,143.40	59,600.73	139,974.65
Grand Total	64 330 53	16 142 40	E0 600 72	
Grand Total	64,230.52	16,143.40	59,600.73	1

139,974.65

Case No. 2020-00350 Supplemental Attachment 2 to Response to PSC-1 Question No. 14(d), Filed February 23, 2021

The Prime Group

Page 11 of 12 Garrett

Invoice for Services Rendered

		RECEIVED
Invoice Date:	January 1, 2021	JAN 8 - 2021
То:	LG&E and KU Services Company 220 West Main Street Louisville, KY 40202	STATE REGULATION AND RATES
	Attn: Ms. Andrea Fackler, Manager Revenue Requirement	
	Contract No. 105655	
performed dur Testimony, Ju	consulting work by Steve Seelye @ \$230.00/hour ring December on Cost of Service Studies, Schedule Ms, Direct risdictional Separation Study, and Rate Design in preparation in Kentucky for LG&E/KU.	\$ 2,185.00
performed dur	consulting work by Larry Feltner @ \$230.00/hour ring December working on a Gas Cost of Service Study Rate Design in preparation for a rate case in Kentucky J.	\$ 1,150.00
Total due for	work performed in December	\$ 3,335.00

Please remit payment to:	The Prime Group, LLC
	P.O. Box 837
	Crestwood, KY 40014-0837

Please note that a Late Payment Charge of 3% will be applied to the net amount owed if payment is not received within 45 days of the billing date specified above.

Rep. 173383 P.O. 171881 Julie 1-13-5001 File & Forker 1-13-5001

The Prime Group, LLC P. O. Box 837 • Crestwood, KY • 40014-0837 Phone :

Case No. 2020-00350 Supplemental Attachment 2 to Response to PSC-1 Question No. 14(d), Filed February 23, 2021 Page 12 of 12 Garrett

122484	KU RC 20 EXP		1,800.90			
122482	LGE RC-EL 20 EXP		1,200.60			
122483	LGE RC-GS 20 EXP		333.50			
			3,335.00			
		Allocation	Total	KU	LGE-Electric	LGE-Gas
		All Allocation		54%	36%	10%
		Electric Only		54%	46%	
		Gas Only				100%
	Seelye	All	2,185.00	1,179.90	786.60	218.50
	Feltner	All	1,150.00	621.00	414.00	115.00
24 <u>199</u>	Wernert		-	-	-	
	Blake		-	-	-	-
			3,335.00	1,800.90	1,200.60	333.50

LOUISVILLE GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY

February 23, 2021 Supplemental Response to Commission Staff's First Request for Information Dated November 24, 2020

Case No. 2020-00350

Question No. 37

Responding Witness: Gregory J. Meiman

Q-37. Provide all current labor contracts and the most recent labor contracts previously in effect.

A-37. Original Response:

The current contract between LG&E and IBEW Local 2100 was effective November 11, 2020. The final version has not been completed nor signed yet; see the current signed tentative agreement Attachment 1. The most recent previous contract is Attachment 2.

February 23, 2021 Supplemental Response:

Attached is the signed contract between LG&E and IBEW Local 2100, effective from November 11, 2020 through midnight of November 10, 2023.

Case No. 2020-00350 Supplemental Attachment to Response to PSC-1 Question No. 37 Filed Feb. 23, 2021 Page 1 of 152 Meiman

AGREEMENT

LOUISVILLE GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY



and

INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF ELECTRICAL WORKERS



LOCAL 2100

2020 - 2023

Case No. 2020-00350 Supplemental Attachment to Response to PSC-1 Question No. 37 Filed Feb. 23, 2021 Page 2 of 152 Meiman

OFFICERS

PRESIDENT/BUSINESS MANAGER JOEL SAULMAN

VICE-PRESIDENT

JOSH DEACON

RECORDING SECRETARY

TOMMY MELVIN

TREASURER

CRAIG EVANS

EXECUTIVE BOARD

DANNY CLEMONS Chairman

JEFF ABSHEAR BENJI BOHANNON MARK PHILLIPS CHARLIE SMITH BILL WHITE

OFFICE PHONE NO.

(502) 935-4010

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page Number

Recognition	1
Management	1
Union Security	2
Union Business	5
Grievance Procedure	9
Arbitration	15
Discipline and Discharge	18
Hours of Work	20
Overtime	25
Seniority	32
Temporary Employees	49
Holiday Pay	50
Vacations	53
Physical Examinations	60
No-Strike and No-Lockout Clause	
Sickness Leave of Absence	64
Successorship	69
Supplement to Workers' Comp	70
Limited Service	
Personal Leave of Absence	79
Funeral Leave	82
Jury Duty	84
Military Service	85
Subcontracting	86
Wages-Job Classification-Pay Progressions	88
Medical and Dental Insurance	91
Life and A D & D Insurance	96
Retirement and Disability	97
General Provisions	100
Special Premiums	102
Mileage Allowance	103
Service Watch and Standby	104
Personal Tools and Safety Equipment	105
	Management Union Security Union Business Grievance Procedure Arbitration Discipline and Discharge Hours of Work Overtime Seniority Temporary Employees Holiday Pay Vacations Physical Examinations No-Strike and No-Lockout Clause Sickness Leave of Absence Successorship Supplement to Workers' Comp Limited Service Personal Leave of Absence Jury Duty Military Service Subcontracting Wages-Job Classification-Pay Progressions Medical and Dental Insurance Life and A D & D Insurance Retirement and Disability General Provisions Special Premiums Mileage Allowance Service Watch and Standby

	Supplemental Attachment to Response to PSC-1 Question No. 3	Case No. 2020-00350 7 Filed Feb. 23, 2021
		Page 4 of 152
Article 34	Health and Safety	106 ^{Meiman}
	Non-Discrimination	
Article 36	Saving Clause	108
Article 37	Entire Agreement	108
Article 38	Duration of Agreement	109

NON-DISCRIMINATION

There shall be no discrimination by the Company or the Union in the application of terms of this agreement because of race, color, religion, gender, national origin, age, disability, marital status, veteran status (status as a special disabled veteran, a veteran of the Vietnam Era, a recently separated or active duty wartime or campaign badge veteran), relationship/association with a veteran, sexual orientation, gender identity, genetic information or any other legally protected status of an individual in accordance with applicable federal, state or local laws. The use of the masculine or feminine gender in this Agreement shall be construed as including both genders and not a sex limitation unless the Agreement clearly requires a different construction.

ARTICLE 1

RECOGNITION

The Company recognizes the Union as the exclusive collective bargaining agent for all employees of the Company engaged in operation, production, construction and maintenance, including meter readers, servicemen, collectors and inspectors, temporary and summer employees, and custodial employee classifications, but excluding all other employees in the Commercial Department, Accounting Department, Market Services Department, right-of-way agents, cadet engineers, co-op students and internships, office clerical employees, and all professional employees, guards and supervisors as defined in the National Labor Relations Act, as amended.

ARTICLE 2

MANAGEMENT

By reason of the nature of the business of the Company it is essential, and is therefore agreed, that the management of the Company and the supervision and control of all operations and the direction of the working forces, including the right to relieve employees from duty because of lack of work, or for just cause, the right to hire, suspend, discharge for cause, promote, demote or transfer employees, and the right to operate the Company should be, and is, vested in, and reserved to, the Company, except as herein limited.

The Company shall have the right to formulate and enforce rules and regulations dealing with employee conduct and work and safety which are not in conflict with this Agreement. The Company will notify the Union office in writing at least fourteen (14) calendar days prior to implementation of any new or revised rules or regulations and shall meet to discuss such changes during the fourteen (14) calendar day period if requested.

ARTICLE 3

UNION SECURITY

SECTION 3.01: The Union is required under the terms of this Agreement to represent all of the bargaining unit employees of the Company fairly and equally without regard as to whether or not such employee is a member or agency fee payer of the Union. Neither the Company nor the Union shall exert any pressure on, or discriminate against, any such bargaining unit employee as regards such matters.

SECTION 3.02: The Union agrees that it shall from time to time promptly accept for membership in the Union any person, not at such time a member or agency fee payer of the Union, (a) whom the Company desires to employ to perform for the Company work covered by this Agreement and who signifies his willingness to become a member or agency fee payer of the Union, or (b) who is an employee of the Company performing for it work covered by this Agreement and who signifies his willingness to become a member or agency fee payer of the Union.

SECTION 3.03: The term "willingness to become a member of the Union" as used in this Agreement shall mean and refer to a person who applies to the Union for membership therein, tenders the initiation fees uniformly required by the Union as a condition to membership therein and agrees to pay the periodic dues uniformly required by the Union as a condition to membership therein.

SECTION 3.04: The Union shall indemnify and save the Company harmless against any and all claims, demands, suits or other forms of liability that may arise out of or by reason of any action taken or not taken by the Company for purposes of complying with the provisions of this article.

SECTION 3.05: The Company agrees to notify each new

bargaining unit employee of the existence of this Agreement.^{Meiman} In addition, the Company shall, within a reasonable period of time after the effective date of employment of each new bargaining unit employee, advise the Union in writing as to the name of such new bargaining unit employee, his address, work location and wage rate.

SECTION 3.06: All present employees of the Company covered by this Agreement on the date of execution of this Agreement shall have the right to remain, but shall not be required to remain, members of the Union. All employees covered by this Agreement who are hired after the date of execution of the Agreement shall have the right to become, but shall not be required to become members of the Union.

The parties agree that if, during the term of this Agreement, KRS 336.130(3) ("Kentucky Right to Work Act") is repealed, in its entirety, by the Commonwealth of Kentucky, if a new public act invalidates KRS 336.130(3), if it becomes unenforceable in any way, or if the language contained in Article 3 of the agreement expiring November 10, 2017 becomes lawful for any other reason, the language of Article 3 of the agreement expiring November 10, 2017 shall replace the current language in Article 3 without need for any bargaining.

The Company shall make collection of union dues or agency fees of any bargaining unit employee, who is or is not a member or agency fee payer of the Union, through payroll deductions, upon proper authorization in writing signed by such bargaining unit employee and delivered to the Company, within the ten (10) work days after its execution; shall pay monthly to the Financial Secretary of the Local Union the total amount thus deducted from all bargaining unit employees for whom such authorizations are in effect; and shall monthly, promptly after the first payday, furnish such Financial Secretary an itemized list showing, for the period subsequent to the last previous list, the names, addresses, work locations,^{Meiman} and wage rates of the bargaining unit employees in respect of whom the payroll deductions were made and the respective amounts of such deductions. Deductions shall be made only from the wages paid to bargaining unit employees on two (2) of the paydays in the month for which the dues are owing.

SECTION 3.07: The Financial Secretary of the Local Union shall certify to the Treasurer (or other properly designated representative) of the Company, in writing and in such form and detail as the Company shall direct, the amount of the regular monthly union dues or agency fees which shall be deducted for such month under the authorizations provided for in Section 3.08 of this article. In each case where there is any change to be made in the amount so certified, the Financial Secretary shall, on or before the twentieth day of the month immediately preceding the month in which such change is to be effective, certify such fact and the changed amount to be deducted.

SECTION 3.08: Cancellation by a bargaining unit employee of his written authorization for payroll deduction shall be in writing signed by the bargaining unit employee and, upon receipt thereof, the Company shall honor any such cancellation. Cancellations shall be forwarded promptly to the Financial Secretary (or other properly designated representative) of the Union. A bargaining unit employee's authorization shall be deemed automatically canceled if such employee leaves the employ of the Company (including bargaining unit employees who are granted leaves of absence) or is transferred or promoted out of the bargaining unit.

SECTION 3.09: No dues or agency fees shall be deducted when sufficient pay is not available after allowing for all other authorized deductions. In such a case, the Union dues or agency fees shall be deducted on a subsequent payday (if any) in the same month if sufficient pay is available.

SECTION 3.10: The union will be notified in advance of any formal employee orientation meetings.

Nothing in this Section shall enlarge upon the rights of new employees as set forth elsewhere in this Agreement.

ARTICLE 4

UNION BUSINESS

Any regular employee covered by this SECTION 4.01: Agreement who is or may be elected or appointed to an office in the Union requiring his absence from duty with the Company, upon written request by the Union, shall be granted a leave of absence without pay for the duration of his term or terms of office. He shall be reinstated to employment upon completion of his term of office with restoration of full seniority, including the time served in union office, if he applies for reinstatement within thirty (30) calendar days after expiration of his term. Provided he is capable of performing the work and has retained qualifications, he shall be reinstated to his former position or its equivalent on the shift and at the location he was assigned prior to his term in the Union office, if available. He will be allowed time off from work without pay for any vacation entitlement he may have earned from the Union while on such leave of absence and such time will be treated as though it were vacation for absenteeism purposes. Time off will be granted only to the extent scheduling will permit which does not interfere with the established vacation schedule in accordance with Article 13. The Company shall not be required to grant more than four (4) leaves of absence under this Article at the same time. However, the Company may, upon proper request from the Union, authorize more than four (4) such leaves of absence. Two (2) of the above authorized four (4) leave of absence employees may instead be employees chosen by the Union who wil^{Meiman} remain active, but will be on full-time special assignments. Such positions must be from different payroll divisions. Such employees will primarily focus on the two functions described below or must actually perform services directly related to the administration and enforcement of the CBA to include, without limitation, acting as the Union's chief representative for the Joint Health and Safety Committee as detailed in Article 34. Compensation shall be limited to loss of straight-time wages at the employee's rate immediately prior to the start of his special assignment, adjusted for regular increases.

• One position to focus on working with contractors and Building & Trade unions to improve the potential for union contractors to be competitive in the bidding process.

• One position to focus on safety training for both employees and contractors.

SECTION 4.02: Any regular employee covered by this Agreement who is elected or appointed to an office in the Union requiring his temporary absence from duties with the Company may, upon proper written request to his supervisor, specifying the dates of, and reasons for such absence, be excused from work without pay, provided that the Company can arrange for a substitute to perform the employee's work, and provided further that any such leave or sum of such leaves shall not exceed thirty (30) working days in a calendar year. However, the Company will give additional consideration in this area on a case-by-case basis.

SECTION 4.03: When an employee needs to attend a Union committee meeting during his regular scheduled workday, he shall be excused from work without pay for that purpose, upon proper written request to his supervisor, provided that the Company can arrange for a substitute to perform the em-Meiman ployee's work.

SECTION 4.04: An employee who is elected by the Union to serve as a delegate to Union conventions or other similar Union meetings shall, upon proper written request to his supervisor, be excused from work without pay for sufficient time to attend such conventions or meetings.

SECTION 4.05: The Company shall compensate an employee only for the regular straight-time hours actually lost by such employee because of the employee's documented participation in the contractual grievance procedure, K.O.S.H.A. inspections, and arranged meetings, as outlined below:

- (a) For time spent by Shop Stewards, Chief Stewards and other employees authorized by this Agreement to participate in the processing of a grievance under the terms of the grievance procedure set forth in Article 5.
- (b) For time spent by a Union member who is requested by the Company or K.O.S.H.A. to attend opening or closing conferences or the walkaround of a K.O.S.H.A. inspection of a Company facility.
- (c) For time spent in arranged Company authorized meetings with Company representatives.

SECTION 4.06: Union business except as specifically provided herein, shall not be conducted during employee's working time unless specifically authorized by the Company.

SECTION 4.07: Union members who are excused from work for the conduct of Union business, and who are not eligible for compensation by the Company for time so spent, shall, upon request by the Union, be compensated by the Company for straight-time hours spent. The Union will reimburse the Company for these hours upon proper notice. The Company's^{Meiman} obligation under this section shall be suspended if, after thirty (30) calendar days from demand for proper reimbursement, such reimbursement is not received by the Company. Any contested amount of reimbursement is all that may be withheld by the Union to avoid the suspension of such obligation.

SECTION 4.08: An employee who is elected or appointed to a full-time position with the Union shall be permitted to participate only in the following Company fringe benefit plans:

- (a) Group Medical Insurance Program
- (b) Group Dental
- (c) Retirement Income Plan
- (d) The programs described in Section 29.06

Except for the benefits described in subsection (d) above, the total cost of participation in the above-listed fringe benefit plans for an employee elected or appointed to a full-time position with the Union, and who elects to participate in such benefit plans, shall be paid for by the Union. Such cost shall be payable when due, upon proper notification to the Union, for all time the employee holds such elected or appointed position.

SECTION 4.09: For the purpose of Sections 4.02, 4.03 and 4.04 of this article, seven (7) calendar days shall be considered "proper written request" provided the Union is aware of the need for the individual's absence at that time. In any case, the Union will notify the Company as far in advance as possible if the seven (7) calendar day notification cannot be met. In such case, the Company will make every effort to accommodate the Union's request consistent with operational needs. However, the Company shall not be obligated to release any employee if written notice is received less than forty-six (46) hours prior

to the beginning of the employee's scheduled work day from^{Meiman} which he seeks to be released in whole, or in part. Leaves of absence shall not be unreasonably withheld by the Company.

SECTION 4.10: With the exception of the provisions of Section 4.05 above, there shall be no other compensation for Union business.

SECTION 4.11: Bulletin boards shall be furnished by the Company for the Union's use for the purpose of posting notices to Union members. The Union agrees that it shall confine such posted notices to information concerning Company-Union relations and matters of concern to Union members. The Union further agrees it shall not post any notices that are derogatory or inflammatory in nature. Postings on bulletin boards shall be done by the Chief Union Stewards or their designated representatives.

ARTICLE 5

GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

SECTION 5.01: A grievance is defined as a dispute an employee or the Union may have with the Company arising from or based on the interpretation, application or violation of the express terms of this Agreement and other related contractual agreements or established precedents.

SECTION 5.02: It is the intention of the parties that all complaints and grievances should be presented promptly and discussed within a reasonable time. It is the further intention of the parties that grievances should be settled, whenever possible, at the departmental levels where the greatest familiarity with the subject matter exists. Therefore, prior to filing a grievance at the First Step of the grievance procedure, an employee who has a complaint or problem which may thereafter be a grievance, may informally discuss such complaint or problem with his immediate supervisor. If the complaint or problem is not resolved at this informal discussion, then it may thereafter be referred to the First Step of the grievance procedure.

It is agreed that all grievances, except those involving discipline or discharge, shall be settled and determined through the following grievance procedure. Discipline and discharge grievances will be processed in accordance with Article 7.

First Step - the Union or any employee who believes that he has a justifiable grievance shall, within fourteen (14) calendar days after the cause of the grievance is known to the employee, or when it could have reasonably been known to the employee, verbally present and discuss the grievance with his immediate supervisor. The Shop Steward shall be present at this meeting and shall identify the verbal presentation as a formal grievance. If the grievance is not resolved at this meeting, the shop steward will specify the issue of the grievance and the date of this meeting on the First Step grievance form provided by the Union. The supervisor will sign acknowledging receipt of the grievance. The supervisor shall, within fourteen (14) calendar days of the initial meeting, notify the employee and the shop steward of the disposition of the matter.

A meeting will be held, within the above fourteen (14) calendar day period, in an attempt to settle the grievance using mutual gains bargaining (MGB) principles. The meeting may be attended by the aggrieved employee, his Shop Steward and Chief Steward or other designated Steward trained in MGB principles. Also in attendance may be the grievant's immediate supervisor and another management representative trained in MGB principals who shall

then attempt to settle the grievance. Any new infor-Meiman mation the Union may discover after this meeting will be promptly brought to management's attention. The Union will not be unreasonably denied the opportunity to explain the new information, if necessary. Any settlement must be documented on the First step grievance form, signed by both parties and submitted to the Union Office and the Labor Relations Department. Within seven (7) calendar days of such settlement, the Union Office or the Labor Relations Department will have the opportunity to reject the settlement. If neither the Union Office nor the Labor Relations Department rejects the settlement, it may then be implemented. It is understood and agreed that settlements at this level of the grievance procedure shall not constitute a precedent for the interpretation and administration of this Agreement or any other like or similar grievance or grievances.

Second Step - If the grievance is not resolved, and is to be processed further, then within seven (7) calendar days after the supervisor's answer at the First Step of the grievance procedure or in the case of a rejected settlement, within seven (7) calendar days of notice of such rejection, the grievance shall be reduced to writing and submitted, by the President of the Union (or his designated representative) to the person designated by the Company for a Second Step grievance meeting. This meeting will be held within fourteen (14) calendar days of receipt, if practicable.

At the Second Step grievance meeting, a member of the Labor Relations staff (together with such associates as he may wish to assist him in the matter) shall meet with the Union Grievance Committee (which
shall be composed of the Union President, the Chief^{Meiman} Steward, the Shop Steward, and the grievant or their designated representatives, together with such nonemployee associates as they may wish to assist them in the matter) to discuss and attempt to resolve the grievance.

Within fourteen (14) calendar days after the Second Step grievance meeting is conducted, a person designated by the Company shall answer the grievance in writing and give such answer to the Union President. If the grievance is not resolved at the Second Step of the grievance procedure, then, as prescribed in Article 6 of this Agreement, the President of the Union (or his designated representative) may submit a written demand for arbitration to the American Arbitration Association with a copy to the designated Company representative.

At any time after the expiration of ninety (90) calendar days following the date of the Company's Second Step answer for discharge cases or six (6) months following the date of the Company's Second Step answer for all other cases, the Company may inform the Union Office in writing that such grievance must be submitted to Arbitration within fourteen (14) calendar days after the receipt of such letter, or it shall be defaulted in accordance with the terms of Section 5.03.

SECTION 5.03: Any dispute, complaint or grievance arising from an alleged violation of this Agreement by the Company shall be deemed, considered and held to have been waived unless the same is presented for settlement and determination within the time limits as spelled out in the various steps of the grievance procedure. In the event a grievance is not processed within the specified time limits, unless the Company and the Union mutually agree otherwise, the grievance shall be deemed to have been defaulted and it will thereafter be settled^{Iteiman} in favor of the non-defaulting party. It is further understood that if a grievance is defaulted or waived it shall not constitute a precedent for the interpretation and administration of this Agreement or any other like or similar grievance or grievances.

SECTION 5.04: It is agreed that the Company will compensate, per Article 4, Section 4.05 of this Agreement, the grievant and the Stewards, who are authorized in this article, for documented time spent in investigating, processing grievances and participating in grievance step meetings with Company representatives. "Substitutes," "assistants," or "replacements" will only be recognized as being entitled to compensation under this Section if, where practicable, written advance notification is received from the Union office naming the changes in designated representatives that the Union desires to make. The Union agrees to keep the Company notified in a timely manner as to who has been designated a Shop Steward or Chief Steward, and which group or groups of employees that each one represents and shall provide the Company with an up-to-date list at the beginning of each calendar month. The Union further agrees to assign each Shop Steward to his current work site or work group.

The First Step of the grievance procedure shall be conducted during the scheduled working hours of the grievant as far as practicable. Second Step grievance meetings shall be conducted as far as practicable between hours of 8 a.m. to 5 p.m. Time of such meetings shall be by mutual agreement of the parties.

SECTION 5.05: In order to investigate grievances arising hereunder and/or to meet with representatives of the Company to attempt to adjust grievances for those employees in his designated work group or work area, the Union representative authorized to participate at the appropriate grievance step and^{Teiman} to represent the grievant may be permitted to consult with any other employee within his designated work group or work area during the working time of either of them, provided he first obtains the permission of his own supervisor and then obtains the permission of the immediate supervisor of the employee being consulted and that such consultation shall not disrupt the Company's operations. The permission of the immediate supervisor of the immediate supervisor in either case shall not unreasonably be withheld. Consultations of this nature shall be as brief as practicable with every reasonable effort made to limit their use to the involvement of only those employees as may be needed to establish the facts in each case.

In addition to the above limitations, grievance investigation as described herein shall be authorized only on Company property. However, after a grievance has been answered following the first step hearing, a Chief Steward may, if necessary, be authorized to attend the Union Office for purposes of grievance investigation provided, however, the appropriate labor relations/management representative receives a written request specifying the grievance being investigated, as well as the date, time and approximate duration of the investigation for which permission is requested. Such request must be received reasonably in advance of the date sought by the Chief Steward and shall be signed by the Union President or a Business Representative. Permission to attend the Union Office, provided these conditions are met, shall not be unreasonably withheld.

Additionally, should an employee be suspended pending discharge pursuant to Section 7.04 of this Agreement, the appropriate Chief Steward will, if necessary, be authorized to attend the Union Office, during his working time, prior to the suspension hearing after first obtaining the permission of his immediate supervisor. Permission will not be unreasonably y^{Meiman} withheld.

SECTION 5.06: Whenever a grievance involves two or more employees, not more than two of the employees affected may be substituted for an employee or grievant wherever the words "employee" or "grievant" are used in the grievance procedure.

SECTION 5.07: Grievances which relate to matters which extend beyond a single section or department may originate in Step Two of this grievance procedure, provided that the initial time limits for filing a grievance in Step One of this grievance procedure are met. The time limits to answer at Step Two will apply.

SECTION 5.08: This grievance procedure may be varied at any time by mutual agreement, in writing, of the parties when such action appears to be necessary or desirable.

ARTICLE 6

ARBITRATION

SECTION 6.01: Any grievance not resolved in the Second Step of the grievance procedure may be submitted to impartial arbitration.

SECTION 6.02: The Union shall notify the Company of its intent to arbitrate a grievance by the procedure established in Article 5, Section 5.02. Such notice shall include the name of the Union's representative.

SECTION 6.03: Within five (5) working days after receiving written notice from the Union that it has requested arbitration of an unresolved grievance, the Company shall notify the Union of its representatives. A meeting will be held between the parties to select one arbitrator from the panel submitted by the American Arbitration Association. This meeting shall be held

in a timely manner so as to satisfy the selection requirements^{Meiman} of the American Arbitration Association. At such a meeting, the parties shall attempt to resolve the grievance. If the grievance is not resolved at such a meeting, the two parties shall select an impartial arbitrator as hereinafter provided.

SECTION 6.04: Any grievance processed under the terms of this article shall be arbitrated in accordance with the voluntary Labor Arbitration rules of the American Arbitration Association which are then in effect and the Arbitrator for each such case shall be selected in accordance with said rules except that either party may reject one list per case; provided, however, that each list of arbitrators submitted by the American Arbitration Association shall contain the names of at least seven (7) arbitrators who are members of the National Academy of Arbitrators, selected without regard to the geographic location of their residence in relation to Louisville, Kentucky. No more than one grievance shall be simultaneously submitted to any one arbitrator unless the Company and the Union agree otherwise in writing. The Arbitrator so selected shall have power to receive testimony from parties to the dispute and to hear such witnesses as they may desire to present. The parties may, if they so desire, be represented by counsel in all proceedings had before the Arbitrator. The Company shall bear the cost of preparing and presenting its case to the Arbitrator and the Union shall bear the cost of preparing and presenting its case to the Arbitrator. All other expenses of arbitration, such as but not limited to the Arbitrator's fee, the cost of recording and transcribing testimony if the parties mutually agree to split this cost or if the Arbitrator requests that the hearing be transcribed, and the hiring of a space in which the arbitration proceedings are held, shall be divided equally between the Company and the Union.

SECTION 6.05: The function of the Arbitrator shall be of a

judicial rather than a legislative nature. The Arbitrator shall not have the authority to add to, ignore or modify any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement. The Arbitrator shall have power and authority to arbitrate only those matters expressly made subject to arbitration by the terms of this Agreement and shall rule only on the issues submitted to him. The Arbitrator shall have power only to interpret this Agreement and shall not have the power to alter or amend it. Except where prohibited, precluded or preempted by applicable law, the parties agree that in matters the Union agrees to submit to arbitration, the Arbitrator shall be explicitly authorized to decide any statutory issues that may arise under Section

8 of the National Labor Relations Act ("NLRA"), or that if proven would form the basis for an unfair labor practice under such provisions. No decision of the Arbitrator shall require the payment of a wage rate or wage basis different from, or the payment of any wages in addition to, those expressly set forth in this Agreement. In any discharge or disciplinary layoff case where the Arbitrator decides that the aggrieved employee should be awarded any back pay, the Company shall be required to make the employee whole to the extent of the Arbitrator's award but shall be entitled to full credit on such award for the employee's gross interim earnings received or receivable by the employee during the period he was not working for the Company. Subject to the foregoing qualifications and limitations, the Arbitrator's award shall be final and binding upon the Company, the Union and the aggrieved employee or employees.

SECTION 6.06: Only the Union shall have the right to process and appeal grievances under this Agreement and only the Union shall have the right to take to arbitration any grievance processed under this Agreement. If the Union fails, refuses or declines to prosecute a grievance on behalf of an employee, or if the Company and the Union settle any griev.^{Meiman} ance on behalf of an employee hereunder, the employee who has filed such grievance or on whose behalf it has been filed shall be conclusively bound thereby and both the Union and the aggrieved employee shall thereafter be estopped to revive or further prosecute said grievance.

SECTION 6.07: Upon mutual agreement of both parties, grievances involving discipline or discharge may be submitted to Expedited Arbitration. Any grievances submitted to Expedited Arbitration under the terms of this article shall be conducted in accordance with the Expedited Labor Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association.

SECTION 6.08: In discharge cases, provided either party desires to file a post-hearing brief, such briefs shall be filed not more than three (3) weeks from the close of the hearing or two (2) weeks from receipt of the transcript of proceedings, whichever occurs first.

ARTICLE 7

DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE

SECTION 7.01: The Company shall have the right to discharge an employee during his probationary period with or without cause, and without recourse by the Union or by such probationary employee to the grievance procedure of this Agreement.

SECTION 7.02: The maintenance of discipline is the responsibility of the Company and to that end, the Company shall have the right to discipline or discharge employees, who have completed their probationary period, for just cause. The Company will send the Union Office a copy of any written disciplinary action given to employees covered by this Agreement and also shall provide a copy to the Union Steward. Such notice will be given as soon as possible after the action takes place.

SECTION 7.03: Any employee called in for disciplinary action or for an investigation which could result in disciplinary action, for that employee, shall be informed of his right to Union representation and shall be allowed to obtain such representation if he so desires before such action or investigation takes place. A copy of any disciplinary action taken shall be given to the employee. The Union or the employee may, within fourteen (14) calendar days after the administration of disciplinary action, appeal such action directly to the Second Step of the grievance procedure in Article 5.

SECTION 7.04: In cases in which the Company determines that an employee's conduct may justify discharge, such employee shall first be suspended for a period not to exceed the equivalent of forty (40) hours of scheduled work time. During this period of initial suspension, the employee and/ or the Union may request a hearing before the appropriate manager or his designated representative. At such hearing, all facts giving rise to the employee's disciplinary action will be presented to the Union and discussed between the parties. The president of the Union (or his designated representative) will be notified and given an opportunity to be present or have his designated representative present. After such hearing, or if no such hearing is requested, the Company shall determine the appropriate penalty, if any, to be given to the employee. Written notice of such determination shall be given to the employee, with a copy to the Union Office and the Union Steward

SECTION 7.05: In the event the Company's disposition is unsatisfactory to the Union, the Union may, within five (5) working days after such disposition, appeal the final disciplinary action directly to the Second Step of the grievance procedure in Article 5 without prejudice to Section However, only one grievance shall be processed.

SECTION 7.06: Unless additional time is necessary to investigate misconduct, and provided the Union approves of such additional time, the Company shall otherwise impose discipline within ten (10) of the employee's workdays from the time the Company knows or could have reasonably known of the conduct for which the discipline is imposed.

SECTION 7.07: Employee disciplinary records shall not be utilized in arbitration involving discipline administered to that employee if such records are more than five (5) years old, provided that employee has not received discipline within the five (5) year period.

ARTICLE 8

HOURS OF WORK

SECTION 8.01: The normal workday is eight (8) consecutive hours of work between the hours of 6:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m., exclusive of time out for lunch. The normal workweek is five (5) such regularly scheduled consecutive days (forty [40] hours), Monday through Friday, except where otherwise provided. In the case of shift workers, the normal workweek is either five (5) consecutive scheduled workdays and two scheduled off days or two (2) consecutive scheduled off days and five (5) workdays. The payroll week shall consist of seven (7) consecutive days beginning 12:01 a.m. Monday and ending the following Sunday midnight. The Company shall not reduce the hours of work below that which constitutes the normal workweek in lieu of layoff as set forth in Article 10, except upon mutual agreement of the parties.

SECTION 8.02: All employees covered by this Agreement shall be classified as "day workers" or "shift workers."

- (a) Day workers are defined as those employees^{Meiman} working the normal workday schedule as described in this article and shall not be entitled to any shift premium as described in Section 8.05.
- (b) Shift workers shall be described as those employees regularly scheduled on other than the normal day workers schedule and shall be entitled to the applicable shift premium attached to the shift so worked as described in Section 8.05. Shift workers working the day schedule shall not be entitled to any shift premium.

SECTION 8.03: The regular starting and quitting time for each employee or group or shift, and the days to be worked in any workweek shall be established from time to time by the Company. The Company will notify an employee of any change in his regular scheduled workweek at least fortyeight (48) hours prior to the change. All schedules shall be posted or given to involved employees, whichever is more appropriate.

SECTION 8.04: Employees who are not given notice as described above shall be entitled to the applicable premium as outlined in Article 9 - Overtime of this Agreement.

SECTION 8.05: For the purposes of identification, work shifts shall be described as the First Shift, Second Shift and Third Shift. For example:

The First Shift will ordinarily begin at 7:00 a.m. and end at 3:00 p.m.;

The Second Shift will ordinarily begin at 3:00 p.m. and end at 11:00 p.m.;

The Third Shift will ordinarily begin at 11:00 p.m. and end at 7:00 a.m.

When the majority of an employee's hours is worked within^{Meiman} the above described Second or Third Shift, shift premium for those hours will be paid as follows:

Second Shift	\$.90
Third Shift	\$1.05

SECTION 8.06: Shift Premium for hours worked:

- (a) Shift Premium for overtime hours worked by shift workers on a scheduled work day:
 - A shift worker scheduled for the second shift who works either call-in or planned overtime before or after his shift, will receive second shift premiums for all hours worked.
 - (2) A shift worker scheduled for the third shift who works either call-in or planned overtime before or after his shift will receive third shift premium for all hours worked.
 - (3) A shift worker scheduled for the first shift who works either call-in or planned overtime before or after his shift, will receive no shift premium for any hours worked.
- (b) Shift Premium for overtime hours worked by shift workers on scheduled offdays:
 - (1) If a shift worker works either planned or call-in overtime on a scheduled off day, the applicable shift premium for the hours worked will be paid in accordance with Section 8.05, above.
 - (2) The procedure set forth in (a) (1) through (3) above will also be applicable to shift workers who work more than eight (8) hours on a scheduled offday.

(c) Shift Premium for hours worked by day workers on^{Meiman} a scheduled work day:

Shift Premium will be paid to day workers when they are rescheduled to work hours, on a scheduled work day, for which shift premium is applicable.

- (d) Shift Premium for overtime hours worked by day workers on a scheduled offday:
 - (1) Day workers who work planned overtime on their scheduled offday are entitled to the appropriate shift premium.
 - (2) Day workers who work call-in overtime on a scheduled offday are not entitled to shift premium for any hours worked.
 - (3) A day worker who is "called in" for work on his first scheduled offday and is subsequently scheduled to return his second scheduled offday, the first offday is considered "call-in" and shift premium is not applicable. The second offday will be considered "planned" if the employee is notified prior to the end of the shift on his first offday and the employee will be paid the appropriate shift premium as set forth in (d)(1) above.

In (c) and (d) above, if the hours worked are divided evenly between the shifts, shift premium will be paid on the basis of the shift on which work was started.

SECTION 8.07: Payment for hours worked which are eligible for daily, weekly or holiday overtime shall be calculated on the basis of the employee's basic wage rate plus the shift and/ or Sunday premium applicable to the shift for which he is scheduled for the day.

SECTION 8.08: If the Company elects to permanently

add a new shift, permanently eliminate an existing shift,^{Meiman} or permanently change the hours of an existing shift it will notify the Union as early as possible of the change, and meet and discuss the changes prior to implementation, if requested. However, the establishment of a workweek which is not normal as defined in Section 8.01 will be by mutual agreement of the parties. Permanent, as used in this section, is defined as a change which, at the time of change, the Company anticipates will exceed one hundred twenty (120) calendar days. At any time during the process described below, either Party may notify the other of their desire to negotiate the change.

Once notified that an existing shift is no longer acceptable to the Company, the Union may request that a joint task force be formed to recommend alternative shifts either prior to, or in lieu of, negotiating the change. Recommendations that are acceptable to both the Union and Company may be submitted to the affected employees for a vote. If more than 50% of the votes cast support an approved alternate shift, that shift will become effective for a minimum of 12 months. If no alternative receives more than 50% support, a run off vote of the two highest alternatives will be held. Following a run off vote, if the majority of the votes do not support an alternate shift, the Parties may negotiate the change in the original shift.

If the employees or Union desire to permanently change an existing shift, the Chief Steward will notify the appropriate Manager and present the issue and suggested solution(s). Upon approval by the Manager, a joint task force may be formed to develop recommendations. Alternatives that are acceptable to both the Union and Company, including the shift in existence at the time, may be submitted to the affected employees for a vote. The shift that receives two-thirds or more support of those votes cast may become effective for a minimum of 12 months. If no choice receives at least two thirds support, the existing shift shall remain unchanged for all least 12 months, or until the Company elects to permanently change the shift in accordance with this Section.

The above process may also be utilized for any change to a shift selection process which exists under the terms of Section 10.21. Should either a four (4) day, ten (10) hours per day work schedule or 12 hour shift be established, the terms of Appendix B shall apply.

SECTION 8.09: Except when otherwise provided for in this Agreement, an employee shall be required to work, if physically capable thereof, at any time so requested and necessary in the performance of the Company's reasonable needs or its obligations to its customers as a public service corporation unless specifically excused for reasonable cause.

ARTICLE 9

OVERTIME

SECTION 9.01: Overtime shall be defined as time worked in accordance with the provisions of this article and compensation for overtime hours shall be as follows:

- (a) One and one-half (1-1/2) times the employee's straighttime hourly wage rate shall be paid:
 - 1. For all work performed in excess of eight (8) straight-time hours in any one day or forty (40) straight-time hours in any one workweek;
 - For work on the first scheduled offday of the workweek, provided the employee worked each of his five (5) regularly scheduled work days during the workweek, unless not worked for reasons set forth in Section 16.05. Additionally, for work performed on the second scheduled offday, if the employee has been offered over-

time or has been contacted for overtime which he^{Meiman} does not work on his first scheduled offday or if the first scheduled offday was not worked at the overtime rate.

- 3. For the first eight (8) hours worked in any one day for another utility company performing emergency electric service restoration.
- 4. For any change in an employee's schedule without proper notice as set forth in Section 8.03 of Article 8 and Section 9.03 of Article 9.
- 5. For the first eight (8) hours of work performed on observed holidays, in addition to the basic holiday pay allowance;
- 6. For all continuous hours worked by an employee who is called in or who voluntarily reports for an emergency and who is permitted to work more than four (4) hours before his regular starting time. An emergency, as used in this article, is defined as an occurrence or situation which can neither be anticipated, not postponed and which might or could cause loss of or interruption of service or might or could cause personal injury or property damage.
- For the first scheduled workday following the first off day of an employee's workweek in which the employee is not allowed either two (2) consecutive off days or five (5) consecutive workdays as described in Article 8, Section 8.01.
- (b) Two (2) times the employee's straight-time hourly wage rate shall be paid:
 - 1. For all hours of work performed in excess of

eight (8) hours on an observed holiday;

- 2. For all hours worked over eight (8) hours in any one day for another utility company performing emergency electric service restoration, however, if that company's overtime pay practice would provide more wages, then the employee will receive the greater of the two.
- 3. For all hours worked in excess of sixteen (16) consecutive hours;
- 4. Except as provided in 9.01(a)2, for all work performed on the second scheduled offday of the workweek.

SECTION 9.02: Employees required to work back-to-back shifts, which fall into two regularly scheduled workdays, shall be paid overtime for the hours worked on the second shift, provided the first shift was worked at straight time. However, if an employee voluntarily trades a shift with another employee by mutual agreement and with appropriate approval, he shall not receive overtime for such hours worked, except where he works more than forty (40) hours in any one week. An employee who is required to work a back to back shift may, prior to the start of the second shift, make his desire known to be released after working four (4) hours of the second shift. A reasonable effort to allow the employee to be released will be made, except in emergency situations.

SECTION 9.03: In the event the regular work schedule of an employee is changed without proper notice, as set forth in Article 8, Section 8.03, the overtime obligation as set forth in Section 9.01(a) (4) will apply only for those days for which the schedule has been altered.

An employee may be scheduled or directed to work overtime before and/or after his regularly scheduled workday, and that shall not constitute a change of schedule.

This Section 9.03 shall have no application if an employee, upon his own request, is permitted to change his daily or weekly work schedule, or if an employee's work schedule is changed as the result of his being transferred because of a job bid or to fill a job promotion or vacancy in accordance with this Agreement.

SECTION 9.04: When an employee is called in to work, or voluntarily reports for and is allowed to work an emergency as defined in Section 9.01(a)6., outside of his regularly established work schedule, he shall be paid a minimum of four (4) hours at the applicable rate from the time the employee reports to work. If an employee is called outside his regularly established work schedule, for information pertaining to Company work which can be handled by phone, the employee will be paid for time actually spent in such conversations at the appropriate overtime rate.

SECTION 9.05: For the purposes of this article, overtime shall be defined as "planned" overtime or "call-in" overtime.

- (a) "Planned" overtime shall be defined as overtime anticipated or scheduled in advance of the overtime and about which the employee was notified, prior to leaving the Company's premises. Additionally, when an employee is directed to report for work outside his regular schedule, directed to continue working at the conclusion of his regular workday (except for emergency work), or is directed to commence work before his starting time after reporting to his work location such overtime will be treated as planned overtime.
- (b) "Call-in" overtime shall be defined as all overtime worked which requires the Company to call in an employee outside his regular schedule after such em-

ployee has been released from work or when held^{Meiman} over for emergency work. The employee will be considered to have been contacted for call-in overtime if he has a telephone and a reasonable effort is made to reach the employee at his telephone number appearing on the Company's records. It is the obligation of the employee to advise the Company of his current telephone number.

SECTION 9.06: Employees who are called-in to work more than four (4) hours before their regular starting time and who are thereafter excused and released from duty for a period of time not to exceed four (4) hours, shall have all hours actually worked treated as continuous hours for the purpose of overtime (exclusive of all hours the employee is released from work). If such employee remains on the Company premises at the direction of the Company or if such release from duty is within two (2) hours of his normal starting time, such time will be paid at the appropriate overtime rate and treated as continuous. Additionally, employees called back within four (4) hours of being released shall have their additional hours actually worked added to the hours worked before being released, for the purposes of calculating overtime pay and total hours worked.

SECTION 9.07: When, in the opinion of the Company, an employee has worked for such an extended period of time as to impair his effectiveness or present a hazard to the health or safety of his fellow employees, he may be required by the Company to take off up to eight (8) hours for rest. In no event will an employee be required to work more than sixteen (16) consecutive hours without an eight (8) hour rest period. Such rest period shall be taken in its entirety unless he is requested and agrees to return to work before the expiration of such eight (8) hour rest period. If such rest period runs into the

employee's regular workday, he shall be compensated at his^{Meiman} regular straight-time rate for all such hours to a maximum of eight (8) straight-time hours unless the rest period was initiated by the employee in accordance with this section or the rest period was initiated after an employee has worked more than sixteen (16) consecutive hours on successive days in response to an emergency as defined in Section 9.01 (a) 6. In the event any such eight (8) hour rest period terminates within two (2) hours or less of the end of the employee's regularly scheduled shift, the employee shall have the election of either returning to work at his regular straight-time hourly rate or not returning to work and forfeiting the remaining hours in his shift.

SECTION 9.08: If an employee is released from duty after sixteen (16) consecutive hours of work and is requested to return to work and agrees to return to work during his regular scheduled workday without the eight (8) hour rest period, such time worked in the regular scheduled workday shall be paid at the overtime rate in effect at the time of release from duty.

SECTION 9.09: It is understood and agreed that overtime will not be paid on overtime or otherwise duplicated or pyramided unless specifically provided herein. Additionally, an employee shall not be paid both daily and weekly overtime for the same hours worked.

Section 9.10: The Company agrees to distribute overtime opportunities as equitably as practicable among the employees where overtime is required. Accordingly, the Company will make a reasonable effort to equalize overtime opportunities among employees in each work group who are qualified and available to perform the overtime work. Any irregularities in the distribution of overtime that are brought to the attention of supervision by the affected employees will be reviewed on an annual basis. The Company will meet with the Union to determine an appropriate resolution.

Section 9.11: Individual work groups, to include their management, may determine the appropriate system for distributing overtime opportunities in accordance with the following guiding principles:

- The system must be responsive to customer's needs, be cost effective and provide for safe accomplishment of the overtime work.
- The system must be flexible enough to accomplish the first principle under varying situations (i.e., callin, planned, emergency)
- The system must be simple to administer and rely only on information systems that exist for other business reasons (i.e., Payroll).

For the purpose of determining individualized systems, work groups may vary depending upon organizational design, but will generally consist of employees who are qualified and available to perform the overtime work at a location.

Each work group will notify the Union office and labor relations when an individualized system is chosen and provide a description of the system it is using. The equalization provisions set forth in section 9.10 above shall be applicable until such time as the work group provides this notice. All issues and disputes arising under this Method are to be resolved within the affected work group. Should a work group be unable to effectively operate its system, or be unable to resolve disputes, the sole and exclusive remedy will be a return to the provisions set forth in section 9.10 above.

ARTICLE 10

SENIORITY

SECTION 10.01: An employee's seniority shall be computed from the date of his most recent employment by the Company (unless otherwise provided herein) except that a new employee shall be on probation for twelve full months from the date of his last employment, and during said period may be discharged with or without cause. However, time away from work by a probationary employee will not be credited toward his probationary period. After serving the probationary period, a new employee shall be placed on the seniority list and given seniority as of the first day he was last hired by the Company. There shall be no seniority among probationary employees and there shall be no responsibility for re-employment of probationary employees if they are laid off or discharged during their probationary period. Probationary employees shall be entitled to the benefits and privileges provided for temporary employees, as outlined in Section 11.04 of Article 11.

SECTION 10.02: Seniority, for the purposes of this Agreement, is the length of continuous service dating back to the first day of the last date the employee was hired by the Company. Where used in this Agreement, the term "seniority" will be construed to mean classification seniority; departmental seniority; or Company seniority.

a. Classification seniority shall mean an employee's length of continuous service in a given job classification to which the employee has been permanently assigned. For purposes of layoff within a line of progression, classification seniority shall accumulate on all lower job classifications in a line of progression in addition to any service in such lower jobs.

- Departmental seniority shall mean an employee's^{Meiman} length of continuous service in the payroll division to which the employee has been permanently assigned.
- c. Company seniority shall mean an employee's length of continuous service with the Company.

SECTION 10.03: An employee shall lose seniority and his status as an employee shall cease for any of the following reasons:

- a. If an employee retires, quits or is discharged for cause.
- b. If an employee has not actively worked for the Company twenty-four (24) consecutive months, or for a period of time equal to his Company seniority, whichever is the lesser (unless otherwise provided elsewhere in this Agreement).
- c. If an employee, after having been laid off, fails to report for work within seven (7) calendar days when called by the Company by certified mail or telegram, sent to the employee's last address appearing on the Company's records; provided, however, that where an employee has been laid off for three (3) months or more, he will have seven (7) calendar days from the day called back to work by the Company, as set forth above, to notify the Company of his desire to return to work and he must report for work within five (5) working days thereafter.

SECTION 10.04: Qualifications, experience, physical conditions and ability to perform the available work shall be controlling factors in promotion of employees. Accordingly, in promotions or in selecting a successful job bidder, the Company will promote or select the most senior, qualified employee who possesses these minimum qualifications. In

the case of employees being promoted in accordance with^{Meiman} the "opportunity to advance" provisions of Appendix A, the effective date of such promotion shall be the beginning of the payroll period nearest the actual date the employee has satisfied the minimum qualifications listed above.

Notwithstanding the preceding paragraph, in the event the Company decides to fill a vacancy in a job classification above journeyman in lines of progression, it will be filled by employees who, in the Company's judgment, are most qualified to perform the duties of the job. Management will determine the above journeyman selection process and it is agreed seniority will be a component utilized in the process.

Except in the case of employees being promoted in accordance with the "opportunity to advance" provision of Appendix A, if a junior employee is selected for promotion over a senior employee, a written notice of such action, and the reason therefore, will be given to the senior employee and his Chief Union Steward prior to the effective date of the promotion. The failure to promote the senior employee will not affect his consideration for future promotion. An employee may decline consideration for promotion to classifications above journeyman by submitting a written waiver of consideration to his supervisor, with a copy to the Union. However, the preceding sentence shall not apply to those employees who, as of January 1, 1990, have ten (10) or more years of Company seniority, who may waive promotion to any classification. Such waiver shall remain in effect until the employee submits a written revocation thereof to his supervisor.

An employee promoted into a job classification must satisfactorily progress from possessing the minimum qualifications for that classification to a fully qualified level expected of that classification in a period of time equal to the duration of wage step progressions applicable to the classification. Satisfactory progress shall be defined by application of the^{Meiman} Employee Performance Review (EPR) system in effect. At the time of the EPR, an employee shall be counseled with respect to those areas of his evaluation that were deemed to be unsatisfactory. Such employee will be re-evaluated within ninety (90) calendar days. After the ninety (90) calendar day re-evaluation, should such employee's performance still be deemed to be unsatisfactory, that employee may be demoted and will be eligible for promotion only upon showing that the employee possesses the necessary qualifications. A demoted employee may request to be evaluated for the purpose of promotion eligibility after ninety (90) calendar days from the date of his demotion.

SECTION 10.05: Entry level jobs within a line of progression and vacancies in other jobs not in a line of progression, which the Company decides to fill internally, will be posted in accordance with this Section.

Any non-entry level job vacancy within a line of progression, which the Company decides to fill, will be filled by a qualified lower or equal rated employee within such line of progression in accordance with the employee's classification seniority. Where more than one classification of employees in the line of progression are eligible to fill the opening, relative seniority between employees within such classifications will be determined by company seniority. If there are no employees within a line of progression who are qualified for promotion, the Company may, but shall not be required to, post the job vacancy in accordance with this Section.

In selecting a successful job bidder, job bids from within the Payroll Division where the opening occurs will be given first consideration on the basis of Company Seniority. If no qualified bidder is found there, job bids from other Payroll Divisions of the Department where the opening occurs will receive next consideration. If no qualified bidder is found^{1/eiman} there, job bidders from the remaining Departments will be considered.

In cases where no qualified employee within the bargaining unit has bid upon a job vacancy, such job vacancy may be filled by the Company with persons from any other source, either within the Company or from outside subject to the limitations contained in Section 10.17 of this Article.

The Company will take final action with respect to all job postings within fourteen (14) calendar days after the posting is taken down, unless additional time is needed for testing, scheduling physicals, etc. Until the Company has selected an employee to fill such job vacancy, the vacant job may be filled temporarily in any manner the Company sees fit.

An employee who submits a bid shall not be declared the 'successful job bidder' until he has been interviewed by a departmental representative in the department wherein the posted job exists. During this interview the employee's questions concerning the job will be answered following which the employee may remove his name from further consideration for the job. If the employee does not remove his name from further consideration and he is otherwise qualified for the posted job, he will be the 'successful job bidder' upon successful completion of the physical examination. Should the job require a Commercial Driver's License (C.D.L.), the employee will have thirty (30) calendar days, or as soon as the Department of Transportation (D.O.T.) schedules will allow from the date of this interview in which to obtain the required license before being disqualified.

An employee who removes his name from consideration for a posted job following the interview shall not bid again for six (6) months. Unless no qualified replacement is available as detailed in^{Meiman} Section 10.06, and provided a replacement is required before an otherwise successful job bidder can be released, the Company shall take steps to accommodate such release as soon as is practicable under the circumstances.

Should a successful job bidder be disqualified at any time during or prior to his contractual trial period, the job opening will be offered to the next most senior qualified bidder who has not been awarded a job through a subsequent job bid. Should this occur, the job will then be offered to other qualified bidders on the initial bid list in order of Company seniority until the job is filled or the list of bidders has been depleted. Should such offer be made sixty (60) calendar days or more after the bidder was notified that the job was awarded to a senior employee then, the employee will have the option of accepting the job bid or removing his name from the list of bidders for that job. The Company may, but shall not be required to repost the same job vacancy. A job bidder who is disqualified shall be permitted to bid again on any future posting.

All notices of job vacancies will be posted Company-wide for ten (10) calendar days. Employees must submit original job bids online utilizing the applicant tracking system during the posting period. A bidder may withdraw his bid no later than two (2) calendar days after the removal of the job posting through the applicant tracking system.

The job bidder is responsible for providing the staffing department with verification of any educational attainments which are a requirement for the posted job. Such verification must be received no later than fourteen (14) calendar days after the removal of the job posting.

The Company may withdraw a notice of job vacancy

at any time after being posted, but the Union shall be noti-^{Meiman} fied, in writing, of any such withdrawal and given the reason therefore.

The staffing department will provide the Union Office a copy of all job bids and any withdrawal of job bids submitted. They will also notify the Union Office of the successful bidder for all jobs filled under this section.

If an employee is a successful job bidder, as authorized by any provision of this Article during the term of this Agreement, he shall not bid again unless disqualified during or prior to his contractual trial period.

Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 10.05 and 10.06, employees hired after November 10, 2005 through November 10, 2014 shall have no right to bid on available openings forty-eight (48) months from date of hire. Employees hired after November 10, 2014 shall have no right to bid on available openings for sixty (60) months from date of hire.

SECTION 10.06: Once following May 16, 2001, provided the employee has not already successfully bid as limited by Section 10.05 of this Article, an employee shall be permitted to make a demotional job bid only to an established job in a different line of progression. If an employee makes a demotional job bid from a line of progression, such bid may be to an open job in a different line of progression. A demontional job bid shall be awarded to an employee only if there is a qualified employee available and willing to take his place.

Provided the employee has not already successfully bid as limited by Section 10.05 of this article, and above journeyman employee shall be eligible for a demotional job bid to the journeyman level in the same line of progression, provided there is a job opening. Their job classification date would revert to their original journeyman classification date.

An employee who makes a demotional job bid into another line of progression where there is no incumbent employee qualified for promotion, shall be allowed to fill the highest job classification within that line of progression for which he is qualified and for which there is an opening.

SECTION 10.07: Any employee who is an active participant in a designated formal comprehensive training program above and beyond existing "on the job" training practices and procedures shall be precluded from bidding. Upon request, the Company will provide the Union with a list of all employees who are active participants in such training programs. An employee who is promoted within the training program shall not bid for three (3) years following successful completion of training program.

SECTION 10.08: For purposes of establishing the appropriate rate of pay, the reclassification of an employee for any reason, except as provided in Section 10.24, shall be defined as either Promotional, Lateral or Demotional. Such determination will be based upon the assigned pay grade for the classification the employee occupies relative to the assigned pay grade for the classification to which he is being reclassified. The appropriate rate of pay will be determined as follows:

- a. Promotional: the employee receives a minimum increase of twenty (20) cents per hour, or the entry rate of the new pay grade.
- b. Lateral: the employee retains his rate of pay in effect at the time he is changed to his new classification unless:
 - that rate of pay is less than the beginning rate for his new classification in which case he would receive the beginning rate of his new classification; or

- (2) that rate of pay is more than the highest rate for^{Meiman} his new classification in which case he would receive the highest rate for his new classification.
- c. Demotional: the employee receives the pay rate consistent with the rate of pay provisions in Section 10.24 for redeployed employees.

In all cases, classification seniority is established as of the date the employee was reclassified and any wage step progressions are based upon his classification seniority in his new classification.

SECTION 10.09: The Company may fill up to 50% of the job vacancies that occur within each department in a rolling twelve month period from external sources, without regard to the posting provisions of Section 10.05 or redeployment provisions of Section 10.24. For the purposes of this section, redeployment within a department will not constitute a job vacancy. The Company will provide written notification to the Union for the initial filling of a vacancy, whether internal or external for purpose of administering this section.

SECTION 10.10: An employee who is reclassified shall have an on the job trial period not to exceed thirty (30) calendar days. Such thirty (30) calendar day period may be extended by written notice to the employee, for up to an additional thirty (30) calendar days. Such trial period(s) may also be extended in an amount of time equal to all time the employee is off duty during such period(s). An employee who fails to qualify during his trial period(s) will be returned to his previous job and rate of pay with no loss of seniority, if such job is available. If the job from which the employee was reclassified is not available, the employee may be reclassified to another job for which he is qualified under the terms of Section 10.24. SECTION 10.11: Seniority, qualifications, physical condition^{Meiman} and ability to perform the available work shall be controlling factors in layoff and recall of employees. Accordingly, the Company will retain the most senior employees who possess these minimum qualifications and lay off employees with less Company seniority. It is agreed, however, that in case of layoff, no employee, regardless of his qualifications, physical condition, ability or seniority, shall have the right to displace an employee unless he is qualified, without further training and instruction, to satisfactorily perform the work of the employee being displaced.

SECTION 10.12: In layoff and in the elimination of or reduction within a job classification within a Department, the Company generally subscribes to the principle of "last in, first out." To that end, layoffs will be handled in accordance with the following procedure:

In the event it becomes necessary to reduce the number of employees within a line of progression, the Company shall notify employees whose jobs are eliminated of such elimination. The least senior employees within the line of progression shall have their jobs eliminated first. (For nonline of progression jobs, the least senior employees within the classification shall be affected first.) An employee whose job is eliminated shall have the right to a job within a line of progression (or non-line of progression job) provided there is a less senior incumbent in the line of progression (or non-line of progression job) whose job the employee is qualified to satisfactorily perform without further training and instruction.

Provided the foregoing conditions are met, the least senior incumbent within the line of progression (or non-line of progression job) shall be displaced and the employee causing the displacement shall be entitled to fill the highest job classification within the line of progression for which he is qualified without regard to the classification held by the displaced^{1eiman} employee. Any employee displaced by a more senior qualified employee shall have the same rights under this Section as an employee whose job is eliminated.

Additionally, during the term of the current Collective Bargaining Agreement only, after all displacements are accomplished through the above process, any employee hired prior to November 11, 2008 who does not have a job may displace the most junior employee in the Company provided:

- a) the junior employee was hired after November 10, 2008 and;
- b) the senior employee possesses the minimum qualifications for the entry level classification in the junior employee's line of progression, and
- c) the total number of employees displaced in any line of progression through the combination of normal bumping rights and the additional bumping right of this paragraph will not exceed 10% of the number of employees in the line of progression or 10, whichever is less, by virtue of this additional bumping opportunity.

SECTION 10.13: The Company shall be the judge of qualifications and ability of employees in case of layoffs, recall from layoffs, promotions, and job bids. However, where the strict application of seniority is not applied, such decision may be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure of this Agreement.

SECTION 10.14: In case of layoff all probationary and temporary employees shall be laid off before any employees who have established seniority are affected, unless there is no employee with seniority who is qualified to do the work.

SECTION 10.15: Employees to be laid off will be given

as much notice as is reasonably possible prior to the layoff.^{Meiman} However, in no event will any employee be given less than two (2) weeks notice in writing prior to a layoff. A copy of such layoff notice will be given to the Chief Union Steward for the department where the layoff will be effective.

SECTION 10.16: The Company will not hire new employees (which shall include probationary and temporary) in any job classification while it has employees on layoff qualified to do the available work until those employees on layoff have been restored to do the available work or removed from the seniority roster as provided for elsewhere in this article.

SECTION 10.17: If an employee is subject to being laid off he may accept any job for which he is eligible and qualified or he may voluntarily choose to accept layoff.

SECTION 10.18: When it becomes necessary to increase the workforce after a layoff, the Company shall first post the job openings in accordance with Section 10.05 of this Article. If there are no qualified bidders, the Company shall recall laid off employees in accordance with their Company seniority.

SECTION 10.19: When an employee in the bargaining unit covered by this Agreement is promoted or transferred to a job outside the bargaining unit he shall retain his earned Company and classification seniority, but shall not have such seniority accumulate during such period of employment outside of the bargaining unit for purposes of this Agreement except for fringe-benefit purposes. Such employee may be returned to his former job classification within the bargaining unit at the Company's discretion not later than one hundred twenty (120) calendar days following his promotion provided, however, that no other employee will be demoted or moved out of the line of progression to permit his return to said job classification. SECTION 10.20: An employee who is unable to work be^{Meiman} cause of an occupational or non-occupational injury or illness shall have his medical, dental and life insurance coverage continued in accordance with the terms of this Agreement until the end of the twelfth full calendar month following the date the employee's absence began.

SECTION 10.21: When there is a work assignment opening within a job classification, such work assignment may be chosen by the senior qualified employee within the department, by classification seniority, where the opening occurs. The opening shall be filled in accordance with rules and regulations agreed to by the parties. If no qualified employee selects the open work assignment, the Company may assign the least senior qualified employee to the vacancy.

SECTION 10.22: Not less than fourteen (14) calendar days preceding a layoff, the parties shall meet to discuss any subcontracting practices which the Union considers to be in violation of this Agreement should such subcontracting continue. The Union shall be furnished with a complete list of all contractors performing services for the Company and the information called for otherwise in Article 24, Section 24.02 of this Agreement.

In the event a dispute arises as a result of the discussion, the parties shall immediately request a panel of not less than fifteen (15) Arbitrators from the American Arbitration Association who are available to hear and decide the case promptly. The parties shall alternately strike names until three remain. The three remaining names shall be submitted to the American Arbitration Association which shall appoint the Arbitrator most readily available to hear and decide the case.

The preparation of a transcript of proceedings and the submission of briefs shall be in accordance with Article 6, Section 6.08 of this Agreement. SECTION 10.23: When a question of seniority arises where^{Meiman} two or more employees have identical seniority dates, the following procedure shall be used to determine seniority:

- a. departmental seniority breaks ties in classification seniority;
- b. Company seniority breaks ties in departmental seniority;
- c. ties in Company seniority are broken by a procedure established between the chief steward(s) and the management representative(s) where the tie exists. The affected employees will be given the opportunity to be present where reasonably practicable.

SECTION 10.24: When it becomes necessary to reduce the number of employees in a line of progression or a nonline of progression job, because of operational need and/ or technological advancement, and such reductions may be accomplished through a redeployment process in lieu of the layoff process described in Section 10.11 through 10.18, the following process will be used:

The Company will notify the Union of the designated lines of progression or non-line of progression jobs where the number of incumbents exceed the desired level and will specify the desired level of staffing. All employees in the designated line of progression or nonline of progression job are considered subject to redeployment until the number of incumbents is reduced to the desired level. As long as there are employees subject to redeployment, openings are not subject to the posting requirement of Article 10, Section 10.05.

Specific Redeployment:

The Company will notify the Union of the need to ac-

complish a specific redeployment of employees, iden-Meiman tifying the specific lines of progression or non-line of progression jobs to be reduced and the available openings designated to accomplish the redeployment, and will meet and discuss the situation, if requested. In a specific redeployment situation, openings will be offered first to employees in the specified lines of progression or non-line of progression jobs who have previous experience or similar line of progression experience which qualify them for a classification higher than entry level in the new line of progression. Thereafter, openings will be offered to qualified employees on the basis of classification seniority. If qualified senior employees do not elect to fill such openings, then the junior qualified employees may be transferred on the basis of classification seniority.

General Redeployment:

Openings which are not designated to accomplish a specific redeployment, in accordance with the preceding paragraph, will be made available through a bidding process to all qualified employees subject to redeployment. In selecting the successful job bidders, the opening will be offered first to employees, on the basis of Company seniority, who have previous experience or similar line of progression experience which qualify them for a classification higher than entry level in the new line of progression. Thereafter, job bids from within the payroll division where the opening occurs will be given first consideration on the basis of company seniority. If insufficient qualified bidders are found there, job bids from other payroll divisions of the department where the opening occurs will receive next consideration. If insufficient qualified bidders are found there, job bidders from the remaining de-Meiman partments will be considered. If insufficient qualified bidders are found there, the junior qualified employees subject to redeployment may be transferred on the basis of Company seniority.

The bidding process provided for in this section shall be separate from that described in Section 10.05 and shall not constitute a job bid as defined in Section 10.05.

Classification and rates of pay of employees who are reclassified pursuant to this section shall be as follows:

Classification:

Employees will be reclassified to the highest classification in the new line of progression for which they are qualified and an opening exists.

Rate of Pay:

The rate of pay for any employee reclassified under this section will be determined based upon the following table. "From" means the classification held by the employee immediately preceding the transfer. "To" means the classification to which the employee is being reclassified.

FROM	ТО	RATE OF PAY ²
Journeyman or Above	A Line of Progression Job	The higher of the rate of pay for the intermediate ¹ classification in his former line of progression or his new line of progression.
	line of progression.	
-------	---	
y Job	Red Circled at the "50% rate" as defined in Appendix "A."	
	y Job	

NOTE 1: For employees who are journeyman or above in a two classification line of progression (i.e., Customer Service Representative-Meter Reading) the intermediate classification in their old line of progression will be the journeyman classification.

NOTE 2: An employee transferred to a line of progression classification will receive the above wage protection for a period of time equal to the duration of the wage step progression applicable to the classification plus six (6) months after which, if not fully qualified, he will be paid at the appropriate rate of pay for his classification and the provisions outlined in Section 10.04 will apply.

If the application of the above table would result in an increase for any employee, that employee will retain his present rate of pay unless qualified for the higher classification.

Employees who have been redeployed under this section shall have a one-time opportunity to return to their former classification, should openings occur, for a 3-year period.

Employees who are redeployed to a non-line of progression classification shall remain subject to redeployment until they have been offered an opportunity to transfer to a classification in a line of progression.

Notwithstanding the above, consistent with the provisions of the Company/Union partnership statement on Continuous

Improvement, any employee who is redeployed as a result feinan of the Continuous Improvement process will have their rate of pay red-circled subject to the provisions of Note 2 above.

ARTICLE 11

TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES

SECTION 11.01: The Company may, at its option, hire temporary employees from time to time throughout the term of this Agreement. Temporary employees are included in the bargaining unit covered by this Agreement, however, they are not entitled to any of the benefits provided for in this Agreement, except as specified herein. The Company shall have the right to discharge temporary employees with or without cause and without recourse by the Union or by such temporary employee to the grievance procedure of this Agreement. There shall be no responsibility for reemployment of temporary employees if they are laid off or discharged during their temporary employment.

SECTION 11.02: Temporary employees may, at the Company's election, be transferred from temporary status to the Company's regular full-time employment. In the event of such a transfer, the period of time worked as a temporary employee from the date of his last employment shall be credited toward his seniority with the Company and shall be credited toward the computation of his probationary period, except as described in the Craft Intern Agreement. Additionally, future eligibility for seniority-related benefits for such employee will be calculated from the date of employment as a temporary employee, except as described in the Craft Intern Agreement.

SECTION 11.03: A temporary employee is an employee hired for a limited term of employment not to exceed twelve

(12) months or for a particular job or project which,^{Meiman} the Company anticipates at the time of employment, will not extend beyond twelve (12) months. A temporary employee shall be entitled to the temporary help rate. If the employee is hired for specific technical skills, he shall be entitled to the rate for the specific job which he is performing during the period of his employment as set forth in this Agreement.

SECTION 11.04: Temporary employees are entitled to the following contractual benefits as outlined in this Agreement:

(a) Overtime pay

(b) Premium pay

SECTION 11.05: The Company agrees to send to the Union a list of all temporary employees showing their respective job classifications (where applicable for temporary employees) and dates of hire. The Company agrees to update the aforementioned temporary employee list when necessary and will mail a copy of said list to the Union.

ARTICLE 12

HOLIDAY PAY

SECTION 12.01: The following days are recognized as Holidays:

New Year's Day	Thanksgiving Day
Memorial Day	Friday after Thanksgiving Day
Independence Day	Christmas Eve
Labor Day	Christmas Day
	3 Floating Holidays

SECTION 12.02: At the time of vacation selection, the preference of the Floating Holiday will be determined by seniority. After vacation selection has been completed, selection of the Floating Holiday shall be made on a first come,

first served basis. If operational requirements cause the^{Meiman} cancellation of this scheduled Floating Holiday, it may be rescheduled or the employee may be paid as outlined in Article 9.

SECTION 12.03: To be eligible for holiday pay, when referred to herein, an employee shall have completed six months employment from the date of his hire and shall have worked the last scheduled workday before and the first scheduled workday after the day recognized as a holiday. The following shall be considered as excused on the last scheduled workday before and the first scheduled workday after the day recognized as a holiday for the purposes of the administration of this article:

- (a) Permission granted to be absent without pay provided such permission is requested prior to the time employee is to be absent.
- (b) Vacation, Personal Day or Floating Holiday
- (c) Funeral Leave
- (d) Jury Duty
- (e) Sickness or injury providing

• the employee works at least one day in the workweek in which the day recognized as a holiday falls, or the period of sickness/injury begins the day before, the day of, or the day after the day recognized as a holiday;

• the employee reports such cause for absence in a timely manner on the day of the absence or prior thereto, and

• the employee furnishes a doctor's certificate.

SECTION 12.04: An employee who is eligible for holiday

pay as set forth above and is not required to work on a day^{Meiman} recognized as a holiday, shall be paid for eight (8) hours computed at straight-time hourly rates exclusive of shift premium or any other premium pay. Hours paid for under this provision, up to eight (8) hours, which fall on an employee's regularly scheduled workday shall be included in computing forty (40) hours of work during such week for the purposes of figuring overtime.

SECTION 12.05: Except for shift workers as set forth below, when any of the holidays fall on a Sunday the following Monday shall be observed as the holiday; should any of the holidays fall on a Saturday, the preceding Friday shall be the observed holiday. However, when Christmas Eve Day (December 24) occurs on Friday, it will be observed on the preceding Thursday and Christmas Day will then be observed on Friday. Additionally, when Christmas Eve Day (December 24) occurs on Sunday, it will be observed on the preceding Friday and Christmas Day will then be observed on Monday.

For a shift worker whose work schedule regularly includes work on Saturdays and/or Sundays and who is scheduled to work on a Saturday and/or Sunday which is a holiday, such holiday shall be observed on the legally recognized holiday instead of the Company observed holiday. A shift worker, scheduled to work on a holiday which falls within his normal workweek and works the holiday, may be permitted, with approval from his supervisor, to reschedule the holiday to some later date. Shift workers may bank no more than three (3) holidays at any given time in the calendar year, excluding those recognized in November and December and such banked holidays must be taken no later than December 15 of that year. Requests to reschedule holidays will be granted only to the extent operational demands and schedules will permit. Furthermore, employees choosing to exercise this option must declare their intent and resched-^{Meiman} ule such holiday before the end of the pay period in which the holiday is worked. Employees who reschedule a holiday shall receive the appropriate rate of pay for time worked on such holiday in accordance with Article 9, Section 9.01(a) (5) and 9.01(b)(1), however, the basic holiday allowance as described in Section 12.04 will be postponed until the employees receive time off for the rescheduled holiday or the end of the calendar year, whichever comes first.

The Company will permit at least fifteen per cent (15%) of the employees in its various departments time off on scheduled holidays which are observed Company-wide. Emergencies shall be in addition to the above limitations.

SECTION 12.06: An employee may schedule their Floating Holiday on the day recognized as Martin Luther King's birthday in accordance with Section 12.02. The Company will not unreasonably deny such requests consistent with operational demands. For shift workers, the Company will apply similar staffing levels for company-wide observed holidays, pursuant to Section 12.05.

ARTICLE 13

VACATIONS

SECTION 13.01: The Company will grant full vacation benefits to regular employees who were actively employed in the previous year according to the following schedule provided the employee worked at least 1040 straight-time hours during the previous calendar year. An employee who quits, voluntarily separates, retires, dies or who is discharged for cause on or before December 31, shall not be entitled to vacation in the following year.

(a) One (1) week of vacation after six (6) months of continuous service.

- (b) Two (2) weeks of vacation after two (2) full years of ^{Meiman} continuous service.
- (c) Three (3) weeks of vacation after five (5) full years of continuous service.
- (d) Four (4) weeks of vacation after ten (10) full years of continuous service.
- (e) Five (5) weeks of vacation after twenty (20) full years of continuous service.

SECTION 13.02: Vacation entitlement shall be determined by the anniversary date of an employee's most recent employment by the Company. Any additional vacation for which the employee becomes eligible in any calendar year may not be taken prior to such anniversary date.

SECTION 13.03: Employees who fail to satisfy the 1040 straight-time hours worked requirement for full vacation entitlement shall have their vacation entitlement reduced as follows:

At least 880, but less than 1040 straight-time hours worked - loss of one week of vacation entitlement.

At least 720, but less than 880 straight-time hours worked - loss of up to two weeks of vacation entitlement.

At least 560, but less than 720 straight-time hours worked - loss of up to three weeks of vacation entitlement.

Less than 560 straight-time hours worked - loss of all vacation entitlement.

For purposes of determining "straight-time hours worked," as used in this Section, the following shall be included in an employee's total:

(a) Days actually worked, including partial days where four (4) or more hours are actually worked, shall count as eight (8) straight-time hours. vacation due to an emergency, the Company shall either^{Meiman} pay compensation in lieu of vacation or designate alternate vacation dates in the following year at the employee's option. Initial vacation schedules, once completed, shall be posted.

SECTION 13.11: Subject to operational requirements, a regular full-time employee whose spouse is expected to give birth to a child will be entitled to reschedule up to one (1) week's vacation, to begin at any time between the date of the onset of labor and the release from the hospital following delivery, provided the employee notifies his supervisor at least two (2) weeks in advance of the anticipated delivery date, and further notifies his supervisor before starting time on the first day he will miss work due to the birth of the child.

A regular full-time employee who does not reschedule vacation as described above, may be released from duty for not more than four (4) hours, with pay, to accompany his child home from the hospital should the release from the hospital occur on a scheduled workday for the employee. An employee may elect to take the remainder of his scheduled work day as an excused, unpaid absence. The employee must not be off duty for any other reason to be eligible for the four (4) hours pay described herein and must notify his supervisor of his absence for this purpose not later than the day preceding the day his child is released from the hospital.

SECTION 13.12: The Company will grant regular employees who have completed six months employment from the date of hire two (2) Personal Days to be utilized during a calendar year. At the time of vacation selection, the preference of the Personal Days will be determined by seniority. After vacation selection has been completed, selection of the Personal Days shall be made on a first come, first served basis. If operational requirements cause the cancellation of the scheduled Personal Days, it may be rescheduled or the remainder of such vacation subsequent to the onset of such^{Meiman} injury or illness with prior approval of their supervisor. Days paid for as vacation during such period of injury, illness or disability shall not reduce the waiting period required under Articles 16 and 18 of this Agreement. The waiting periodshall begin effective with the first day that is permitted to be changed from vacation to sick leave and shall be applicable in accordance with the provisions of that article as though the period of injury, illness or disability began on that day.

SECTION 13.06: When a day recognized as a holiday falls on any of the first five (5) days of a workweek during an employee's vacation exclusive of vacation in lieu of sick leave or Workers' Compensation, the employee will be required to schedule the day of vacation upon which the holiday falls, at the time of vacation selection as described in Section 13.10.

SECTION 13.07: In the event an employee is separated for any reason (including extended approved leave of absence, retirement, lay-off, resignation, disability, death or discharge), the Company will pay to the employee, or the employee's estate, an amount equal to any unused vacation benefits to which the employee was otherwise entitled at the time of separation; provided, however, that all such rights shall be forfeited by an employee who is discharged for dishonesty.

Should an employee return to active employment without loss of seniority in the same calendar year as that in which the employee was separated and for which the employee received entitled vacation benefits and/or compensation in lieu of unused vacation benefits, the employee shall not be entitled to further vacation benefits in that year except such additional vacation benefits as may accrue as a result of an anniversary of continuous employment for which further vacation is applicable. Should the employee be off-duty for any reason at the time of eiman separation, vacation entitlement shall not exceed that for which the employee was eligible on the last day actually worked before such absence. Payment for such unused vacation, as set forth herein, shall not be considered an extension of employment and the employee shall not be eligible for any benefits of employment after the date of separation solely as a result of such payment in lieu of unused vacation.

SECTION 13.08: The wages which the Company shall pay during vacation period shall be computed on the basis of an eight (8) hour day and forty (40) hour week and shall be at the employee's normal rate of wages applicable during the period, exclusive of shift premium or any other premium pay. Time paid for as vacation pay shall be included as time worked for the purpose of computing forty (40) hours of work during such week for the purposes of figuring overtime.

SECTION 13.09: The Company will, as far as practicable consistent with work requirements, permit vacations to be taken at the time desired by employees, but determinations as to the total number of employees or any employees, the number of employees of a particular classification or at a particular location, the number and classification of employees of a particular working group, to be allowed on vacation at any time; the time within which vacations may be taken; and the make-up of working groups for vacation purposes, are reserved solely to the Company in order to insure the orderly operation of the Company and there is an opportunity of choice between two or more employees, the employee with the highest seniority roster position shall have first choice of vacation time made available.

SECTION 13.10: For the purposes of vacation preferences under this article, employees shall be permitted to use their

Company seniority to schedule vacation periods in two^{Meiman} week increments or less. The Company reserves the right to schedule an employee's fourth and fifth week of vacation separately from the first three (3) weeks of vacation and separately from each other.

It is agreed that vacations shall normally be scheduled to be taken in periods of one full week or more. Shorter periods of vacation may be allowed, however, in the discretion of supervision, for special circumstances when approved in advance for which vacation allowance is requested provided the employee, if requested, verifies the special circumstances for which the shorter period of vacation is requested.

Vacations must be taken within the calendar year in which they are applicable. A regular, full-time employee who has earned vacation for the year, will be allowed to carry over up to forty (40) hours of earned vacation to be used within the following calendar year if the following conditions are met:

- An employee must work a minimum of 1500 straight time hours in the previous calendar year or have been hired in the year in which the vacation was awarded.
- There must be no more than three (3) occurrences (as defined by the applicable Attendance Program) with in the current calendar year.
- All rolled over vacation will be subject to standard vacation scheduling processes for the following calendar year.

Employees who do not take the vacation to which they are entitled in any calendar year, except when the employees are caused by the Company to forego all or part of their vacation due to an emergency, shall not be entitled to pay in lieu thereof. Where the employees are caused by the Company to forego vacation due to an emergency, the Company shall either^{Meiman} pay compensation in lieu of vacation or designate alternate vacation dates in the following year at the employee's option. Initial vacation schedules, once completed, shall be posted.

SECTION 13.11: Subject to operational requirements, a regular full-time employee whose spouse is expected to give birth to a child will be entitled to reschedule up to one (1) week's vacation, to begin at any time between the date of the onset of labor and the release from the hospital following delivery, provided the employee notifies his supervisor at least two (2) weeks in advance of the anticipated delivery date, and further notifies his supervisor before starting time on the first day he will miss work due to the birth of the child.

A regular full-time employee who does not reschedule vacation as described above, may be released from duty for not more than four (4) hours, with pay, to accompany his child home from the hospital should the release from the hospital occur on a scheduled workday for the employee. An employee may elect to take the remainder of his scheduled work day as an excused, unpaid absence. The employee must not be off duty for any other reason to be eligible for the four (4) hours pay described herein and must notify his supervisor of his absence for this purpose not later than the day preceding the day his child is released from the hospital.

SECTION 13.12: The Company will grant regular employees who have completed six months employment from the date of hire two (2) Personal Days to be utilized during a calendar year. At the time of vacation selection, the preference of the Personal Day's will be determined by seniority. After vacation selection has been completed, selection of the Personal Day's shall be made on a first come, first served basis. If operational requirements cause the cancellation of the scheduled Personal Days, it may be rescheduled or the an employee is separated for any reason, the Company shall not pay the employee for any unused Personal Days.

ARTICLE 14

PHYSICAL EXAMINATION

SECTION 14.01: In addition to the physical examination which is given to all new employees before they are accepted for employment, the Company may require additional physical examinations (including periodic examinations for certain types of work, and examinations upon transfer of employees from one job to another) and it is understood and agreed that continuous employment is dependent at all times upon the employee's satisfactorily passing such physical examinations as the Company may, from time to time, require such employees to take. Physical examinations will normally be scheduled as early in an employee's regularly scheduled work day as operational needs will permit.

SECTION 14.02: The Company agrees that upon an employee's return to work after an illness or disability, consideration will be given to the employee's physical condition and, if possible, a less strenuous type of work will be granted.

SECTION 14.03: All medical expense made necessary by this article shall be paid for by the Company. Except for an employee's examination in connection with acceptance for employment or as otherwise set forth herein, employees shall receive pay for time spent, not to exceed eight (8) hours including time worked on that day, having such physical examinations. Following a period of sickness or non-work related injury, when an employee is released by his doctor to return to work he shall notify the Company of such release immediately. If the supervisor deems it necessary that the employee be examined by the Company's doctor to verify the employee's capability to perform his normal duties, the^{Meiman} employee is expected to report to the Company doctor prior to the date of his release to return to work, if possible, and such time will be considered as part of his illness. An employee who is unable to visit the Company doctor before the date upon which his private physician has released him to return to work, shall be paid as follows:

- (a) An employee eligible for sick pay shall be entitled to utilize up to one additional day of his sick leave entitlement subject to being required to report back for duty as set forth below.
- (b) An employee not eligible for sick pay shall receive (as time worked) his straight-time hourly rate for all time spent, not to exceed eight (8) hours, in connection with such physical examination.

NOTE: An employee who returns to work from a period of sickness or non-work related injury without a release from his private physician shall be paid in accordance with (a) or (b) immediately above if directed to visit the Company doctor.

An employee shall not be required to visit the Company's doctor if released by his private physician after 12:00, noon, that day. The employee shall, however, report his release to the Company as set forth above.

An employee is required to report back for duty at the completion of his physical examination unless excused by his supervisor. An employee required to go to the Company doctor for physical examination on a regular off-day is entitled to overtime at his appropriate rate for a minimum of two (2) hours or time actually spent in the doctor's office (not to exceed eight [8] hours), whichever is greater. For the purposes of this section only, "regular off-day" shall mean the off-day of the schedule the employee would have been on had he been^{Meiman} at work.

If an employee is required to see the Company doctor during a period of absence under this Article or, if his supervisor deems it necessary, after the employee is released by his personal physician to return to work, such employee shall be allowed to visit the Company doctor closest to his residence.

SECTION 14.04: Examinations by the Company's doctor which may be required during the course of an illness shall be considered a part of the employee's absence due to sickness and the employee shall be entitled to pay as sick leave for time spent having such examinations as provided for in Article 16. Examinations or treatment for compensable injuries are subject to the laws and regulations pertaining to Workers' Compensation and to another applicable article of this Agreement and are not subject to the provisions of this Article.

SECTION 14.05: Notwithstanding the previous paragraph, whenever an employee who is at work is required by the Company to leave his assigned place of work for the purpose of receiving a physical examination, the Company may provide transportation to the employee or a mileage allowance in lieu thereof. It is the employee's responsibility to keep his appointment for the physical examination and the election described herein is the Company's and not the employee's. Should the Company elect to pay mileage, it shall be to reimburse the employee for use of his personal vehicle and shall be determined by multiplying the Company's regular mileage rate for occasional use of personal vehicles by the one-way distance from the point of departure to the point of destination. In the event the employee is required to report back to work following a physical examination, mileage, if payable, shall be paid for the return trip.

ARTICLE 15

NO STRIKE AND NO-LOCKOUT CLAUSE

SECTION 15.01: The Union agrees that during the entire term of this Agreement the Union, its officers, representatives, members and the employees covered by this Agreement shall not take part in any strike, slow down or stoppage of work, boycott, sympathy strike, picketing or any other interruption of or interference with the work and business of the Company. The participation by an employee in any conduct prohibited by this article or the failure or refusal on the part of any employee to comply with any provision of this article shall be cause for disciplinary action, including suspension or discharge.

SECTION 15.02: In consideration of this no-strike covenant and pledge by the Union and employees, the Company agrees that it shall not lockout employees during the period of this Agreement. The term "lockout" is hereby defined so as not to include the discharge, suspension, termination, layoff, failure to recall or failure to return to work of employees by the Company or the curtailment or discontinuance of operations by the Company in the exercise of its rights as set forth in any provision of this Agreement.

SECTION 15.03: Whenever the work of the Company requires that employees covered by this Agreement cross a legal picket line established by any other labor organization, the Union Office shall be notified of the need for such crossing as soon as is reasonably practicable under all of the circumstances. The notice called for by this Section shall in no way delay or excuse an employee from the performance of his duties.

ARTICLE 16

SICKNESS LEAVE OF ABSENCE

SECTION 16.01: The Company grants, for the term of this Agreement, to all regular employees covered by this Agreement, payment for time lost because of:

(a) Any accident occurring while the employee is not working for wage or profit, or

(b) Any sickness for which the employee is not entitled to benefits under any Workers' Compensation or Occupational Disease Laws or Acts.

SECTION 16.02: Payment will be made for regularly scheduled workdays on the basis of not to exceed eight (8) hours for any scheduled workday and not to exceed forty (40) hours in any workweek, computed at straight-time exclusive of shift premium or any other premium pay. Regularly scheduled workday shall mean one of the first five (5) regularly scheduled workdays which constitute the basic forty (40) hours per week. This shall not include scheduled overtime days.

SECTION 16.03: Payments will be made for time so lost beginning with the fourth (4th) scheduled workday of any one continuous absence except:

- (a) If two (2) consecutive scheduled off-days fall within such three (3) day waiting period, they shall be counted as one (1) day of the waiting period. If four (4) consecutive scheduled off-days fall within such three (3) day waiting period, they shall be counted as two (2) days of the waiting period.
- (b) If an employee is forced by illness to leave the employee's working place before the employee's regular quitting time on the last scheduled workday be-

fore scheduled off-days, any two (2) such off-days,^{Meiman} if consecutive, shall be counted as one (1) day of the waiting period.

- (c) An employee who reports for work on a regularly scheduled workday but is forced by illness to leave work before working more than four (4) hours shall have that day counted as one (1) day of the required waiting period. An employee who is forced by illness to leave work after working more than four (4) hours but less than eight (8) hours may be paid on the third (3rd) day of the waiting period an equivalent number of hours as those lost because of sickness on the last day worked if the third (3rd) day of the waiting period is a scheduled workday. Such partial day payment shall not be counted against an employee's total day entitlement.
- (d) Payment will also be made for any regularly scheduled workday of the waiting period: (1) Upon admission to a hospital requiring overnight stay (does not include emergency room, x-rays, diagnostic testing, unless sedation is administered) or, (2) upon admission to an out-patient care facility for procedures or treatment (does not include emergency room, xrays, diagnostic testing, unless sedation is administered). Notwithstanding the general exclusions for dental procedures, payment will also be made for any regularly schedule workday of the waiting period upon admission to an outpatient care facility for procedures performed by an oral and maxillofacial surgeon which sedation is administered. Excludes elective or cosmetic procedures.
- (e) An employee who becomes eligible for paid sick leave under this Article may substitute earned Va-

cation benefits for any time lost during the waiting^{Meiman} period as described in this Section, provided he requests such by the close of the normal business day which follows the day he first becomes eligible.

(f) The above notwithstanding, the Company will provide up to 3 days (24 hours) of sick leave per year. The sick leave days described in this paragraph is not subject to the waiting period described above and may be used for time lost during the waiting period, provided the employee makes the requests prior to the start of their shift on the day of the absence. Unused sick leave may not be accumulated or carried over. Unused sick leave is not paid to the employee.

SECTION 16.04: Payment will be made for time lost as outlined below:

- (a) First year of regular employment no sick leave.
- (b) After one (1) full year of continuous service as a regular employee, and on July 1st of each succeeding year thereafter, a regular employee will earn twenty (20) days of paid sick leave if he has less than twenty (20) years of company seniority, or twenty-five (25) days of paid sick leave if he has twenty (20) years or more company seniority. Prior to July 1, 2021, unused sick leave may be carried over from one year to the next, not to exceed one hundred (100) days. Paid sick leave earned as described herein will be credited to regular employees on July 1st unless the employee is not at work for any reason other than those set forth in Section 16.05. If not at work on July 1st, for reasons other than set forth in Section 16.05, the days of paid sick leave will be credited to the employee following his return to work for two (2)

full weeks (eighty (80) hours) of regular duty.

(C) Effective July 1, 2021, unused sick leave may be carried over from one year to the next, not to exceed one hundred twenty-five (125) days. The first 100 days will be paid at one hundred (100%) percent of his current rate of pay. Any additional carry over days, up to twenty-five (25) days, will be paid at seventy percent (70%) of his current rate of pay.

SECTION 16.05: For the purposes of Section 16.04(b), the following will count as time worked:

- (a) Days actually worked, including partial days where four (4) or more hours are actually worked.
- (b) Paid holidays falling in an employee's regularly scheduled workweek.
- (c) Vacations, except in lieu of Sick Leave or Workers' Compensation.
- (d) Jury duty and funeral leave.
- (e) Time lost for personal business authorized for the purpose of attending military summer camp (to a maximum of two weeks per year) and regular monthly drills (to a maximum of two days per month).
- (f) Any active duty military service time.

SECTION 16.06: As a further condition of making payments for illness, the employee, or someone on the employee's behalf, must report absence because of illness on the first day of absence and thereafter as directed. The employee may be required to furnish a doctor's certificate after three (3) days and periodically during the employee's period of illness and/ or upon release to return to duty, if requested by the Company. The Company may require an employee to report to the Company doctor if, in its opinion, sufficient cause exists^{Meiman} for such action.

As a further condition of making payments under this Article an employee shall not engage in any physical activity for personal gain or profit unless such activity is authorized by the employee's physician, subject to review by the Company doctor. An employee who engages in physical activity for personal gain or profit without such authorization while accepting benefits under this Article shall be subject to discharge or other disciplinary action including forfeiture of any sick leave benefits otherwise payable for the period of absence disqualified.

SECTION 16.07: The employee is obligated to return to work at the earliest day recovery from an illness will permit, including making himself available for limited service in accordance with Article 19. Failure to return to duty when able, or falsifying the necessity for sick leave, shall be cause for discharge or other disciplinary action, including forfeiture of sick pay for the period of absence disqualified.

SECTION 16.08: A period of sickness, including waiting days, must be continuous, except:

- (a) A return to work for not in excess of two (2) days, or a paid holiday, shall not interrupt or cancel a waiting period, beginning of sick pay or continuation of sick pay. Continuation of sick pay on an intermittent basis will be limited to four (4) events per calendar year, except as described in Section 16.08 (c). An event, for purposes of this section, is described as a period of illness or injury not to exceed 40 hours.
- (b) A return to work for not in excess of five (5) days, or a paid holiday, shall not interrupt or cancel a waiting period, beginning of sick pay or continuation of

sick pay provided the employee meets the criteria^{Meiman} as defined in Section 103 (d). Continuation of sick pay on an intermittent basis will be limited to four (4) events per calendar year, except as described in Section 16.08 (c). An event, for purposes of this section, is described as a period of illness or injury not to exceed 40 hours.

(c) In the case of an employee who is able to return to work in some capacity after suffering from a catastrophic illness or injury and who thereafter must receive long term occasional medical treatment or rehabilitation which is not reasonably available outside the employee's regular working hours. An illness or injury shall be considered catastrophic if the employee suffered major head trauma, spinal cord injury, amputation, severe burn, severe stroke, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, cancer requiring radiation or chemotherapy treatments, acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS), severe cardiac disease, severe hepatitis, anorexia nervosa, bulimia, or severe congenital anomalies.

SECTION 16.09: Employees using FMLA leave must use any available paid time off (including Floating Holidays, Personal Days, vacation and sick time) greater than 40 hours, prior to using unpaid time off. If FMLA leave continues after the employee has used all but 40 hours available paid time off, any remaining portion of the employee's FMLA leave period shall be unpaid.

ARTICLE 17

SUCCESSORSHIP

The Company agrees that the Collective Bargaining Agreement between the parties will remain in full force and effect for the specified duration regardless of any change in the^{Meiman} ownership of the Company. The Company will include a provision, in any sales or merger agreement, with any successor or assign, that will affirm and make the continuation of the Collective Bargaining Agreement a condition of the sale or merger of the Company.

ARTICLE 18

SUPPLEMENT TO WORKERS' COMPENSATION

SECTION 18.01: When an employee is injured while working for the Company and is entitled (or would by passage of time become entitled) to benefits under Workers' Compensation or Occupational Disease Laws or Acts, the Company agrees to supplement such benefits, as earned by the employee under Section 18.05, by paying such employee the difference between such benefits (irrespective of the employee's receipt of the benefits) and one hundred percent (100%) of the employee's net wages received on the basis of a forty (40) hour workweek, computed at straight-time exclusive of shift premium, or any other premium pay, beginning with the fourth (4th) scheduled workday of such absence except:

- (a) If two (2) consecutive scheduled off-days fall within such three (3) day waiting period, they shall be counted as one (1) day of the waiting period. If four (4) consecutive scheduled off-days fall within such three (3) day waiting period, they shall be counted as two (2) days of the waiting period.
- (b) If an employee is forced by injury to leave the employee's working place before regular quitting time on the last scheduled workday before scheduled off-days, any two (2) such off-days, if consecutive, shall be counted as one (1) day of the waiting period.
- (c) If an employee is injured after reporting for work or

is required to go to the Company's doctor for treat-^{Meiman} ment on a scheduled workday, the employee shall be paid at the employee's regular straight-time rate for the remaining hours in the employee's regularly scheduled workday, not to exceed eight (8) hours in total for such day, except that no such payment shall be made for time required to visit the doctor on any day the employee is off duty for any reason while the employee is still receiving benefits under this article.

(d) Payment will also be made for any regularly scheduled workday of the waiting period: (1) during which the employee is a bed patient in a hospital and for which a room charge is levied; (2) which follows a period of such internment, even if internment is on an off-day; or (3) for time spent not to exceed eight (8) straight-time hours, visiting the Company doctor on waiting period days when the employee does not subsequently become eligible for Workers' Compensation benefit for such days.

SECTION 18.02: The employee is obligated to return to work at the earliest date recovery from an injury will permit, including making himself available for limited service in accordance with Article 19. Failure to return to duty when able, or falsifying the necessity for compensable leave, shall be cause for discharge or other disciplinary action, including forfeiture of the Supplement for period of absence disqualified.

As a condition precedent to receipt of benefits under this Article, an employee shall not engage in any physical activity for personal gain or profit during the twenty-two week period of his supplemental benefits for occupational injury or illness unless such activity is authorized by the employee's physician, subject to review by the Company doctor. An employee who engages in physical activity for personal gain or profit without^{Meiman} such authorization while accepting supplemental benefits under this Article shall be subject to discharge or other disciplinary action including forfeiture of the Supplement.

SECTION 18.03: The pay of employees working on overtime hours who are injured and required to go to the Company doctor will cease when they leave their work site. If it is necessary for the employees to return to their work site for their own convenience after their regularly scheduled workday is completed, whether transported by Company vehicle or not, they will not be paid for such time.

SECTION 18.04: Determination of first day considered as "lost time" is as follows:

- (a) Workers' Compensation Next calendar day after day of injury.
- (b) For Supplement Next regularly scheduled workday on which the employee is absent due to the injury subject to provisions of (a), (b), (c), and (d) above.

SECTION 18.05: Supplemental payment will be made for time lost as outlined below:

- (a) First year of regular employment no supplement.
- (b) After one (1) full year of continuous service as a regular employee, and on July 1st of each succeeding year thereafter, a regular employee will earn twenty-five (25) days of supplemental pay. The supplement may be carried over from one year to the next, not to exceed one hundred (100) days. Supplemental pay earned as described herein will be credited to regular employees on July 1st unless the employee is not at work for any reason other than those set forth in Section 16.05. If not at work on July 1st, for reasons

other than set forth in Section 16.05, the twenty-five^{Meiman} (25) days of supplemental pay will be credited to the employee following his return to work for two (2) full weeks (eighty (80) hours) of regular duty.

ARTICLE 19

LIMITED SERVICE

SECTION 19.01: An employee who sustains a temporary or permanent partial disability from an illness or injury shall be permitted to return to work in whatever capacity his disability will permit, where work is available.

The duration of a limited service assignment, the affected employee's classification, and his rate of pay will be as follows:

- A. For partial disabilities which are not compensable under Kentucky or other applicable Workers' Compensation statutes -
 - 1. <u>Classification and Rate of Pay</u>: Will be subject to the employee's length of continuous service on the onset of his disability, in accordance with the following:
 - (a) If the employee has 25 years or more of Company seniority, his classification and rate of pay in effect on the onset of his disability will be continued for forty (40) work days, following which the employee will be reclassified to Limited Service Helper. His rate of pay will be the "50% rate" as defined in Appendix "A" or his current rate of pay, whichever is less, for the duration of his limited service assignment.
 - (b) If the employee has 15 or more years, but

Supplemental Attachment to Response to PSC-1 Question No. 37 Filed Feb. 23, 2021 Page 78 of 152

less than 25 years of Company seniority.^{Meiman} his classification and rate of pay in effect on the onset of the disability will continue for thirty (30) work days, following which the employee will be reclassified to Limited Service Helper

and be paid the rate for Limited Service Helper or his current rate of pay, whichever is less, for the duration of his limited service assignment.

- If the employee has less than 15 years of (c) Company seniority, his classification and rate of pay in effect on the onset of the disability will continue for twenty (20) work days, following which the employee will be reclassified to Limited Service Helper and be paid the rate for Limited Service Helper or his current rate of pay, whichever is less, for the duration of his limited service assignment.
- Duration: The duration of any limited service 2. assignment under this section for any employee shall not exceed one hundred (100) work days in a calendar year.
- Except for those injuries described in Section (c), B below, for partial disabilities which are compensable under Kentucky or other Workers' Compensation statutes.

1. Classification and Rate of Pay: Will remain the same as that in effect on the onset of his disability for the duration of his limited service assignment.

Duration: The duration of any limited service as-2.

signment under this section for any employee shall^{Meiman} not exceed one hundred (100) work days in a calendar year.

- C. For employees who may suffer partial disabilities arising from; spinal cord injuries, severe head trauma, severe burns, amputations or loss of sight, which are compensable under Kentucky or other Workers' Compensation statutes:
 - 1. <u>Classification</u>: Will remain the same as that held by the employee prior to the onset of his disability for not more than two hundred (200) work days at which time the employee will be reclassified to Limited Service Helper.
 - 2. <u>Rate of Pay</u>: The wage rate in effect for the employee prior to the onset of his disability will be continued for one hundred (100) work days, following which the employee's rate will be reduced by ten percent (10%), and the reduced rate will be paid for the next one hundred (100) days. There- after, when the employee has been reclassified to Limited Service Helper, he shall be red-circled at the reduced rate which shall remain in effect until such time as the rate for the top of the paygrade nearest the "50% rate" as defined in Appendix "A" equals or exceeds the employee's red-circled rate.
 - 3. <u>Duration</u>: There is no limitation upon the duration of a limited service assignment for disabilities described by this Section (c).

SECTION 19.02: An employee on limited service who is able to return to his prior job classification, will not have the time spent on limited service credited toward minimum time-

in-grade requirements or wage step progression increases^{Meiman} within the prior classification. General wage increases shall, however, apply to limited service employees except as otherwise provided. A general wage increase occurring at a time when a limited service employee is being paid at ninety percent (90%) of his prior rate shall be applicable only to the extent of ninety percent (90%) of the increase otherwise applicable to the employee's prior rate.

Should an employee suffer successive partial disabilities within a calendar year, the eligibility for limited service as a consequence of the most recent disability will be reduced by the limited service entitlement utilized by the employee with respect to the prior disability or disabilities.

SECTION 19.03: In order to be eligible for limited service as described in this Article, the employee must have worked a minimum of eighty (80) straight-time hours of regular duty within the calendar year. An employee on limited service as of December 31 of any calendar year may utilize the remainder of his limited service eligibility for that year, in the following year, provided the period of limited service is continuous. However, an employee on limited service on December 31 must work at least eighty (80) straight-time hours of regular duty in the following year to again be eligible for the full period of limited service.

If an employee is unable to return to regular duty at the end of his period of limited service eligibility, he will be placed off work until he can return to regular duty unless reclassified as described in Section 19.04.

SECTION 19.04: Regardless of the duration of an employee's limited service assignment and rate of pay applicable thereto, an employee on limited service who is certified by a medical doctor of the Company's choosing to be permanently restricted

may be reclassified to any vacant job in a classification the^{Meiman} duties of which the employee is qualified and physically able to perform. The rate of pay for employees reclassified under this section shall be as follows:

Workers' Compensation Injuries

Employees with 25 or more years of service will have their rate of pay reduced by ten percent (10%) upon being reclassified and the reduced rate will be paid for the next one hundred (100) days.

Thereafter, he shall be red-circled at the reduced rate which shall remain in effect until such time as the rate for the top of the paygrade nearest the "50% rate" as defined in Appendix "A" equals or exceeds the employee's red-circled rate.

Employees with less than 25 years of service will receive the rate for the top of the paygrade nearest the "50% rate" as defined in Appendix "A" upon reclassification.

Non-Workers' Compensation Injuries

Employees with 25 or more years of Company seniority will receive the rate for the top of the paygrade nearest the "50% rate" as defined in Appendix "A" upon reclassification.

Employees with less than 25 years of Company seniority will be paid at the rate for his new classification. Employees subject to reclassification as described herein, will have their cases discussed with the Union and their seniority status decided by mutual agreement.

SECTION 19.05: Where practicable and if appropriate, limited service employees described in Section 19.01 (b) and (c) will be reclassified to regular job classifications before exhaustion of their limited service eligibility provided work is available.

Employees who, prior to November 13, 1989, have been reclassified to regular job classifications from limited service and whose wages have been protected will be redcircled at their existing rates until such time as the rate for the classification exceeds the red-circled rate, or until an employee changes job classifications under Article 10.

SECTION 19.06: An employee's ability to return to his former job, or to be placed in a job of a higher classification, shall be subject to review at any time the employee's physical condition improves. If the employee is capable of performing the duties of his former job, he shall be returned to his former job provided an opening exists, and his seniority status shall be determined by mutual agreement. An employee may be placed in a job in a higher classification which was not his former job upon mutual agreement of the parties.

SECTION 19.07: Subject to the foregoing, an employee who is released to return to work in a limited service capacity shall promptly notify his department limited service representative who shall assign the disabled employee first to whatever work the employee's disability will permit in that department or payroll division. If no suitable work is available, the emdepartment limited service plovee's representative shall then notify the designated Company representative responsible for the assignment of limited service employees. The disabled employee shall then be assigned to whatever suitable work that is available anywhere in the Company. Such assignments may be made on a daily basis, if necessary, and no assignment shall be held to constitute a change of schedule nor shall such assignments be made on the basis of an employee's seniority. Limited service assignments shall be considered as temporary assignments.

SECTION 19.08: Nothing in this Article shall be construed to definition abrogate or diminish any rights an employee would otherwise have under this Agreement, the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Workers' Compensation laws of Kentucky or other applicable laws.

SECTION 19.09: Notwithstanding Section 18.01 of this Agreement, an employee who is on limited service due to an injury or illness and who has once satisfied the waiting period

described in those sections shall not be required to satisfy an additional waiting period should the Company remove him from limited service duty due to a lack of suitable work.

ARTICLE 20

PERSONAL LEAVES OF ABSENCE

SECTION 20.01: When, in the opinion of the Company, the requirements of the business will permit, an employee may, upon written request to the Company stating the reason why such leave of absence is desired, be granted a leave of absence for legitimate personal reasons without pay for a period not to exceed one hundred eighty (180) calendar days. Seniority will accumulate only during the first one hundred eighty (180) calendar days of any leave of absence granted under this Agreement for personal reasons. The Company may, but shall not be required to extend any leave of absence granted under this Agreement.

SECTION 20.02: It shall be cause for discharge if any employee misrepresents or falsely states to the Company in any application for a leave of absence (under this or any other article relating to a leave of absence), or any extension thereof, the reason for requesting such leave of absence. It shall also be cause for discharge if an employee, during a leave of absence under this Agreement, accepts gainful employment or becomes gainfully employed in any capacity by any other person, firm or corporation, or engages in any business for ^{Meiman} gain or profit on his own account, without first having obtained approval in writing for such other employment or business from the Chief Administrative Officer, or his designated representative. An employee who fails to return to work at the expiration of a leave of absence shall be conclusively presumed to have quit his employment with the Company.

SECTION 20.03: The Union recognizes that when employees are granted leaves of absence, it may be necessary for the Company to make arrangements to fill such employee's job during the entire period of such leave of absence. The Union therefore agrees that no employee may return to work without the Company's consent and approval prior to the date on which his leave of absence expires.

SECTION 20.04: Employees granted leaves of absence under this article shall have the coverage of the following benefit plans continued to the end of the month in which the leave commences:

> Group Life Insurance Program Group Medical Insurance Program Group Dental Insurance Program

If the employee desires to obtain continued coverage under these programs after the period specified above, such employees shall pay the full monthly cost of the benefit plan premiums or contributions up to and including the month in which the employee returns to work from his leave of absence. Full monthly cost shall include both employee and employer premiums or contributions. Such payments shall commence and be submitted to the Benefits Department by the first day of any succeeding months of the leave of absence. Failure to make timely payments as prescribed shall cause the immediate cancellation of the program coverage. SECTION 20.05: An employee who is permitted to return^{Meiman} from a personal leave of absence, prior to the approved return date, will be reinstated at his former rate of pay and will retain his position on the seniority roster, subject to the provisions of Section 20.01 of this Article.

SECTION 20.06: Any regular full-time employee covered by this Agreement who is elected to a public office requiring their absence from duty with the Company, may request a leave of absence without pay for the duration of their term or terms. Such request shall not unreasonably be denied.

Employees granted a personal leave of absence under this section may have such leave for the duration of their term of office without regard to the one hundred eighty (180) calendar day limitation on Section 20.01, and without loss of seniority. However, the seniority limitation of Article 10, Section 10.03(b) will apply.

Upon completion of their term they shall be reinstated to their former position, if it is available. If it is unavailable, they may be redeployed to another available position under the terms of Article 10, Section 10.24. Employees subject to reclassification under the terms of this section will have their cases discussed with the Union.

SECTION 20.07: Employees shall report to the Company and submit to such physical examinations as the Company may require prior to returning to work from leave of absence granted hereunder.

SECTION 20.08 The Company provides eligible employees with 160 hours of paid time off for activities related to the care and well-being of their newborn(s) or newly adopted child(ren).

(a) Parental leave must be used consecutively and during the first 12 weeks following the birth or adopbe required to use FMLA as well.

- (b) An employee must give notice to his or her manager prior to parental leave.
- (c) If both parents are eligible Company employees, both may apply for parental leave.
- (d) There is no pay in lieu of unused parental leave under any circumstances.
- (e) If the birth or adoption involves multiple children, the maximum benefit an employee is eligible to use is 160 hours of parental leave following that event.
- (f) The 160 hours must be used within 30 calendar days from the start of the parental leave.
- (g) Parental leave may only be used once in a rolling 12-month period.

In order to be approved for parental leave, the employee must obtain approval from Absence Management 15 days prior to each Parental Leave. Acceptable substantiated documentation must be provided to Absence Management within 5 days of returning to work from parental leave. i.e. hospital birth record, birth certificate, adoption documents, paternity affidavit, etc.

ARTICLE 21

FUNERAL LEAVE

SECTION 21.01: The Company will grant to all regular employees covered by this Agreement payment, exclusive of shift premium, or any other premium pay, for time lost on their regularly scheduled workdays, up to a maximum of five (5) days, in connection with the death of the employee's spouse, employee's children and employee's parents, employee's step-parents, and step-children of the employee who are chil^{Meiman} dren of the employee's present spouse who have lived in the employee's home. For purposes of this section, "employee's parents" shall include the spouse of either of the employee's natural parents and legal parents. All leave granted under this section shall be taken between the date of death and two days following the date of the funeral or service, inclusive.

SECTION 21.02: The Company will grant to all regular employees covered by this Agreement payment, exclusive of shift premium, or any other premium pay, for time lost on their regularly scheduled workdays, up to a maximum of three (3) days because of death of any other member of an employee's immediate family. Under this provision, other members of an employee's immediate family are recognized as being grandparents, grandchildren, sons-in-law, daughters-in-law, brothers, and sisters of the employee, spouses of employee's brothers and sisters, employee's grandparents or other close relative living in the home of the employee. All leave granted under this section shall be taken between the date of death and the date of the funeral or service, inclusive.

SECTION 21.03: The employee must report absence because of death in family to the proper supervisor on the first day of such absence and shall indicate the date of the funeral or service, if known, or as soon thereafter as the date becomes known. In the case of vacation interruption, because of death in family, the employee must notify the proper supervisor within two (2) work days of the date of death and shall similarly indicate the date of the funeral or service.

SECTION 21.04: The provisions of this Article will apply within the time limits of an employee's scheduled vacation, but will not apply when an employee is off-duty due to illness or injury or for any other reason. Note: This means that subject to
the conditions of this section which determines an employee's^{Meiman} eligibility for up to either three (3) or five (5) days off for death in family, and subject to the operating requirements of his department, an employee who suffers a "death in family" during the time he is on vacation may reschedule as vacation the number of vacation days interrupted by death in family, for which the employee is eligible.

SECTION 21.05: Employees who are requested to serve as pallbearers (honorary pallbearers not included) at the funeral of an employee or retired employee should be released from duty, where operational requirements permit, for the amount of time necessary to attend the funeral. An employee who serves in this capacity shall not lose straighttime pay (exclusive of shift premium) on that account. Where practicable and appropriate, the employee is expected to work before and/or after attending the funeral. The Company may require verification of the employee's service in this capacity.

ARTICLE 22

JURY DUTY

Employees serving on Jury Duty shall not lose straighttime pay (exclusive of shift premium) on that account and will be paid the difference between money received for such Jury Duty, exclusive of expense allowance, and their normal straight-time earnings exclusive of shift premium.

Employees scheduled to work the day shift, who are required to report for Jury Duty before noon, shall, upon request and notification to their Department Superintendent, be excused from reporting for work prior to reporting for Jury Duty and shall be required to return to work only if released from Jury Duty at, or prior to, the expiration of four (4) hours from his scheduled starting time. Where practicable, and upon request to the employee's supervisor, an employee scheduled for shift day) for the entire period he is scheduled for Jury Duty.

An employee subpoenaed to testify and who testifies in a civil or criminal judicial proceeding not involving the employee, his family, or any interest of the employee, will suffer no reduction in straight-time pay, for time lost in testifying, and will be paid the difference between money received for honoring the subpoena and normal straight-time earnings, exclusive of shift premium, provided the employee provides prompt notice of his receipt of a subpoena.

The Company may require for each day, in such form as it deems necessary to the conduct and administration of this provision, evidence of the employee's requirement to report for Jury Duty, or to honor a subpoena, proof of attendance, time of reporting, time of release and amounts received as compensation.

ARTICLE 23

MILITARY SERVICE

Except as otherwise provided by law, if it should become necessary for an employee to leave the service of the Company to serve in the Armed Forces of the United States, or should an employee volunteer for service in any of the Armed Forces of the United States, then any such employee shall retain and accrue his seniority during such service, provided he returns to the employ of the Company within ninety (90) calendar days after his demobilization or release from the service, and provided further that he is fit and competent and has received a release or discharge under honorable conditions. A reservist who is called to active duty as a result of mobilization shall receive a supplement, for ninety (90) days from being called, of the difference between military pay and the employee's base pay in effect prior to taking leave under this article. If the employee's family elects to continue dental coverage un-^{Meiman} der the provisions of COBRA, the Company will waive the premium for such coverage to up to twelve (12) months. Additionally, an employee who participates in military summer camp or short-term duty up to three (3) weeks will receive a supplement of the difference between military pay and the employee's base pay. Except as otherwise provided by law, this Article shall not apply to any employee who re-enlists or otherwise extends his period of full-time military service beyond the period of time of his military obligation to the United States.

The employment status of an employee shall not be affected by his enlistment or participation in the civilian components of military services, regardless of whether such enlistment or participation is voluntary or mandatory.

ARTICLE 24

SUBCONTRACTING

SECTION 24.01: The Company currently and historically utilizes outside contractors and subcontractors to supplement its own work force. These outside contractors and subcontractors are utilized primarily for the following reasons: to meet emergency situations; to obtain specialized services not readily available within the Company's work force; for purposes of business expediency (time); and to enable the Company to render service to its customers in the most efficient and economical manner practicable. While the Company expects that a continuation of such outside contracting policies will be necessary to prudent and efficient business operations during the life of this Agreement, the Company agrees that it will not subcontract work normally and usually performed by employees presently covered by this Agreement or utilize the terms set forth in Article 10, Section 10.24 in this Agreement for the purpose of eroding^{Meiman} the bargaining unit.

Additionally, the Company agrees that except in an emergency it will not subcontract the work involved in the generation, transmission and distribution of either gas or electricity of a type normally and usually performed by employees in journeyman classifications or above when such subcontracting would cause the layoff of such employees or affect their recall. It shall not be a violation of this Agreement for the Company to continue subcontracting in areas where there has been no reduction in force notwithstanding the fact that a reduction in force in a different area has caused the displacement of incumbent employees by more senior employees pursuant to Article 10. However, should a journeyman be removed from his line of progression due to a reduction in force, and as a result displace a less senior employee in a below journeyman classification in a different line of progression, he shall be considered a journeyman under this Section in the event of a subsequent reduction in force in his new line of progression for not more than the period of time equal to the minimum time in grade requirement for promotion to journeyman, plus six (6) months.

SECTION 24.02: If it becomes necessary for the Company to contract out work of the type regularly and customarily performed by employees covered hereby, it shall notify the Union of such subcontracting and identify the type of contractual agreement, probable duration of the contract and the approximate number of employees involved in the performance of the contract. However, nothing in this article shall require the Company to assume unreasonable or excessive costs in its operations.

SECTION 24.03: It is agreed that outside contractors working on a cost/plus annually renewable contract will not perform work, normally performed by employees covered by^{Meiman} this Agreement, on the sixth or seventh workdays of a week except in the following circumstances and situations: where the employees in the work area affected have been offered the work; if an emergency exists and employees in the work area affected by the emergency have been fully utilized; or if it is necessary to have an equipment outage on the sixth or seventh day for the contractor to complete the work he is performing. However, contractors working on unit cost contracts, fixed bid contracts, or cost/plus emergency contracts will not be affected by this section. It is not a violation of this Section for a contractor to continue or complete work on the 6th & 7th workday, provided the contractor is responsible for that work during the week.

SECTION 24.04: The Company agrees that, other factors being substantially equal (i.e. price, availability, qualifications etc.), contractors who employ union members will be given preferred consideration. It is understood that this provision in no way creates third party beneficiary status for any individual or contractor.

ARTICLE 25

WAGES - JOB CLASSIFICATIONS -PAY PROGRESSIONS

SECTION 25.01: The wage rates for job classifications covered by this Agreement are described in Appendix "A," which is attached hereto and made a part hereof. Nothing in this Agreement shall prohibit the Company and the Union from mutually agreeing to modify the rate of pay for any job classification set forth in Appendix "A" at any time during the term of this Agreement.

SECTION 25.02: The Company will furnish the Union a copy of an accurate, up-to-date job description for all job

classifications listed in Appendix "A."

It is understood that the purpose of the job descriptions referred to herein is to classify the work properly, to give guidance in making assignments and to determine the proper rate of pay therefore. It is agreed that the job descriptions referred to herein describe, in general, responsibilities and duties normally performed, but do not limit the work of an employee to the particular duties listed and the duties incidental thereto. It is agreed that job descriptions list typical duties of a classification and that numerous related tasks incidental to the typical duties listed which reasonably cannot be enumerated in the job description are included in the work of the classification.

SECTION 25.03: It is agreed that in the interest of obtaining improved service, better operations or lower costs, the Company has the right to make changes in equipment, operations, and the organization of work, including the determination of job content, minimum requirements and qualifications; and combine jobs, eliminate jobs, and create new jobs, and it is understood that this is a proper function of management.

SECTION 25.04: The rates of pay for any newly created job classifications, or for any existing job classifications which have been changed by the addition of new or different tasks which require significantly greater skills or responsibilities or by the removal of any tasks which result in requiring significantly lesser skills or responsibilities, and the seniority placement of any employees who may be affected by such changes will be negotiated with the Union by the Company. The Company will prepare proposed job descriptions in such cases and deliver a copy to the Union with notification as to the rate of pay at least fourteen (14) calendar days prior to putting the new or changed job classifications in effect, and will discuss them with the Union if so requested. However, the performance of work as assigned by the Company shall^{Meiman} not be delayed either by discussion between the parties regarding new or changed jobs or by any arbitration regarding newly created or modified jobs as provided in Section 25.05. In either instance, wage rates for new or modified jobs as finally determined will be retroactive to the date the new or changed duties were first performed.

SECTION 25.05: If the parties are unable to agree on the proposed establishment of new jobs or modifications and revisions to existing jobs, such issue may be submitted to arbitration at the request of the Union as provided for in Article

6 of this Agreement. In resolving such dispute, the Arbitrator shall only have the authority to establish an appropriate wage rate in proper relation to other existing job classifications for any new or revised job and may not create, revise or abolish job descriptions or specifications.

SECTION 25.06: If the Union believes that the job description for any existing job does not accurately describe the duties or responsibilities of the job due to creeping job changes or changes about which the Union was not formally notified, the Union shall notify the labor relations department of its desire to discuss such issue, and a meeting shall be scheduled within fourteen (14) calendar days. Such meeting shall be conducted by a Representative of the labor relations department, and attended by representatives of the Company and Union who are knowledgeable of the matters to be discussed. If negotiations between the parties do not result in an agreement as to the accuracy of any such job description, the Union may appeal the matter directly to arbitration under Article 6. Such appeal to arbitration shall be not earlier than thirty (30) calendar days following the parties' first meeting. The Arbitrator shall have authority to determine only the appropriate wage rate for the duties performed by the employee(s) in the affected classification and may not create,^{Meiman} revise or abolish job descriptions.

SECTION 25.07: An employee who is temporarily assigned to a higher job classification for more than four (4) hours, shall receive the rate of pay for the classification for the entire day of the assignment. An employee assigned to fill a temporary job vacancy in a lower job classification shall suffer no reduction in pay. This section shall not be construed to modify or restrict any other provision of this Agreement.

SECTION 25.08: When an employee is temporarily assigned to a supervisory position outside the bargaining unit, he shall be paid seventy-five cents (75ϕ) per hour above his regular hourly rate of pay and shall not perform bargaining unit work except as provided in Article 29, Section 29.02. It is understood that any such assignment or assignments for any individual employee will not exceed one hundred (100) work days in any calendar year provided, however, the Company may, upon notice to the Union, extend an individual's assignment beyond the one hundred (100) day limit if the employee is substituting for the extended absence of a Supervisor whose return to work is anticipated, but not subject to accurate prediction.

ARTICLE 26

MEDICALAND DENTAL INSURANCE

SECTION 26.01: An employee is eligible to participate in the Medical and Dental Plan upon his or her date of hire.

Employees covered by this Agreement will participate in medical and dental plans on the same basis as all other regular full-time employees of the Company. The details of such medical and dental benefits shall be as specifically provided in the master plan documents covering the terms of such plans. To the extent that individual plan premiums exceed the Com^{Meiman} pany's contribution, the employees will contribute the additional cost of premiums according to the plan they select. Contributions will be made monthly on a pre-tax basis.

A joint Health Care Task Force will continue to meet annually to review trends in health care, review current Company Medical benefit plans, and make cost containment recommendations. In the second and third year of the contract, the joint Health Care Task Force will be charged with the responsibility of recommending changes, including plan design changes and increases in co-pays on doctor visits and prescriptions. The task force will establish their priority as avoiding future increases in employee contributions to the extent practicable while maintaining the current quality of coverage. However, the Company retains the right in its sole discretion to modify the terms, conditions and level of benefits under these medical plans so long as benefits for employees covered by this Agreement are similar and comparable to the benefits applicable to all other regular full-time employees of the Company.

Effective January 1, 2009, the Company shall make a contribution to a health spending, health reimbursement or health savings account, as determined by the Company and established under a Company plan or applicable law, for the benefit of eligible Employees. Such contribution, which will be in the form of cash or credit, shall be made on an annual basis to the account of regular full-time Employees on the Company's payroll as of December 31st of the year prior to the year of contribution. The employee's use of the contribution shall be governed by the provisions of the applicable health spending, health reimbursement or health savings account plan or law. The Company reserves the right to alter, amend, or discontinue any contributions to such plans at its discretion, but will provide employees^{Meiman} covered by this Agreement similar and comparable contributions as those applicable to all other regular full-time employees of the Company.

SECTION 26.02: Retiree Medical Insurance

A. Employees employed by the Company as of December 31, 2005, will be eligible for retiree medical benefits, the details of such benefits will be as specifically provided in the master plan documents or insurance contracts governing such benefits. The Company will credit monthly the following amounts toward the premiums for any retiree medical plan sponsored by the Company, for those retirees subscribing to such insurance through the Company.

For employees retiring January 1, 2021 who retire at age 55 or older with at least 10 years of consecutive full time service with the Company immediately prior to retirement up to \$230.00 toward the cost of Company-sponsored retiree medical insurance premium Such \$230.00 credit shall continue until attainment of age 60, which at such time the credit shall increase to \$520.00. The \$520.00 credit shall continue until age attainment of age 65, which at such time the credit shall revert to \$230.00. Additionally, the employee's eligible spouse or other eligible dependent will be eligible for an additional \$100.00 credit toward the cost of his/her insurance premium under the Company-sponsored retiree medical plan. The maximum total monthly credit shall be either \$330.00 or \$620.00 depending upon the age of the former employee.

B. Employees hired by the Company on or after January 1, 2006, will be eligible for the same retiree medical

benefits however, the Company premium contribution^{Meiman} will be a lump sum account that will spring into existence on the eligible retiree's date of retirement. This Retiree Medical Account must be used for the sole purpose of paying for retiree medical coverage through the Company.

The initial lump sum amount will be determined based on the following formula:

1. For the retiree, \$2,500, per year of service after age 45, with a maximum initial account balance of \$37,500.

2. For the dependents, a total initial account balance equal to 50 percent of the initial account balance for the retiree.

On the date the eligible employee retires, the Company will fund this Retiree Medical Account. Once funded, the account balance will be credited with interest based on the 10-year Treasury rate subject to a four (4) percent minimum and a seven (7) percent maximum.

The retiree may elect to pay the age-related monthly premiums from the Retiree Medical Account in full or in part until the account balance reaches zero. Once the Retiree Medical Account is fully depleted, the retiree may continue medical coverage through the Company by paying 100 percent of the age-related monthly premiums.

The details covering the provisions of the Retiree Medical Account will be as specifically provided in the master plan document covering the terms of the plan.

SECTION 26.03: For the purpose of Section 26.02 of this Article, subscription to such insurance through the Company by retirees and any contribution by the Company toward the payment of premiums shall be contingent on the insured persons' being covered by the Company's medical plans at

the time of the employee's retirement and the maintenance^{Meiman} of continuous coverage and timely payment of all premiums.

SECTION 26.04: Payments made in accordance with Section 26.02 A. of this Article will exclude premiums for new spouses or dependents acquired through marriage after retirement. Such payments to retiree's spouse or other dependent will cease at the earliest of:

- (a) the end of the 60th calendar month after the date of death of the retiree,
- (b) the end of the calendar month the dependent no longer is eligible under the terms of the Retiree Medical Continuation Plan,
- (c) the date the survivor dies, or
- (d) the beginning of the calendar month the survivor does not pay the required premium contribution under the terms of the Retiree Medical Continuation Plan.

Even if such payments cease under item (a) above, the survivor may continue to participate under the terms of the Retiree Medical Continuation Plan by paying the full premium.

SECTION 26.05: If, pursuant to any Federal or State Law which may become effective during the term of this Agreement, the Company is required to make contributions or pay taxes for providing benefits which are already provided for under Company plans, then to the extent such benefits under any such Federal or State program would duplicate the benefits under the Company's plans, the Company shall be relieved of the obligation to provide such benefits under the Company's benefit plans.

ARTICLE 27

LIFE AND ACCIDENTAL DEATH AND DISMEMBERMENT INSURANCE

SECTION 27.01: Effective 12/1/2008 the Company shall maintain the basic life insurance and accidental death and dismemberment plan on the basis of 2 times base rate of pay, maximum benefit of \$150,000. It will be provided on the same basis as it has in the past for those employees who are eligible and enroll in this plan.

Employees who retire on or after January 1, 2004 will be provided retiree life insurance based on the following schedule:

Age	Amount of Retiree Life Insurance
Age 55 but less than age 65	1 times base rate of pay as of the date of retirement
Age 65 but less than age 70	.5 times base rate of pay as of the date of retirement
Age 70 or older	\$10,000

SECTION 27.02: The Company will pay one hundred per cent (100%) of the total premium for the basic life insurance and accidental death and dismemberment plan for eligible employees who enroll in the plan.

SECTION 27.03: Employees may elect to participate in the optional life insurance plan at the rate of one (1), two (2), or three (3) times base salary. The employee will authorize payment of the applicable premium through payroll deduction.

SECTION 27.04: Employees may elect to participate in the dependent life insurance plan for a spouse and dependent child(ren) of either:

- 1) \$5,000 for a spouse and \$2,500 on each child, or
- 2) \$10,000 for a spouse and \$5,000 on each child, or

- 3) \$25,000 for a spouse and \$10,000 on each child, or
- 4) \$50,000 for a spouse and \$20,000 on each child. *

* Enrollment in this fourth option will be subject to medical evidence of insurability and regulations imposed by the Kentucky Department of Insurance.

The employee will authorize payment of the applicable premium through payroll deduction.

SECTION 27.05: Effective 1/1/09, an employee is eligible to participate in the basic life insurance, accidental death and dismemberment insurance, optional life insurance and dependent life insurance upon his/her date of hire. The details of the foregoing Plans shall be as specifically provided in the master plan documents covering the terms of such Plans.

ARTICLE 28

RETIREMENT INCOME PLAN AND DISABILITY BENEFITS

SECTION 28.01: For employees employed by the Company on December 31, 2005, the Company will maintain in effect and pay the full cost for retirement income plan.

Effective January 1, 2021, the basic pension formula was amended as follows:

Effective 1/1/2021

Pay grades 1-5:	\$91 per month per year of service (maximum of thirty (30) years)
Pay grades 6-9:	\$107 per month per year of service (maximum of thirty (30) years)

Pay grades 10-14:	\$116 per month per year of
	service
	(maximum of thirty (30) years)

Employees hired by the Company on or after January 1, 2006 are not eligible to participate in the retirement plan. Instead, they are eligible to participate in the retirement income account under the terms of the savings plan.

SECTION 28.02: There will be no interruption in the accumulation of retirement benefits under the LG&E and KU Pension Plan unless an employee's pay ceases. If the employee becomes entitled to additional "sick pay" after interruption of the employee's "sick pay" there will be no accumulation of retirement benefits for the period covered by the additional "sick pay." Accumulation of retirement benefits will be resumed after the employee returns to work.

If the employee's initial date of disability is after January 1, 2004 and the employee is receiving benefits under the Long-Term Disability Plan, the employee will continue to accrue Service and Credited Service under the LG&E and KU Pension Plan.

SECTION 28.03: A retired employee shall be entitled only to those benefits provided by the LG&E and KU Pension Plan. which are in effect at the time of the employee's retirement. Any changes in the employee's Social Security benefits which become effective after the employee retires shall not reduce the benefits which the employee draws under the Plan.

SECTION 28.04: The Company may set reasonable requirements for advance notice to the Company by an employee who elects to retire before age 65 but may, at its discretion, waive such requirements on an individual basis, for good cause, without any obligation similarly to waive such requirements in any other case.

SECTION 28.05: If the employee's initial date of disability is after January 1, 2004, the Company will provide the following Long-Term Disability benefits:

- (a) Employees who become totally and permanently disabled will be eligible for disability income under the Long Term Disability Plan if they have completed five (5) years of service at the time of disability.
- (b) The amount of monthly disability income payable to a disabled employee is determined as follows:

Sixty percent (60%) of the employee's basic monthly earnings computed at his straight-time hourly rate immediately prior to the time of disability, to a maximum benefit of \$15,000, reduced by;

- 1. One hundred percent (100%) of any Social Security Benefit, and
- 2. One hundred per cent (100%) of any benefits payable under Kentucky Workers' Compensation laws or the Workers' Compensation laws of any other State or benefits payable under any Federal government benefit plans.

SECTION 28.06: The Company shall amend the Plan to reflect the amendments to same as set forth in this Article 28. The Company reserves the right to make such Amendments to the Plan as are necessary to comply with the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, any amendments thereof or regulations pertaining thereto, and all other Federal or State laws or regulations.

SECTION 28.07: Employees covered by this Agreement will participate in the company's employee savings plan on the same basis as all other regular full-time employees of the

Company.

SECTION 28.08: Employees hired by the Company on or after January 1, 2006, will be eligible for the retirement income account on the same basis as all other regular full-time employees of the Company.

ARTICLE 29

GENERAL PROVISIONS

SECTION 29.01: Severe Weather - The Company agrees that it will not require employees to work in exposed and unprotected areas during severe weather conditions except in the event of an emergency or where such work is necessary to protect life, limb, property or maintain continuity of service or operations. Where such severe weather conditions exists, which prevent an employee from performing his normal work, the employee may be assigned by his supervisor to other available work.

SECTION 29.02: Supervisors Working - The Company's intention is to not perform bargaining unit work with supervisors except in emergencies or training situations (including maintaining and updating the supervisor's own job knowledge and proficiency). The union agrees that it is not a violation of this section if a supervisor performs bargaining unit work due to an unscheduled absence of an employee during the first two (2) or last two (2) hours of a shift.

SECTION 29.03: Commercial Drivers License (CDL)

(a) The Company will reimburse an employee required to have a CDL in the performance of his duties an amount equal to the difference between the cost of the CDL and a standard drivers license.

(b) The Company will pay for up to two tests and the associated fees for employees who are required to hold

a CDL. Any fees associated with obtaining a CDL^{Meiman} beyond the two tests must be paid for in full by the employee.

SECTION 29.04: Should an employee suffer an occupational injury to his person, and as a direct result of such injury, suffer damage to his eyeglasses, hearing aid or dentures, the Company shall, upon presentation of the damaged item and verification of the injury to the employee, reimburse the employee for the expense incurred in the repair or, if necessary, replacement of the item. Any items replaced under this Section shall be of the equivalent quality and price as the item damaged or destroyed as a direct result of the occupational injury.

SECTION 29.05: All bargaining unit employees who wish to exercise their right to vote on Election Day will be expected to do so either before or after their regularly scheduled workday. Time off with pay, up to a maximum of two hours, may be allowed an individual to vote if all of the following conditions are met:

- (a) Arrangements are made prior to the end of the employee's shift on the day preceding the election;
- (b) When the employee does not have sufficient time, either before or after his shift to vote; and,
- (c) Any time off with pay for this purpose will be at the beginning of the employee's shift.

Employees who are excused from work to work at the polls will not be entitled to any compensation.

SECTION 29.06: Educational Assistance - The Company sponsors both a Tuition Refund Plan and a Basic Education and Vocational Training Support Program in which bargaining unit employees are eligible to participate. These educational programs are described in documents available in the Human Resources Department. These programs are subject to ex-^{Meiman} pansion, modification or termination by the Company.

SECTION 29.07: Dependent Care - The Company and the Union agree to continue, pursuant to Section 129 of the Internal Revenue Code, a payroll deduction plan for dependent care services. This program will be continued unless, by later action, the Internal Revenue Service or other governmental entity repeals or otherwise eliminates the advantage, to employees, of participating in such a program.

SECTION 29.08: Work Practices – The Union agrees to meet with local management during the term of this agreement to discuss changes in work practices that may be unique to the area and/or site.

ARTICLE 30

SPECIAL PREMIUMS

SECTION 30.01: Hot Stick Premium - When employees assigned to Electric Distribution Operations are required to do hot stick work on 33KV and above, a premium of fifty cents (\$.50) per hour will be paid for the entire day on which such work is performed. When such employees perform the duties of transmission patrol, a premium of twenty-five cents (\$.25) per hour will be paid for the entire day on which such work is performed.

SECTION 30.02: Sunday Premium - A premium of one dollar and twenty-five cents (\$1.25) per hour will be paid for all hours (including overtime hours) worked on a Sunday by an employee for whom Sunday is one of his five (5) regularly scheduled workdays for that week. Additionally, Sunday premium will be paid for all planned overtime hours worked on Sunday.

The premium will not be paid for call-in overtime hours

worked on Sunday; however, in the case of an employee ini^{Meiman} tially scheduled for planned overtime on Sunday, and who, because of an emergency arising during the course of the planned overtime assignment has the overtime converted to call-in, the premium will remain in effect for the duration of the original planned overtime assignment.

SECTION 30.03: Adverse Work Premium – An adverse work premium of one-half (1/2) times the employee's regular straight-time hourly rate shall be paid for hours spent performing adverse work. The adverse work premium will not be paid when an employee is being paid at his overtime rate and the adverse work premium will not be compounded with other premium payments.

Adverse work shall mean emergency duties of an unusual nature involving significant risks, which are not commonly incurred in the performance of his normal duties, or the performance of duties under conditions of weather, environment, or other situations which materially increase the hazards involved in the performance of those duties which shall include but not be limited to the electric line repair work in connection with storm damage.

This premium will not be paid for permanent repairs required at locations temporary repairs were made to restore service at the time of the initial weather related customer service interruption.

ARTICLE 31

MILEAGE ALLOWANCE

SECTION 31.01: Personal Vehicle Usage:

If an employee is instructed to report to work at another location, he will be reimbursed for personal vehicle usage while on Company business at the approved reimbursement rate. The employee will be reimbursed for mileage in excess^{Meiman} of their normal round trip mileage. Normal round trip is defined as travel from home to the normal Company work location and back home. This rule includes reporting to either another Company location or off-site for training or other business purposes.

This mileage allowance does not apply to those employees whose regular job requires them to report at various locations, nor to employees who are transferred from one work location to a new work location on a permanent assignment.

SECTION 31.02: Employees permanently assigned to payroll division 53 who are required to use their personal vehicles in the performance of Company duties (except travel to work from home and back) shall be paid mileage at the Company's regular mileage rate for occasional use of personal cars in accordance with Section 31.01 above. For purposes of administration, each book will have a defined mileage assigned that is reflective of the mileage required to read the book.

ARTICLE 32

SERVICE WATCH AND STANDBY

The Company routinely assigns employees to weekly service watches to answer calls and make service runs outside their normal scheduled workday. These assignments are made at the beginning of the employee's regular workweek and continue for seven (7) consecutive days. Each employee who is assigned to a weekly service watch will be paid one-hundred and fifty (\$150) per week. If an employee works on service calls outside his normal scheduled workday during his watch week, he will be paid for such time worked in accordance with Article 9 - Overtime. However, time spent during such service watches will not be counted as overtime hours for equalization purposes under Article 9. Meiman

If an employee is assigned a service watch or required to "standby" for service calls for less than one (1) week, he will be paid one (1) hour's pay at his appropriate overtime rate in addition to time spent on any service calls for each day he is assigned to a service watch or required to "standby" for service calls. Only actual hours worked will be counted for overtime equalization purposes under Article 9.

ARTICLE 33

PERSONAL TOOLS AND SAFETY EQUIPMENT

SECTION 33.01: If an employee is required by the Company to use his personal tools in connection with his work, the Company will replace such tools if they are stolen or destroyed while in the custody and control of the Company.

SECTION 33.02: The Company will continue to furnish employees with tools and equipment which it usually and customarily furnishes employees. Additionally, the Company will furnish employees all safety equipment and protective devices, including leather work gloves, required by the Company or by law to maintain recognized standards of safety. An employee shall wear or utilize all safety equipment and protective devices issued to him. The employee will be subject to appropriate disciplinary action if such tools and/ or equipment is intentionally damaged or destroyed by the employee.

SECTION 33.03: At the request of the Union, the Company agrees to review any present or future job classification to determine which tool allowance rate, if any, is appropriate for that particular job classification.

ARTICLE 34

HEALTH AND SAFETY

SECTION 34.01: The Company and the Union recognize the need for a strong Health and Safety Program for the benefit of all employees and the Company. The Union will cooperate in assisting and maintaining the Company's rules regarding health and safety. The Company recognizes the interest of the Union in the health and safety of its members, and will give careful consideration to any recommendations made by it.

SECTION 34.02: Working conditions which adversely and unreasonably impair the health and safety of employees shall be brought to the attention of supervision for immediate correction, if necessary. The Company agrees to investigate conditions which have a legitimate impact on the health and safety of employees. Accordingly, upon reasonable advance notice, the Company will meet with the appropriate Union Safety Committee member to discuss the nature of the complained of condition and to determine what, if any, remedial measures shall be taken. The Union shall keep the Director, Safety & Technical Training, fully advised of the members of its Safety Committee which shall be made up of not more than one individual per department and per shift, if appropriate, at each location.

SECTION 34.03: The Company and the Union agree to continue the Joint Health and Safety Advisory Committee for the purpose of reviewing, discussing and recommending new or revised safety and health rules and procedures. The Committee shall be chaired by the Director, Safety & Technical Training, and shall meet at least monthly. This Committee shall consist of not more than three (3) members of the Company and three (3) members of the Union. The Union representatives who shall attend a particular meeting shall be made known to the Director, Safety & Technical Trainingnot^{Meiman} less two (2) weeks prior to the date established for the meeting. At the same time, the Union shall notify the Company of the subjects it desires to address at the meeting. The Director, Safety & Technical Training, shall appoint two (2) associates to attend the meeting whose names shall be made known to the Union not later than one (1) week prior to the meeting.

SECTION 34.04: It is agreed that the establishment and enforcement of safety rules and regulations is a proper function of management and to that end the final determination as to adoption and implementation of any proposed changes in safety rules and regulations shall be the sole responsibility of the Company.

SECTION 34.05: It is understood that any dispute arising out of the interpretation, application or implementation of written health and safety rules shall be proper subjects for Articles 5 and 6 of this Agreement.

SECTION 34.06: Meetings as described in Section 34.03 shall be conducted between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. on a week day. Union representatives authorized to attend such meetings shall be compensated by the Company not to exceed eight (8) straight-time hours on the day of the meeting. The Union Safety Director will be released from regularly assigned duties on the workday which coincides with a scheduled meeting of the Joint Health and Safety Advisory Committee and up to two (2) additional days, if needed, for purposes of preparing for and participating in the meeting. The Union Safety Director shall suffer no reduction in straight-time earnings.

ARTICLE 35

NON-DISCRIMINATION

SECTION 35.01: There shall be no discrimination by the

Company or the Union in the application of terms of this^{Meiman} agreement because of race, color, religion, gender, national origin, age, disability, marital status, veteran status (status as a special disabled veteran, a veteran of the Vietnam Era, a recently separated or active duty wartime or campaign badge veteran), relationship/association with a veteran, sexual orientation, gender identity, genetic information or any other legally protected status of an individual in accordance with applicable federal, state or local laws.

SECTION 35.02: The use of the masculine or feminine gender in this Agreement shall be construed as including both genders and not a sex limitation unless the Agreement clearly requires a different construction.

ARTICLE 36

SAVING CLAUSE

It is understood and agreed that the provisions of this Agreement are in all respects subject to all applicable laws and governmental regulations now or hereafter in effect and to the lawful rulings and orders of all regulatory commissions now or hereafter having jurisdiction. Should any provision of this Agreement be found to be in conflict with any lawful ruling or regulation, the parties will meet for the purpose of discussing and/or modifying that portion of the Agreement only.

ARTICLE 37

ENTIRE AGREEMENT

This Agreement sets out the entire understanding between the Company and the Union. Neither party intends to be bound or obligated except to the extent that it has expressly so agreed herein, and this Agreement shall be strictly construed, provided, however, that the execution of this Agreement shall not invalidate any written agreement between the parties^{Meiman} which is not in conflict with the terms of this Agreement, though such written agreement may have been reached prior to the date of this Agreement. Nothing herein shall be construed, however, to prevent the parties from reaching agreements after the effective date of this Agreement which are in conflict with the terms of this Agreement. (Such conflicting agreements must be approved by the Union President or a Business Representative and a representative of the Company's labor relations staff.) Such written agreement shall be incorporated in this Agreement and shall be valid for the life of this Agreement and any extension thereof, unless rescinded by the parties hereto.

ARTICLE 38

DURATION OFAGREEMENT

The effective date of this Agreement is November 11, 2020. This Agreement shall be in full force and effect for the entire period from November 11, 2020, through midnight of November 10, 2023, and from year to year thereafter, unless either party hereto shall, at least sixty (60) days prior to November 10, 2023, or the tenth day of November, in any year thereafter, notifies the other party in writing of its intention and desire to terminate this Agreement.

This Agreement may be extended by the mutual agreement of the parties. Such extension must be in writing and the extension may thereafter be terminated at any time by either party by giving forty-eight (48) hours written notice to the other party of the desire to terminate such extension. Case No. 2020-00350 Supplemental Attachment to Response to PSC-1 Question No. 37 Filed Feb. 23, 2021 Page 114 of 152 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have Meiman caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized representative:

For the Company: Louisville Gas and Electric Company

Greg Meiman, VP Human Resources

Jessica Wilson, Director Human Resources

Sarah Gibson, Sr. Human Resources Generalist

Brian Limberg, Mgr.Production

atalii 10

Natalie Piontek, Mgr Staffing Services

Shawn Stickler, Mgr. ED Network Underground

Paul Stratman, Mgr. Gas Operations

Michelle Stigall, Mgr. Human Resources

Dale Bielefeld, Mgr. Field Service Operations

For the Union: International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers Local 2100

Joel Saulman, President/Business Manager

Josh Descon, Vice President

Craig Evans, Committee Member

Committee M

Wes Waddle, Committee Member

APPENDIX A Wages

a) Effective November 2, 2020, there shall be a two and one-half percent (2.5%) general wage increase applied to the wage rates in effect, rounded to the nearest one (1) cent.

Year 2 and 3 subject to Wage Reopener

Effective January 1, 2003, employees covered by this collective bargaining agreement will be eligible to participate in the Team Incentive Award Program (TIA), subject to the terms of such TIA program as determined and modified by the Company from time to time. The first payout will be due in March, 2004 and will be targeted (100% rate) at 6% of the employee's annual earnings including overtime and premium pay.

Lines of progression and assigned paygrades are contained in a separate document.

Employees presently in classifications which have received an upgrade by virtue of a new assigned paygrade will receive the appropriate upgrade.

Employees who have received a downgrade by virtue of a new assigned paygrade; or who are presently in classifications which have had the rate for the paygrade reduced, will be "red-circled" at their rate of pay until such time as the rate for the employee's assigned paygrade equals and exceeds the employee's rate of pay or until the employee changes job classification under Article 10.

The preceding two (2) paragraphs are general rules which shall apply to all employees described therein unless expressly agreed otherwise by separate Memorandum of Agreement, or by Article 19 of this Agreement.

The "50% rate" as used in this Agreement shall be defined as the rate of pay which results from reducing an employee's

former rate of pay by fifty percent (50%) of the difference^{Meiman} between his former rate of pay and the rate of pay for his new classification.

NOTE: Lines of progression are utilized for the purpose of establishing classifications with assigned paygrades, minimum times in grade to attain the necessary experience for promotional consideration, and journeymen levels in the lines of progression. An asterisk (*) indicates those lines of progression wherein employees, hired prior to January 1, 2000, will be afforded opportunity to advance to the journeyman job classification without regard to whether or not a vacancy exists in that classification. An employee in such a line of progression must, however, meet the minimum qualifications for advancement into the next higher classification. The asterisk in the lines of progression denotes the journeyman job classification to which the employee mav advance under this paragraph. Advancement of qualified employees pursuant to this paragraph shall be effective at the beginning of the payroll period nearest an employee's having satisfied the minimum time in grade requirement for his classification.

Employees hired after January 1, 2000, will be afforded the opportunity to advance to the classification below journeyman without regard to whether or not a vacancy exists in that classification. An employee in such a line of progression must, however, meet the minimum qualifications for advancement into the higher classification. Advancement of qualified employees pursuant to this paragraph shall be effective at the beginning of the payroll period nearest an employee's having satisfied the minimum time in grade requirement for his classification.

Employees hired after November 13, 1989, who for any reason, fail to satisfactorily progress to and retain a journeyman classification, or a lower classification deemed necessary by the Company as described with this Note, may^{Meiman} be separated without regard to other provisions of Article 10.

Employees reclassified to a lower rated job in a similar line of progression as the result of a layoff or a reduction in their line of progression (where no layoff occurs due to openings elsewhere), may have the minimum time in grade requirements for promotion to the next higher rated job reduced to the following:

- (a) Six (6) months for employees reclassified to entry level classifications; or
- (b) One (1) year for employees reclassified to higher than entry level classification.

Nothing herein shall be construed, however, to require the Company to promote an employee who, despite serving the minimum time(s) set forth above, is not qualified as set forth in Article 10 of this Agreement.

APPENDIX B

Contractual benefits will be modified for employees who are working abnormal shifts as follows:

- I. For employees working four (4) days, ten (10) hours per workday schedule ("four/tens" hereafter).
 - A. Overtime
 - (1) Employees working a "four/tens" schedule shall be afforded overtime for hours worked beyond ten (10) in one day, or forty (40) in one week notwithstanding the provisions of Article 9, Section 9.01(a)(1).
 - (2) For work on the first and second scheduled offday of the workweek, the employee will receive compensation as provided for in Article 9, Section 9.01(a)(2).
 - (3) For work on the third scheduled offday of the workweek, the employee will receive compensation as provided for in Article 9, Section 9.01(a)(2) and Article 9, Section 9.01(b)(4).
 - B. Vacations
 - Vacation entitlement as described in Article 13, Section 13.01 shall be converted to straight-time hours for employees working a "four/tens" schedule. Thus, employees on such a schedule taking one (1) week's vacation shall receive payment for four (4) days, ten (10) hours per day.
 - (2) Vacations shall normally be scheduled in periods of one (1) full week or more. Shorter periods of vacation will be allowed in ac-

cordance with the provisions of Article 13, Sections 13.09 and 13.10. Additionally, the wages the Company shall pay during a period of vacation of less than one full week shall be computed on the basis of a ten (10) hour workday. Thus, employees on a "four/tens" work schedule taking periods of vacation of less than one full week shall receive ten hours of pay provided they have at least ten (10) hours of vacation entitlement remaining.

- (3) For the purposes of determining "straighttime hours worked" as used in Article 13, Section 13.03 for those employees working a "four/tens" schedule, days actually worked including partial days where five (5) or more hours are actually worked, shall count as ten (10) straight-time hours. Additionally, such employees taking a period of vacation of less than one full week as described in items B.(1) and (2) above shall have such days count as ten (10) straight-time hours provided they have at least five (5) hours of compensation for vacation on such day.
- (4) For the purposes of determining "straight-time hours worked" as used in Article 13, Section 13.03 for those employees working a four (4) day, ten (10) hour per day work schedule utilizing Jury Duty benefits as described in Article 22 of the Contract and item H. below, such days shall count as ten (10) straight-time hours provided they receive at least five (5) hours of jury duty pay.

- C. Holidays
 - For all weeks on which a Company-wide holiday falls, an employee's work schedule will revert back to a five (5) day, eight (8) hour per day work schedule.
 - (2) An employee utilizing a floating holiday as provided for in Article 12 shall receive eight(8) hours of straight-time holiday pay at the applicable wage rate. Additionally, the employee may elect to utilize two (2) hours of vacation entitlement.
- D. Physical Exams

Pursuant to Article 14, Section 14.03, all medical expense made necessary by the Article shall be paid for by the Company. Except for an employee's examination in connection with acceptance for employment or as otherwise set forth in Article 14, employees working a "four/tens" schedule shall receive pay for time spent, not to exceed ten (10) hours including time worked that day, having such physical examination.

- E. <u>Sickness Leave of Absence</u>
 - (1) For the purposes of Article 16, Section 16.02 as applied to employees working a "four/ tens" schedule, payment will be made for regularly scheduled workdays on the basis of not to exceed ten (10) hours for any scheduled workday and not to exceed forty (40) hours in any workweek, computed at straight-time exclusive of shift premium or any other premium pay. Regularly scheduled workday shall mean one of the first four (4) regularly

scheduled workdays which constitute the basic forty (40) hours per week.

- (2) For the purposes of Article 16, Section 16.03 as applied to employees working a "four/tens" schedule, payment will be made for time so lost beginning with the expiration of the twenty-four (24) scheduled work hours of any one continuous absence except:
 - If one (1) scheduled offday falls within a. such three (3) day waiting period, it shall not count as one (1) day of the waiting period. If two (2) consecutive scheduled offdays fall within such three (3) day waiting period, they shall be counted as ten (10) hours of the waiting period. If three (3) consecutive scheduled offdays fall within such three (3) day waiting period, they shall be counted as ten (10) hours of the waiting period. If four (4) consecutive scheduled offdays fall within such three (3) day waiting period, they shall be counted as twenty (20) hours of the waiting period.
 - b. If an employee is forced by illness to leave the employee's workplace before the employee's regular quitting time on the last scheduled workday before scheduled offdays, any two (2) such offdays, if consecutive, shall be counted as ten (10) hours of the waiting period.
 - c. An employee who reports for work on a regularly scheduled workday, but is

Case No. 2020-00350

Supplemental Attachment to Response to PSC-1 Question No. 37 Filed Feb. 23, 2021 Page 122 of 152

forced by illness to leave work before^{Meiman} working more than five (5) hours shall have that day count as ten (10) hours of the required waiting period. An employee who is forced by illness to leave work after working more than five (5) hours, but less than ten (10) hours may be paid on the third (3rd) day of the waiting period an equivalent number of hours as those lost because of the sickness on the last day worked if the third (3rd) day of the waiting period is a scheduled workday. Such partial of payment shall not be counted against an employee's total day entitlement.

- (3) For purposes of Article 16, Section 16.04(b) as applied to employees working a "four/tens" schedule, days actually worked including partial days where five (5) or more hours are actually worked will count as time worked.
- F. Supplement to Workers' Compensation
 - For the purposes of Article 18, Section 18.01 as applied to employees working a "four/tens" schedule, payment will begin at the expiration of twenty-four (24) work hours of such absence as described in Article 18, Section 18.01 except:
 - a. If one (1) scheduled offday falls within such three (3) day waiting period, it shall not count as one (1) day of the waiting period. If two (2) consecutive scheduled offdays fall within such three (3) day

waiting period, they shall be counted as^{Meiman} ten (10) hours of the waiting period. If three (3) consecutive scheduled offdays fall within such three (3) day waiting period, they shall be counted as ten (10) hours of the waiting period. If four (4) consecutive scheduled offdays fall within such three (3) day waiting period, they shall be counted as twenty (20) hours of the waiting period.

- b. If an employee is forced by injury to leave the employee's workplace before the employee's regular quitting time on the last scheduled workday before scheduled offdays, any two (2) such offdays, if consecutive, shall be counted as ten (10) hours of the waiting period.
- c. If an employee is injured after reporting to work or is required to go to the Company's doctor for treatment on a scheduled workday, the employee shall be paid at the employee's regular straight-time rate for the remaining hours of the employee's regularly scheduled workday, not to exceed ten (10) hours in total for such day, except that no payment shall be made for time required to visit the doctor on any day the employee is off duty for any reason while the employee is still receiving benefits under Article 18.
- G. Funeral Leave

Employees on a "four/tens" schedule will be en-
H. Jury Duty

Employees on a "four/tens" schedule will be entitled to ten (10) hours of straight-time pay for each day of Jury Duty entitlement subject to the provisions of Article 22.

II. For employees working a 12-hour shift per workday schedule:

day of Funeral Leave entitlement.

A. Shift Premiums

Employees who work the day shift of a 12-hour schedule are not entitled to shift premium. Employees who work the night shift of a 12-hour schedule are eligible for the third shift premium described in Article 8, Section 8.05.

- B. Overtime
 - Employees working a 12-hour shift schedule shall be afforded overtime for hours worked beyond twelve (12) in one day, or forty (40) in one week notwithstanding the provisions of Article 9, Section 9.01(a)(1).
 - (2) For work on the last scheduled off-day of the workweek, the employee will receive two(2) times the employees straight-time hourly wage rate assuming the following conditions have been met:
 - a) Employee has worked each of his regular scheduled work days, unless not worked for reasons set forth in Section 16.05.
 - b) The employee has worked at least one

Case No. 2020-00350 Supplemental Attachment to Response to PSC-1 Question No. 37 Filed Feb. 23, 2021 Page 125 of 152 scheduled off day and that day was paid^{Leiman}

at the overtime rate or the employee was not offered overtime on previous scheduled off days.

- (3) For all other scheduled off days of the workweek, the employee will receive one and one half (1½) times the employee's straight-time hourly wage rate assuming the following condition has been met.
 - a) Employee has worked each of his regular scheduled work days, unless not worked for reasons set forth in Section 16.05.
- C. Vacations
 - (1) Vacation entitlement as described in Article 13, Section 13.01 shall be converted to straight-time hours for employees working a
 - 12-hour shift schedule. Employees on such a schedule taking one (1) week's vacation shall receive straight-time payment for regular scheduled hours in that workweek, provided they have vacation entitlement remaining.
 - (2) Vacations shall normally be scheduled in periods of one (1) full week or more. Shorter periods of vacation will be allowed in accordance with the provisions of Article 13, Sections 13.09 and 13.10. Additionally, the wages the Company shall pay during a period of vacation of less than one full week shall be computed on the basis of a twelve (12) hour workday. Thus, employees on a 12-hour shift schedule taking periods of vacation of less than one full week shall receive twelve

(12) hours of pay provided they have at least twelve (12) hours of vacation entitlement remaining.

- (3) Days actually worked or partial days where six (6) or more hours are actually worked, shall count as twelve (12) straight-time hours for the purposes of determining "straight-time hours worked" as used in Article 13, Section
- 13.03 for those employees working a 12-hour shift schedule. Additionally, such employees taking a period of vacation of less than one full week as described in items C.(1) and (2) above shall have such days count as twelve (12) straight-time hours provided they have at least six (6) hours of compensation for vacation on such day.
- (4) For the purposes of determining "straighttime hours worked" as used in Article 13, Section 13.03 for those employees working a 12-hour shift schedule utilizing Jury Duty benefits as described in Article 22 of the Contract and item I. below, such days shall count as twelve (12) straight-time hours provided they receive at least six (6) hours of jury duty pay for such day they receive jury duty pay.
- D. Holidays
 - For all weeks on which a Company-wide holiday falls, an employee who is scheduled to work the holiday, but does not actually work such holiday will receive eight (8) hours of straight-time holiday pay at the applicable wage rate. Additionally, the employee may

titlement.

- (2) An employee utilizing a floating holiday as provided for in Article 12, shall receive eight(8) hours of straight-time holiday pay at the applicable wage rate. Additionally, the employee may elect to utilize four (4) hours of vacation entitlement.
- E. <u>Physical Exams</u>

Pursuant to Article 14, Section 14.03, all medical expense made necessary by the Article shall be paid for by the Company. Except for an employee's examination in connection with acceptance for employment or as otherwise set forth in Article 14, employees working a 12-hour shift schedule shall receive pay for time spent, not to exceed twelve (12) hours including time worked that day, having such physical examination.

- F. Sickness Leave of Absence
 - (1) Sick leave entitlement as described in Article 16, Section 16.02, shall be converted to straight-time hours for employees working a
 - 12-hour shift schedule. Payment will be made for regularly scheduled workdays not to exceed twelve (12) hours for any scheduled workday, computed at straight-time exclusive of shift premium or any other premium pay.
 - (2) For the purposes of Article 16, Section 16.03 as applied to employees working a 12-hour shift schedule, payment will be made for time so lost beginning with the expiration of the

one continuous absence except:

- If one (1) scheduled offday falls within а such 24-hour waiting period, it shall not count toward the waiting period. If two (2) consecutive scheduled offdays fall within such 24-hour waiting period, they shall be counted as twelve (12) hours of the waiting period. If three (3) consecutive scheduled offdays fall within such 24-hour waiting period, they shall be counted as twelve (12) hours of the waiting period. If four (4) consecutive scheduled offdays fall within such 24-hour waiting period, they shall be counted as twenty-four (24) hours of the waiting period
- b. If an employee is forced by illness to leave the employee's workplace before the employee's regular quitting time on the last scheduled workday before scheduled offdays, any two (2) such offdays, if consecutive, shall be counted as twelve (12) hours of the waiting period.
- c. An employee who reports for work on a regularly scheduled workday, but is forced by illness to leave work before working more than six (6) hours shall have that day count as twelve (12) hours of the required waiting period. An employee who is forced by illness to leave work after working more than six (6) hours, but less than twelve (12) hours may be paid on a

day of the waiting period an equivalent^{Heiman} number of hours as those lost because of the sickness on the last day worked if the day of the waiting period is a scheduled workday. Such partial of payment shall not be counted against an employee's total day entitlement.

- (3) For purposes of Article 16, Section 16.04(b) as applied to employees working a 12-hour shift schedule, days actually worked including partial days where six (6) or more hours are actually worked will count as time worked.
- G. Supplement to Workers' Compensation
 - Supplement to Workers' Compensation entitlement as described in Article 18, Section 18.01, shall be converted to straight-time hours for employees working a 12-hour shift schedule. Payment will begin at the expiration of twenty-four (24) work hours of such absence as described in Article 18, Section 18.01 except:
 - a. If one (1) scheduled offday falls within such 24-hour waiting period, it shall not count toward the waiting period. If two (2) consecutive scheduled offdays fall within such 24-hour waiting period, they shall be counted as twelve (12) hours of the waiting period. If three (3) consecutive scheduled offdays fall within such 24-hour waiting period, they shall be counted as twelve (12) hours of the waiting period. If four (4) consecutive

Supplemental Attachment to Response to PSC-1 Question No. 37 Filed Feb. 23, 2021 Page 130 of 152

scheduled offdays fall within such^{Meiman} 24-hour waiting period, they shall be counted as twenty-four (24) hours of the waiting period.

- b. If an employee is forced by injury to leave the employee's workplace before the employee's regular quitting time on the last scheduled workday before scheduled offdays, any two (2) such offdays, if consecutive, shall be counted as twelve (12) hours of the waiting period.
- c. If an employee is injured after reporting to work or is required to go to the Company's doctor for treatment on a scheduled workday, the employee shall be paid at the employee's regular straight-time rate for the remaining hours of the employee's regularly scheduled workday, not to exceed twelve (12) hours in total for such day, except that no payment shall be made for time required to visit the doctor on any day the employee is off duty for any reason while the employee is still receiving benefits under Article 18.
- H. Funeral Leave

Employees on a 12-hour shift schedule will be entitled to twelve (12) hours of straight-time pay for each day of Funeral Leave entitlement.

I. Jury Duty

Employees on a 12-hour shift schedule will be entitled to twelve (12) hours of straight-time pay for each day of Jury Duty entitlement subject to the^{Meiman} provisions of Article 22.

III. For employees working on abnormal shifts other than "four/tens" or 12-hour shift schedules the application of contractual benefits will be negotiated upon implementation of that schedule. Mr. Joel Saulman, President

International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers Local 2100 10400 Dixie Highway Louisville, KY 40272

Re: Trimble County Assignments

Dear Mr. Saulman:

This will confirm the continuation of the agreement negotiated in 2001 reached between Louisville Gas and Electric Company and Local 2100, International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, regarding travel

allowance and moving expense payable to employees who are assigned to the Company's Trimble County Plant.

For all purposes below "inside Trimble County" shall mean any point within a 15-mile radius of the Trimble County Courthouse in Bedford, Kentucky and "outside Trimble County" shall mean any point outside of that same radius.

A. Permanent Assignments:

Except for employees hired after January 15, 1980, specifically for the Trimble County Plant site, employees who are permanently assigned to the Trimble County Power Plant will be eligible for reimbursement of moving expenses as described in "C." below and will be eligible for a travel allowance of \$8.00 per day for each day the employee is scheduled to report for work and reports for work at the Trimble County Plant site. The travel allowance described in this paragraph will be paid the latest of: (1) an eligible employee's relocation from outside Trimble

County for which moving expense is payable; or^{Meiman} (2) six (6) months from the date the employee first reports to the Trimble County Plant site after being permanently assigned to that location.

- B. Temporary Assignments:
 - (1) Assignments to Trimble County Plant Site

Employees temporarily assigned to the Trimble County Plant site who do not live inside Trimble County will be eligible for the Travel Allowance described herein.

(2) Assignments from Trimble County Plant Site

Employees permanently assigned to the Trimble County Plant site who live inside Trimble County will be eligible for the Travel Allowance described herein if they are temporarily assigned to another work site outside Trimble County.

C Moving expenses as described herein shall not exceed \$1,500.00 per eligible employee, and shall be available only to employees who are permanently assigned to the Trimble County Plant site and who remain employees of the Company for one year after the moving allowance is paid. The moving expense is payable only to those employees who relocate from a point outside the 15-mile radius of the Trimble County Courthouse in Bedford, Kentucky, to a point inside such 15-mile radius, unless otherwise provided. To be reimbursed for moving expenses, an eligible employee must notify the Company in advance, in writing, of his intent to move his household goods, the approximate date of the move, the location moved from, the location moved to, and the identity of the mover being used. Once the move has been made, the employee must, within thirty (30) days,^{Meiman} present to the Company an itemized bill furnished by the mover.

- D. Employees who voluntarily bid under the terms of Article 10, Section 10.05 are ineligible for moving expenses and travel allowance.
- E. This policy applies only to the Trimble County Plant site and shall govern the payment of travel allowance and moving expenses for employees assigned to or from said site on a permanent or temporary basis.

Sincerely,

Jessica Wilson Director, Human Resources

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

Regarding Power Generation

(excluding Maintenance Lines of Progression)

This will confirm the understanding reached during the

1983 negotiations, and amended in the 1989, and the 1995 negotiations between Local 2100, IBEW and Louisville Gas and Electric Company concerning the above- referenced departments.

When, in the Company's opinion, it becomes necessary to transfer employees from one payroll division to another because of the retirement of a generating plant or part thereof, or the startup of a new generating plant or part thereof, the following procedure shall be followed:

1. Any employee transferred shall have his classification seniority dovetailed with that of the employees in the classification at the location to which the employee is transferred. However, where minimum time in classification requirements exists as a qualification for promotion, the following time must be served within the line of progression to which the employee is transferred:

a. Three (3) months for employees in entry level classifications.

b. Six (6) months for employees in higher than entry level classifications.

2. If some, but not all, of the employees at a location within a payroll division are to be transferred to a new payroll division at a different location, the employees subject to transfer shall be allowed to exercise their Company seniority to fill available job openings within their classification in the payroll division to^{Meiman} which the Company decides to transfer the employees. Should an insufficient number of employees be willing to choose transfer to the available openings in a different payroll division, the Company shall assign the employees to the available openings in inverse order of their Company seniority.

- 3. In the case of the initial staffing of a new plant or part thereof, the Company shall list the number of job openings in each classification above entry level to be filled. The employees in the other payroll divisions within the department shall be allowed to state their preference for the available job openings in each classification. With consideration being given to the list of employee preference, the Company shall assign, at its discretion, employees to fifty percent (50%) of the openings within each classification. The remaining openings within each classification shall be filled on a senior may, junior must basis.
- For the purposes of Paragraph 3, above, the Com-4 pany shall determine the total number of employees, by classification, at each location from which the employees will be transferred to the new plant. The Company shall then prepare a list of employees, by name, in an equal number as are sought for reassignment. The Union shall then prepare a list of employees, by name, who desire to be transferred to the new plant not limited as to the number of available openings. Any employee whose name appears on both lists shall be reassigned. All employees so reassigned shall reduce the fifty percent (50%) of available openings which the Company may fill by assignment. If an insufficient number of employees desire by prefer-

ence to be reassigned to initially staff a new generating^{Meiman} station or part thereof, then the Company shall assign the least senior employee from its (the Company's) list sufficient to meet the fifty percent (50%) of available openings which the Company may fill by assignment.

5. The Company shall determine initial staffing requirements and the selection/assignment procedure shall be completed at one time. However, the Company shall determine which employee or groups of employees shall be transferred at any particular time thereafter.

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

Regarding Power Generation Maintenance Lines of Progression

This will confirm the understanding reached during the 1983, and amended in the 1995 negotiations between Local 2100, IBEW and Louisville Gas and Electric Company concerning the above-referenced department.

When, in the Company's opinion, it becomes necessary to transfer employees from one location to another because of the retirement of a generating plant or part thereof, or the startup of a new generating plant or part thereof, the following procedure shall be followed:

- 1. If some, but not all, of the employees at a location with a payroll division are to be transferred to a different location, the employees subject to transfer shall be allowed to exercise their Company seniority to fill available job openings within their classification. Should an insufficient number of employees be willing to choose transfer to the available openings at a different location, the Company shall assign the employees to the available openings in inverse order of their Company seniority.
- 2. In the case of the initial staffing of a new plant or part thereof, the Company shall list the number of job openings in each classification above entry level to be filled. The employees at other locations within the department shall be allowed to state their preference for the available job openings in each classification. The remaining openings within each classification shall be filled on a senior may, junior must basis.
- 3. For the purposes of Paragraph 2, above, the Company

shall determine the total number of employees, by clas-Meiman sification, at each location from which the employees will be transferred to the new plant. The Company shall then prepare a list of employees, by name, who desire to be transferred to the new plant not limited as to the number of available openings. Any employee whose name appears on both lists shall be reassigned. All employees so reassigned shall reduce the fifty percent (50%) of available openings which the Company may fill by assignment. If an insufficient number of employees desire by preference to be reassigned to initially staff a new generating station or part thereof, then the Company shall assign the least senior employees from its (the Company's) list sufficient to meet the fifty percent (50%) of available openings which the Company may fill by assignment.

4. The Company shall determine initial staffing requirements and the selection/assignment procedure shall be completed at one time. However, the Company shall determine which employee or groups of employees shall be transferred at any particular time thereafter.

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

The Company (Louisville Gas & Electric) and the Union (Local 2100 International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers) agree as follows:

To clarify "Payroll Division" and "Department" in Section 10.05 of the current Collective Bargaining Agreement, "Payroll Division" and "Department" will be defined as:

"Department" is Distribution/Customer Services, Power Production and Telecommunications.

"Payroll Divisions" for Distribution/Customer Services:

(10) Meter/Meter Assets

- (21) Substation Construction & Maintenance
- (30) Electric
- (40) Gas
- (50) Facility Maintenance

"Payroll Division" for Power Production:

- Trimble County
- Mill Creek
- Cane Run
- Generation Engineering

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

For the purposes of Article 10, Section 10.21, the following shall be considered as an "open work assignment" in the payroll divisions as indicated:

POWER PRODUCTION

Employees in the Laboratory line of progression shall be allowed to bid for openings on a shift or a reporting location different from their own based on skill requirements.

Employees in the Records Coordinator lines of progression shall be allowed to bid for openings at a reporting location different from their own.

Employees in the Maintenance lines of progression shall be allowed to bid for openings at a reporting location different from their own based on skill requirements.

DISTRIBUTION AND CUSTOMER SERVICES

Employees in the Line Technician classification shall be allowed to bid for openings on a shift, reporting location or schedule different from their own.

Employees in the Construction & Maintenance Cable Splicing line of progression shall be allowed to bid for a reporting location different from their own.

Employees in the Gas Construction and Maintenance line of progression shall be allowed to bid for a reporting location different from their own.

Employees in the Trouble Technician - Gas classification shall be allowed to bid for openings on a shift different from their own.

Employees in the Distribution Operations Records Coordinator line of progression assigned to a Service Center shall be allowed to bid for a reporting location different from their own. Employees in the Facility Attendant classification shall be^{Meiman} allowed to bid for a reporting location different from their own.

Employees in the Facility Maintenance line of progression shall be allowed to bid for a reporting location different from their own based on skill requirements.

Employees in the Customer Service Representatives - Field Services line of progression shall be allowed to bid an open work assignment in the established work districts.

Employees in the Customer Service Representatives - Meter Reader line of progression shall be allowed to continue the present practice of "book" selection.

Employees in the Transportation Department -

Garage line of progression shall be allowed to bid for openings on a shift or reporting location different from their own based on skill requirements.

Employees in the Transportation Office line of progression shall be allowed to bid for a reporting location different from their own.

Employees in the Warehouse line of progression shall be allowed to bid for openings on a shift or reporting location different from their own.

Open work assignments shall be limited to journeyman job classifications and above (or non-line of progression jobs) and further the concept of pre-bidding a preferred location or shift shall be utilized unless otherwise mutually agreed.

An open work assignment is when it can reasonably be anticipated at the time of the assignment that the duration of the assignment will be at least one-hundred twenty (120) days. Any open work assignment which is not filled as described^{Meiman} above may be filled by the least senior qualified employee in the classification.

This constitutes, unless hereafter otherwise agreed, the entire understanding between the parties as to the meaning of "open work assignment" as that term is used in Article 10, Section 10.21 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement. November 11,2020

Mr. Joel Saulman, President

International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers Local 2100 10400 Dixie Highway Louisville, KY 40272

Re: Severance Benefits

Dear Mr. Saulman:

This confirms the continuation of the agreement negotiated in 2001 for a successor to the 1998-2001 collective bargaining agreement ("CBA") regarding severance benefits. During the term of the 2001 CBA, employees who receive notice of a General Redeployment pursuant to Article 10, section 10.24, shall have the right to elect

severance benefits throughout the period they remain subject to redeployment. Eligible employees shall be entitled to a severance benefit equal to one week's pay for each

full year of service, with a maximum benefit of twenty-six weeks. Additionally, the Company will pay the employees' group medical and dental premiums at the rate in effect at the time of their termination, for up to three (3) months of the period covered by the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act ("COBRA"). Receipt of these benefits

is conditioned upon the individual employee signing and not revoking a full waiver and release of any actual or potential employment related claims against the Company, including waiver of contractual recall rights. While the terms of this release will be left to the sole discretion of the Company, the terms will be substantially similar to those contained in the attached exhibit. Sincerely, Jessica Wilson Director, Human Resources

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

Regarding Cane Run Station

This will confirm the understanding reached during

the 2011 negotiations between Local 2100, IBEW and Louisville Gas and Electric Company concerning the Cane Run Station.

If, in the Company's opinion, it becomes necessary to reduce the workforce at the Cane Run Station because of the retirement of the Cane Run Station's coal fired units or part thereof, or the startup of a new generating plant or part thereof at the Cane Run generating station, the following procedure shall be followed:

- 1. The Company shall not lay off any Cane Run employees as a direct result of the retirement of the Cane Run generating station's coal fired units.
- 2. In the case of the initial staffing of a new plant or part thereof at the Cane Run Station, the Company shall assign, at its discretion, employees to fill all openings within each classification at the new plant. The Company shall fill all initial openings for a new plant or part thereof at the Cane Run Station with current Cane Run employees.
- 3. The Company shall provide a list of open positions to be filled at Mill Creek, Trimble County, and/ or Ohio Falls to any employee at the Cane Run Station coal fired units not assigned to a new position at the new plant or part thereof at the Cane Run Station. The employees provided with this list shall be allowed to state their preference for the available openings at Mill Creek, Trimble County, and Ohio Falls. With consideration being given to the list of

employee preference, the available openings shall^{Meiman} be filled on a senior may, junior must basis utilizing Company seniority. An employee placed into a comparable classification pursuant to this paragraph shall have his classification seniority dovetailed with that of the employees in the classification at the location to which the employee is placed. For example, if a Cane Run operator was placed in an operator position at Mill Creek, his classification seniority shall be dovetailed. An employee placed into a different classification (i.e., a Cane Run operator is placed in a material handling position at Mill Creek) shall receive a new classification seniority date and their pay shall be red-circled and the pension multiplier will not be reduced as provided in the pension plan.

- Employees at the Cane Run coal fired generating 4 station who are permanently assigned to a position at Trimble County pursuant to paragraph 3 of this Letter of Understanding shall receive a one-time lump sum payment in the amount of \$3,400.00, subject to applicable withholdings, per eligible employee, provided the employee relocates from a point outside the 15-mile radius of the Trimble County Courthouse in Bedford, Kentucky, to a point inside such 15-mile radius and remains an employee of the Company for one year after the lump sum payment is made. Employees receiving the lump sum payment described in this paragraph shall not be eligible for any of the benefits set forth in the letter agreement regarding Trimble County Assignments, including, but not limited to the travel allowance and the reimbursement of moving expenses.
- 5. Within 36 months from the date of transfer, employ-

ees must pass the Minimum Qualifications for en-^{Meiman} try into their assigned classification. If the employee does not pass the minimum qualifications for entry, they will be subject to demotion within the established line of progression until such time they pass in accordance with the Employee Performance Review System for Bargaining Unit Employees.

- 6. All filling of vacancies for positions at the new Cane Run plant, Mill Creek, Trimble County, or Ohio Falls facilities pursuant to paragraphs 2 or 3 of this Letter of Understanding shall count as an internal posting for purposes of Section 10.09 of the Agreement.
- 7. All vacancies for positions at the Cane Run coalfired generating units which occur prior to the retirement of these units and which the Company, at its discretion, decides to fill shall be first posted internally. The Company, at its discretion, shall determine the classification at the appropriate pay grade and qualifications required for each position posted pursuant to this paragraph. The Company shall be the sole judge of an employee's qualifications for such positions.
- 8. An employee of the Cane Run coal fired generating station shall have the right to elect severance benefits provided he remains employed at Cane Run until the Company releases him following the retirement of the coal fired generating units and completion of all related work. Employees assigned to fill openings at the new plant at the Cane Run Station or placed in positions at Mill Creek, Trimble County or Ohio Falls pursuant to paragraph 3 above, will have the option of either electing severance benefits or accepting assignment to a new position. Cane Run's coal

fired generating station employees shall be entitled^{Meiman} to a severance benefit equal to two week's pay for each full year of service, with a maximum benefit of fifty-two weeks. Additionally, the Company will pay the employees' group medical and dental premiums for up to three months of the period covered by COBRA. Receipt of these benefits is conditioned upon the individual employee signing and not revoking a full waiver and release of any actual or potential employment related claims against the Company, including waiver of contractual recall rights.

- 9. It is understood that this agreement will not be construed as the Company's position of either previous or equivalent experience for any of the classifications or lines of progression involved in the transfers of the Cane Run coal fired generation employees. Furthermore, the individual qualifications of such employees shall not serve as a precedent for any future applications of their classification.
- 10. With respect to coal fired generation Cane Run employees, the provisions in this Letter of Understanding shall supersede the provisions set forth in Article 10 of the Agreement, the Letter of Understanding Regarding Power Generation (excluding Maintenance Lines of Progression), and the Letter of Understanding Regarding Power Generation Maintenance Lines of Progression.
- 11. The Company shall determine staffing requirements and in the timing and the procedure for completing the selection and/or assignment subject to the provisions set forth herein.

PAYGRADES FOR BARGAINING UNIT EMPLOYEES

EFFECTIVE NOVEMBER 02, 2020 THROUGH NOVEMBER 01, 2021

GRADE	Start	6 mos.	12 mos.	18 mos.	24 mos.
14	43.60	44.26			
13	42.66	43.13	43.60		
12	41.16	41.60	43.05		
11A	37.33	38.56	39.80	41.10	42.59
11	37.33	38.50	39.65	40.73	42.15
10	36.65	37.71	38.86	40.03	41.16
9	36.14	37.03	38.01	38.86	39.80
8	35.03	35.90	36.84	37.71	38.69
7	32.54	33.42	34.35	35.28	36.14
6	30.96	31.89	32.78	33.73	34.57
5	30.28	31.25	32.11	33.07	33.95
4	28.95	29.89	30.78	31.71	32.63
3	28.12	28.84	29.61	30.38	31.18
2	26.30	27.22	28.05		
1A	26.30	26.75	27.07		
1	26.01	26.27	26.71		
					_
		1st Period		2nd Period	t
Temporary	Help*:	\$8.00		\$8.50	

Case No. 2020-00350

= = 8 = 1 2 2 2 3 = 1 2 3 15 = 1

7 14 28 28 28 6 13 20 27

8 1 1 0 8

4 1 1 1 2 2 5 2 5

DECEMBER T W T

Σ

ŝ 31 2 1 9 3

ov 4 ≣ 8 80

Supplemental Attachment to Response to PSC-1 Question No. 37 Filed Feb. 23, 2021

ss is is ss

18 11 4 F

AUGUST T W T 1 2 3 8 9 10 15 16 17 22 23 24 29 30 31

Σ

uŋ, 8 13 S

8 11 23 8

7 21 28 28

8 - 8 5 5 8 - 8

28 14 A &

OCTOBER T W T 3 4 5 10 11 12 17 18 19 24 25 26 31 26

8 15 22 22 22 22

Page 151 of 152 Meiman

		ŝ	4	F	8	0				ŝ	-	ø	ŝ	ŝ	Ñ			s	ø	2	1	ő		
		u.	e	ç	4	24				Ľ.		~	14	2	28			u.	N	σ	16	23	30	
	RY	F	2	n	9	33			_	⊢		φ	5	20	27			F	-	ω	12	22	29	
	FEBRUARY	₹	-	œ	ŝ	ŝ			APRIL	٨		ω	ų	19	28		JUNE	≯		2	4	21	28	
m	2	F		5	2	2	28		٩	⊢		4	Ħ	8	25		7	F		φ	p	20	27	
11	-	N		φ	₽	20	27			Z		ო	₽	17	24			N		ŝ	P	6	26	
2023		ŝ		ທ	ņ	₫	26			n		en	ŋ	16	ŝ	8		s		4	F	ĝ	ŝ	
0		60	2	4	ŝ	88				ø	4	Ħ	18	25				s	ø	ß	20	27		
—		u.	ø	β	20	27				Ľ.	e	5	17	24	õ			u.	w	ũ	6	26		
\mathbf{N}	RY	F	w	N	ĝ	26			Е	⊢	N	đ		23	30			F	4	=	8	25		
	JANUARY	≯	4	F	₽	ŝ			MARCH	8	-	00	5	32	39		MAY	3	e	₽	1	24	5	
	١٩٢	۲	е	₽	1	*	8		Σ	۲		~	4	ā	28			۲	N	n	91	23	30	
		N	N	ŋ	₽	53	30			Z		9	₽	20	27			Z	-	ω	ŝ	22	29	
		s	-	ω	ņ	22	29			n		ω	12	9	26			s		5	4	2	28	
		_					_			_	_	_	_			_		_	_	_			_	
		60	u	2		26		_		0	N	a	_	23	8	_		s	4	=	18	1.4		
			4	=	₽	52				u.	-	60	-	2	23			u.	e	2	17	24	_	
	ARY	۲	e	0		24			≓	۲		~	<u> </u>	5	28		ш	۲	N	σ	16	23	8	
2022	BRU	3	N	Ø	9	8			APRIL	3		0	-	8	23		JUNE	≥	-	00	15	22	53	
	E	۲	-	00		22				۲		u	-	ĝ	8			F		~	4	2	28	
		2		2	4	2	28	_		Σ		4	=	18	22	_		2	_	φ	13	20	27	
		60		Φ	ę	8	27			c)		0	ĉ	5	8			s		ŝ	ũ	61	26	
2		s	-	00	-	8	59			o	s	12	_	26				s	~	4	2	28		
ς.		u.		Þ	4	2	28			u.	4	=	<u> </u>	25				u.	ω	2	20	27		ŀ
N	ARY	۲		σ	ŝ	8	27		풍	۲	m	ç	-	24	8		~	F	ß	ũ	61	26		
	JANUARY	3		ŝ	₽	19	58		MARCH	8	¢۷	đ	16	23	8		MAY	≥	4	=	8	25		
	٩	F		4	=	18	25		-	F	-	60	-	22	58			F	e	P	17	24	31	
		2		e	-	11	24	31		2	_	~	14	21	28			N	N	σ	16	23	9 30	
		60		N	Ø	16	23	30		ŝ		ø	13	20	27			ŝ	-	œ	15	20	29	
		s	ø	Ω	0	27	Π			0	e	9	1	24				s	ιŋ	Q	6	26	Γ	ſ
		u.	ω	N		26				u.	e v	6		23	30			L	4	=	80	25	-	ŀ
	۲	F	4	=	<u>60</u>	52				⊢	-	8	-	22	28			F	e	6	-	24	F	ľ
	FEBRUARY	×	е	9	17	10			APRIL	٨	F	~	4	5	28		JUNE	3	N	o	16	23	30	ľ
	FEB	۲	N	ŋ	₽	53	Π		¥	F		9	ņ	20	27		٦	H	-	ω	ņ	22	59	ľ
		z	-	60	ñ	52				z		ω	12	19	26			z		~	4	21	28	ľ
		s		~	4	5	28			o		4	÷	18	25			s		φ	13	20	27	
5		ŝ	N	Ø	9	30	30			o	φ	13	20	27				s	-	ω	ß	22	50	
		u.	-	60	ŝ	22	58			Ľ.	ß	ñ	6	26				u.		~	4	5	38	ľ
					-						-	-							-			1	-	ľ

T W T

Σ 4 = 8 8

s 31 24 10 3 0 214 4

21 14 28

6 20 27

26 13 26

MARCH

11 11 12 13 14

N 831

23 53 23 8 A

S 5 2 2 8 − 8

н

WAY

H

Σ

s 0 0 9 5

oo 4 ⊑ 8 60

- 9 22 29 29

(î)

24 10 3 **6**

		CU,	N								¢,	¢1							N	e							¢1		
,	£1	6	26				u.		6 7 3 14 20 21 27 28		u.	-	80	5	22	28			u.	e	₽	17	24						
,	=	18	25				⊢		9	£	20	27		BER	⊢		2	4	ō	28		BER	F	2	Ø	16	33	30	
,	₽	17	24	31		IULY	\$		ю	ñ	₽	26		SEPTEMBER	3		φ	5	20	27		NOVEMBER	≥	-	ω	\$	ŝ	80	
4	ŋ	91	23	30			⊢		4	÷	20	50		SEP	⊢		w	2	đ	26		NOV	۰		~	2	2	38	
	ω	ŝ	22	29			Z		en	5	17	24	3	•	z		4	=	18	25			z		ø	ü	20	27	
	1	4	5	28			m		N	σ	9	33	30		ŝ		m	9	17	24			s		w	ų	₽	26	
	_	_	_	_	_		_	_	_	_	_	_	_		_			_	_	_	_		_	_			_		
•	=	8	52	L			00	φ	1	20	27				s	-	60	5	22	29			s	e	9	17	24	6	
2	0	17	24	_			۴.	ŋ	12	5	38				u.		2	4	5	28		~	u.	N	σ	16	8	8	
4	a	91	23	8		IST	F	4	F	18	35			OCTOBER	F		9	13	8	27		DECEMBER	F	-	00	5	8	33	
	00	15	2	80		AUGUST	3	eo	9	17	24	õ		DIO	3		s	12	19	8		CEN	3		~	14	ñ	28	
	~	14	2	28		٩	F	N	σ	ĝ	8	8		ŏ	F		4	=	18	25		DE	F		ø	₽	8	27	
	φ	ŝ	20	27			2	-	60	5	22	29			2	_	m	6	5	24	8		2		v	1	6	26	
	ŵ	n l	19	26			ŝ		٢	14	ŝ	28			ŝ		CV	đ	16	8	8		ŝ		4	Ħ	2	25	
•	4	2	28				ø	N	σ	16	8	8			s	m	01	17	24				s	s	12	₿	58		
,	≌	20	27				u.	-	80	15	8	58		SEPTEMBER	u.	¢1	σ	16	23	8			u	4	Ħ	\$	25		
,	12	61	26				⊢		2	14	5	28			⊢	-	60	15	22	59		BER	F	e	õ	17	24		
,	=	18	25			JULY	8		ø	13	8	27		TEM	8		2	4	2	28		NOVEMBER	8	N	σ	16	8	30	
,	e	17	24	5			⊢		u	ç	ē	26		SEP	⊢		9	2	20	23		Ń	F	-	œ	9	22	29	
4	თ	16	23	30			Z		4	Ħ	8	22			Z		s	12	6	8			Z		٢	4	2	28	
•	60	12	22	29			ø		en	ç	17	24	3		Ś		4	=	8	25			s		φ	ü	8	27	
	_	_	_	_	_		_	_	_			_	_		_	_	_	_	_	_	_		_	_	_		_		
,	ũ	6	26				0ð	•	14	ñ	8		_		ŝ	¢,	Ø	16	33	8	_		ŝ	4	÷	8	55		
•	F	10	25	_			u.		27				u.	-	α0	15		æ	L	e	9	17	24	5					
2	2	11	24			JST	+	u)	12	19	26		_	BER	+	_	7	4	21	28	_	ABEI	۲	Q	Ø	16	33	8	
4	Ø	16	23	30		AUGUST	3	4	=	18	32			OCTOBER	8	_	9	13	20	27		DECEMBER	3	-	60		23	39	
	00	5	22	29		٩	F	eo	5	17	34	5		ō	F	_	ŝ	P	đ	26		DE	۲		~	4	2	28	
	~	4	5	28			Σ	CN .	n	16	8	8			Σ		4	=	18	25			Z		φ	₽	20	27	
	φ	13	20	27			a)	-	00	₽	22	50			ŝ		3	2	5	24	æ		S		w	ŭ	ĝ	26	
	ω	9	20	29			ø	e	10	1	\$	5			ŝ	4	=	18	ŝ				s	ø	ę	20	27		
	5	2	5	28			L	N	a	9	33	8			u.	e	2	1	24				u.	ŝ	₽	₽	26		
	φ	2	20	27			۰	-	۵)	5	32	59		BER	۰	¢1	Ø	9	23	8		BER	۰	4	Ħ	₽	25		
	w	N	₫	26		JULY	3		~	4	5	80		TEM	3	-	ω	<u>ل</u>	22	29		NOVEMBER	3	en	9	17	ŝ		
]	4	=	18	25		-	⊢		φ	ç	30	27		SEPTEMBER	⊢		2	4	21	28		Ň	۲	N	σ	16	33	30	
1	co	10	17	24	9		Σ		u	12	9	26		-,	Σ		9	13	20	27			Σ	-	ω	5	8	29	
	¢1	a	16	23	30		o		4	÷	≌	52			s		ß	12	₫	26			s		Þ	4	5	28	

Case No. 2020-00350 Supplemental Attachment to Response to PSC-1 Question No. 37 Filed Feb. 23, 2021 Page 152 of 152 Meiman



"Regardless Of The

Demands Of The Work,

You Are Expected To

Take Time To Do It Safely."